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  Results for Announcement to the Market 
Previous corresponding period – year ended 30 June 2013 
 
 

Key Financial Information  $’000 

Revenue from ordinary activities Up 21.6% to 1,546,556 
Profit from ordinary activities after tax attributable to members Down 95.2% to 57,872 
Net profit from ordinary activities after tax, excluding significant items nm(1) 138,442 

(1) Calculation not meaningful 
 

Refer to the attached Financial Report, Results Announcement and Investor Presentation for management commentary on the results. 
 
Dividends 
 
A maiden final dividend of 4.2c has been declared payable on 17 October 2014. 
 
The dividend is unfranked but will have exempting credits attached such that the exempting percentage of the dividend is 100%.  The 
exempting credits will only provide an imputation benefit (in terms of no dividend withholding tax) to certain foreign resident shareholders who 
held more than 5% of NEC’s shares prior to the IPO and continue to hold more than 5% of NEC’s shares at the time the dividend is paid.  The 
exempting credits attached to the dividend do not provide a tax offset for Australian resident shareholders.  Individual shareholders should 
seek their own professional advice as to their eligibility to utilise these exempting credits. 
 

Dividends 
 

Amount per share 
cents 

Franked amount 
per share 

cents 

Tax rate for 
franking credit 

% 

Interim 2014 dividend per share - - - 

Final 2014 dividend per share, to be paid 17 October 2014 4.2 - - 
 
Final 2014 Dividend Dates 
 
Ex-dividend date 3 September 2014 
Record date 5 September 2014 
Payment date 17 October 2014 
 
Net Tangible Assets per Share 
 

Reported 
2014 2013 
cents cents 

Net tangible asset backing per ordinary share  (18.2) (10.4) 
Net asset backing per ordinary share  193.9 185.5 
 
Refer to Note 5(b) in the attached Financial Report for details of entities for which the Company has gained control during the year.
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 Directors’ Report 
The Directors present the financial report for the year ended 30 June 2014. The financial report includes the results of Nine Entertainment Co. 
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and the entities that it controlled during the year (the “Group”).  

Directors  
The Directors of the Company at any time during the financial year or up to the date of this report are as follows. 

Directors held office for the entire period unless otherwise stated. 

Name Date Appointed 
David Haslingden 6 February 2013 

David Gyngell 25 November 2010 

Peter Costello 6 February 2013 

Kevin Crowe Jr 6 February 2013 

Edgar Lee 6 February 2013 

Hugh Marks 6 February 2013 

Steve Martinez 6 February 2013 

Joanne Pollard 6 February 2013 

Rajath Shourie 6 February 2013 

David Haslingden (Independent Non-Executive Chairman) 
Mr Haslingden was appointed to the Board in February 2013 as an independent, non-executive director and Chairman. Mr Haslingden owns 
and operates a network of television production companies comprising NHNZ, Beach House Productions, Northern Pictures and Keshet 
Australia. These companies produce or license programming to broadcast and pay television networks around the world including Nine 
Network and other broadcasters. Mr Haslingden is also Chairman of Wild Aid, a conservation organisation. Previously, Mr Haslingden was 
President and Chief Operating Officer of Fox Networks Group. Prior to this appointment, Mr Haslingden was Chief Executive Officer of Fox 
International Channels. Mr Haslingden also served as Chief Executive Officer of the National Geographic Channels business. 

Mr Haslingden has sat on a number of industry boards in the United States including the National Cable and Telecommunications Association. 
Mr Haslingden received a Bachelor of Arts and a Bachelor of Laws from Sydney University and a Master of Laws from Cambridge University. 

David Gyngell (Director and Chief Executive Officer) 
Mr Gyngell was appointed as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer in November 2010, having served as the Chief Executive Officer of Nine 
Network from September 2007. He has over 15 years of experience at the Company and over 25 years’ overall media sector experience. 
Previously, Mr Gyngell was Chief Executive Officer of Granada Television and also Director of International Management Group and 
Transworld Media International. He has also worked as Executive Director, Group Marketing and Communications for Publishing & 
Broadcasting Limited.  

Peter Costello (Independent Non-Executive Director) 
Mr Costello was appointed to the Board in February 2013 as an independent, non-executive director. Mr Costello is currently Chairman of the 
Board of Guardians of Australia’s Future Fund and serves on a number of advisory boards. He is a Trustee of Melbourne Cricket Ground. His 
business ECG Financial Pty Ltd is a boutique advisor on mergers and acquisitions, foreign investment, competition and regulatory issues 
which affect business in Australia. Mr Costello served as a member of the House of Representatives from 1990 to 2009 and was Treasurer of 
the Commonwealth of Australia from March 1996 to December 2007. 

Prior to entering Parliament Mr Costello was a barrister. He has a Bachelor of Arts and a Bachelor of Laws LLB (Hons) and a Doctorate of 
Laws (Honoris Causa) from Monash University. In 2011 Mr Costello was appointed a Companion of the Order of Australia. 
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Kevin Crowe Jr (Non-Executive Director) 
Mr Crowe was appointed to the Board in February 2013 as a nominee of Apollo Management (“Apollo”). Mr Crowe is currently a principal at 
Apollo. He also serves on the Board of Directors of Norwegian Cruise Lines and Prestige Cruise Holdings and previously served on the Board 
of Directors of Quality Distribution. Prior to joining Apollo, Mr Crowe was a member of the Financial Sponsors Group in the Global Banking 
department of Deutsche Bank Securities. 
 
Mr Crowe graduated from Princeton University with a Bachelor of Arts major in Economics and a certificate in Finance. 

Edgar Lee (Non-Executive Director) 
Mr Lee was appointed to the Board in February 2013 as a nominee of Oaktree Capital Management, LLC (“Oaktree”). Mr Lee is currently the 
Portfolio Manager of the Strategic Credit strategy at Oaktree. Previously, Mr Lee was a Managing Director in the firm’s Distressed Debt Group 
where he led many of the strategy’s investments in media, telecommunications and technology. Prior to joining Oaktree, Mr Lee worked in the 
TMT Investment Banking division at UBS Investment Bank. Before that, he was employed in the Fixed Income Division at Lehman Brothers 
Inc. His prior experience also includes work at Katzenbach Partners LLP and Urban Institute. Mr Lee was a director of Charter 
Communications Inc. 

Mr Lee received a Bachelor of Arts in Economics from Swarthmore College and an M.P.P. with a concentration in Applied Economics from 
Harvard University. 

Hugh Marks (Independent Non-Executive Director) 
Mr Marks was appointed to the Board in February 2013 as an independent, non-executive director. Mr Marks is currently the Chief Executive 
Officer of Media Venture Partners, a media strategy and investment business. He has 18 years of experience as a senior executive in content 
production and broadcasting in Australia and internationally. Mr Marks has material ownership interests in and is actively involved in the 
management of Wildbear Pty Limited, The Media Tribe Pty Limited and RGM Artists Pty Limited. Those companies operate in the independent 
television production sector and either produce or license programming, or manage the provision of on-screen talent, to broadcast and pay 
television networks around the world including Nine Network and other broadcasters. 

Before joining the Board, Mr Marks was an authority member for the Australian Communications and Media Authority for over two years. 
Previously, Mr Marks was Chief Executive Officer of the Southern Star Group. Mr Marks has also worked with the Nine Network as legal 
counsel and then as director of Nine Films & Television for seven years. 

Mr Marks received a Bachelor of Commerce and Bachelor of Laws from the University of New South Wales. 

Steve Martinez (Non-Executive Director) 
Mr Martinez was appointed to the Board in February 2013 as a nominee of Apollo. Mr Martinez is a Senior Partner and Head of Asia Pacific for 
Apollo, having joined in 2000. He is a member of Apollo’s Senior Management Committee. Mr Martinez has led investments for Apollo in a 
variety of sectors including shipping, leisure, media and general industrial. Prior to joining Apollo, Mr Martinez was a member of the Mergers 
and Acquisitions Group of Goldman, Sachs & Co. Before that he worked in Asia at Bain & Company.   

Mr Martinez received an MBA from the Harvard Business School and a BA and BS from the University of Pennsylvania and the Wharton 
School, respectively. 

Joanne Pollard (Independent Non-Executive Director) 
Ms Pollard was appointed to the Board in February 2013 as an independent, non-executive director. Ms Pollard is a business strategy 
consultant specialising in media, marketing and digital. Her clients range from global multinational businesses to digital start-ups. She is also 
an independent, non-executive director of AMP Bank and 12WBT. She is a member of CEW (Chief Executive Women) and AICD. Ms Pollard 
was previously Chief Executive Officer of Publicis Mojo and Chief Executive Officer of ninemsn. While at ninemsn she served as a board 
member for ninemsn, iSelect Limited, IAB (Interactive Advertising Bureau), the AANA (Australian Association of National Advertisers) and 
ABCN (Australian Business Community Network). She also worked as Sales and Marketing Director for the Nine Entertainment Group. Ms 
Pollard previously worked for Nike Inc for 10 years as Global Director of Media, Digital and Content in the US and at Nike Japan as Marketing 
Director. Prior to Nike, she was a Media Director at J. Walter Thompson Advertising in Sydney and Hong Kong. 
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Rajath Shourie (Non-Executive Director) 
Mr Shourie was appointed to the Board in February 2013 as a nominee of Oaktree. Mr Shourie is currently a Managing Director of Oaktree 
and a co-portfolio manager of Oaktree’s Distressed Debt funds. Mr Shourie has worked with a number of Oaktree’s portfolio companies and 
been active on various creditors’ committees. He currently serves on the boards of Taylor Morrison and STORE Capital. Prior to joining 
Oaktree, Mr Shourie worked in the Principal Investment Area at Goldman Sachs & Co., and as a management consultant at 
McKinsey & Company. 

Mr Shourie earned a Bachelor of Arts in Economics from Harvard College. He also received a Masters of Business Administration from 
Harvard Business School, where he was a Baker Scholar. 

Remuneration Report 
The Remuneration Report is set out on the pages that follow and forms part of this Directors’ Report 

Directors’ Interests 
The relevant interests of each Director in the equity of the Company and related bodies corporate as at the date of this report are disclosed in 
the Remuneration Report. 

Directors’ Meetings 
The number of meetings of Directors (including meetings of committees of Directors) held during the year, and the number of meetings 
attended by each Director, were as follows: 

 Board Audit and Risk Committee Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee 

 Meetings 
held* 

Meetings 
attended 

Meetings 
held* 

Meetings 
attended 

Meetings 
held* 

Meetings 
attended 

David Gyngell  14 13 – – – – 
David Haslingden 14 13 – – 3 3 
Edgar Lee 14 11 3 3 – – 
Kevin Crowe Jr 14 12 3 3 – – 
Steve Martinez 14 12 – – 3 3 
Rajath Shourie 14 12 – – 3 3 
Peter Costello 14 12 – – – – 
Hugh Marks 14 14 3 3 – – 
Joanne Pollard 14 13 – – 3 3 

*The number of meetings held refers to the number of meetings held while the Director was a member of the Board or Committee. 

Company Secretary 
Simon Kelly (Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary) 
Mr Kelly, who was appointed Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited in April 2012 and 
Company Secretary in May 2012, has over 10 years of media and entertainment sector (and over 25 years of general and financial 
management) experience.  

Mr Kelly is responsible for the oversight of general operational management, strategy and business development and financial risk and 
management across the NEC Group.  

Mr Kelly was previously Chief Financial Officer, Company Secretary and Board Director of ASX listed Aristocrat Leisure Limited and he also 
held a number of senior executive roles at ASX listed Goodman Fielder Limited including Chief Financial Officer (Consumer Foods), Chief 
Information Officer and General Manager (International).  
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Prior to this, Mr Kelly spent 10 years working at PricewaterhouseCoopers in London and Sydney. He holds a Bachelor of Arts (First Class 
Honours), is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in 
Australia and a member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.  

Principal Activities 
The principal activities of the entities within the Group during the year were: 

• Television broadcasting and program production; 
• Ticketing, promotion and event planning; and 
• Digital, internet, subscription television, and other media sectors. 

Trading Results 
The consolidated net profit of the Group for the financial year after income tax was $57,872,000 (2013: $1,187,497,000). 

Dividends 
No dividends have been declared or paid during the year ended 30 June 2014 (2013: nil). 

Corporate Information 
Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited is a company limited by shares that is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. It is the parent entity 
of the Group. 

The registered office of Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited is 24 Artarmon Road, Willoughby NSW 2068. 

Review of Operations 
For the year to 30 June 2014, the Group reported a consolidated net profit after income tax of $57,872,000 (2013: profit $1,187,497,000). 

The Group’s Revenues from continuing operations for the year to 30 June 2014 increased by $274,133,000 (21%) to $1,546,556,000 (2013: 
$1,272,423,000). 

The Group’s Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) and before specific items (Note 2(b)(iv)) from continuing 
operations for the year ended 30 June 2014 was a profit of $309,716,000 (2013: profit of $261,898,000). 

The Group’s cash flows generated in operations for the year to 30 June 2014 were $196,287,000 (2013: $38,308,000 outflow). 

Further information is provided in the Operating and Financial Review on pages 25 to 31. 

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs 
Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) 
On 6 December 2013, the Company completed an initial public offering (“IPO”) with an issue of 134,146,341 million ordinary shares at a price 
of $2.05 raising $275.0 million and was listed on the Australian Stock Exchange. The cash raised from the IPO allowed the Company to repay 
debt and provided the Group with the financial capacity to execute its growth strategy. 
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Acquisitions 
During the period, the Company completed the following acquisitions: 

Company acquired Acquisition date Interest acquired Interest after 
acquisition 

  % % 
Channel 9 South Australia Pty Limited 1 July 2013 100 100 
Swan Television & Radio Broadcasters Pty Ltd 30 September 2013 100 100 
ninemsn Pty Limited 1 November 2013 16.67(1) 66.67(1) 

(1) During the period, the Company agreed to acquire the remaining 50% interest in ninemsn Pty Limited (“Mi9”) it did not already own to 
effectively gain control as of 1 November 2013 (refer to Note 5(b)(iii)). As a consequence, the results of Mi9 have been consolidated from 1 
November 2013 with equity accounting ceasing at that time. The actual transfer of shares during the period was 16.67%, taking the legal 
ownership to 66.67% at the end of the period A portion of the remaining shares have been transferred on 1 July 2014 with the final transfer 
due to occur on 1 July 2015.  

Significant Events After the Balance Date 
On 27 August 2014, the Company announced the formation of a joint venture with Fairfax Media (Fairfax) to launch an Australian Subscription 
Video-On-Demand (SVOD) service (“StreamCo”).  StreamCo is expected to launch during the 2015 financial year.  It will offer a broad range of 
local and international programming to subscribers for a fixed monthly subscription fee and no minimum term commitment.  StreamCo will be 
owned 50:50 by the Company and Fairfax who have agreed to commit up to $50 million each to the venture over a multi-year period. 

Other than this subsequent event, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial period and the date of this report any 
item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature, to affect significantly the operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity, in future years.  

Likely Developments and Expected Results 
Other than the developments described in this report, the Directors are of the opinion that no other matters or circumstance will significantly 
affect the operations and expected results of the Group. 

Unissued Shares and Options 
As at the date of this report, there were no unissued ordinary shares or options. There have not been any share options issued during the 
year.  

Indemnification and Insurance of Directors and Officers 
During or since the financial year, Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited has paid premiums in respect of a contract insuring all the 
directors and officers of the parent entity and its controlled entities against costs incurred by them in defending any legal proceedings arising 
out of their conduct while acting in their capacity as director or officer of Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited or its controlled entities. The 
insurance contract specifically prohibits disclosure of the nature of the insurance cover, the limit of the aggregate liability and the 
premiums paid.  

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
The Directors have received the Auditor’s Independence Declaration, a copy of which is included on page 8. 

Indemnification of Auditors 
To the extent permitted by law, the Company has agreed to indemnify its auditors, Ernst & Young, as part of the terms of its audit engagement 
agreement against claims by third parties arising from the audit (for an unspecified amount). No payment has been made to indemnify Ernst & 
Young during or since the financial year. 
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Non-audit Services 
Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided by the auditor during the year are set out in Note 26 of the 
financial statements. 

The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors 
imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The nature and scope of each type of non-audit service provided means that auditor independence 
was not compromised. 

Rounding 
The amounts contained in the financial statements have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars (where rounding is applicable) under 
the option available to the Group under ASIC Class Order 98/0100. Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited is an entity to which the Class 
Order applies. 

Signed on behalf of the Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

 

 

 

 
David Haslingden 
Chairman 

 

 

 

 
David Gyngell 
Director 

 

Sydney, 28 August 2014  



A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Ernst & Young
680 George Street
Sydney  NSW  2000 Australia
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001

Tel: +61 2 9248 5555
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959
ey.com/au

8

Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of Nine
Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited

In relation to our audit of the financial report of Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited for the financial
year ended 30 June 2014, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of
the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of
professional conduct.

Ernst & Young

John Robinson
Partner
28 August 2014
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  Remuneration Report – Audited 
 
Dear Shareholders, 
 
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I have pleasure in presenting the Company’s inaugural Remuneration Report. Given the 
Company’s move from private to public ownership, the 2014 financial year has been one of significant change and the Company’s 
remuneration approach has been refreshed to reflect and align with this change. The primary objective of this report is to detail 
remuneration arrangements in place prior to the IPO and to provide a perspective on the remuneration framework and arrangements 
that have been implemented during the year to reflect the Company’s new public ownership. The Remuneration Report also details the 
underlying philosophy, principles and governance that underpin the structure and design of remuneration arrangements for Key 
Management Personnel (“KMP”). In developing executive remuneration arrangements, the Board has sought, and will continue to 
seek, input from external parties including remuneration advisors, legal counsel, proxy advisors and institutional shareholders. 
 
The Company’s remuneration philosophy is to provide a clear link between shareholder returns and executive remuneration. The 
Company’s remuneration structure and policies are designed to help build and retain a talented and motivated leadership team to 
deliver growing and sustainable total returns to shareholders. 
 
Moving forward, fixed remuneration and the overall total remuneration opportunity for each KMP have been set at a competitive level 
relative to the Company’s peer group and considering the individual experience of executives, the size and complexity of the 
Company’s business and the particularly competitive and limited size of the media talent pool in Australia. This process has been 
undertaken in conjunction with assistance from an independent remuneration advisor. 
 
Given the recent listing of the company, the short-term incentive plan performance hurdles for the year were aligned to delivery of the 
forecasts included in the Company’s Prospectus, while the overall executive remuneration mix has been designed to focus on 
maximising growth opportunities. The short-term incentive payments for 2014 reflect the financial outcomes achieved and the 
executives’ individual performance during the year. 
 
 
 

 
 
Joanne Pollard 
Chair of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
 
 
  



 
nine entertainment co. holdings limited :: financial report – 30 june 2014  
 

 Remuneration Report – Audited (continued) 
 

nine entertainment co. 24 artarmon rd willoughby nsw 2068 tel +61 2 9906 9999 fax +61 2 9965 2215 ABN 59 122 205 065  

www.nineentertainment.com.au 
 10 

 
 

 

 

This Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 June 2014 outlines the remuneration arrangements of the Company and the Group 
in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (the Act) and its regulations. This information has been audited as required by section 
308(3C) of the Act. 

The Remuneration Report is presented under the following sections: 

1.  Introduction 

2.  Remuneration Governance 

 2.1 Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

2.2 Use of Remuneration Consultants 

 2.3 Associated Policies 

3.  Legacy Remuneration Arrangements – Pre-IPO 

4.  Executive remuneration principles – Post-IPO Remuneration Framework 

 4.1 Remuneration Principles and Strategy 

 4.2 Approach to Setting Remuneration 

 4.3 Short-Term Incentives 

4.4 Long-Term Incentive Plan Considerations 

 4.5 Employee Gift Plan 

5.  Executive Remuneration Outcomes for 2014 (including link to performance) 

 5.1 Short-Term Incentives 

5.2 New Long-Term Incentive 

5.3 Employee Gift Offer 

5.4 Summary Remuneration Outcomes for the year ended 30 June 2014 

5.5.  Executive Contracts 

6.  Non-Executive Director Remuneration Arrangements 

7.  Share Rights, Employee Gift Offer Shares and Share Interests of KMP 

8.   Loans to key management personnel and their related parties 

9.  Other transactions and balances with key management personnel and their related parties 
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1. Introduction 
The Remuneration Report details the remuneration framework and arrangements for Key Management Personnel (KMP), as set out 
below. KMP are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the 
Company and the Group, directly or indirectly, including any Director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Parent. 

The term “executive” includes the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and other senior executives of Nine Entertainment Co. (NEC). 

 
Non-Executive Directors (NEDs) David Haslingden Chairman (independent, non-executive) 

 
Peter Costello Director (independent, non-executive) 

 
Kevin Crowe Director (non-executive) 

 
Edgar Lee Director (non-executive) 

 
Hugh Marks Director (independent, non-executive) 

 
Steve Martinez Director (non-executive) 

 
Joanne Pollard Director (independent, non-executive) 

 
Rajath Shourie Director (non-executive) 

Executive Director David Gyngell Chief Executive Officer 

Other KMP Simon Kelly Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Company 
Secretary 

 
Amanda Laing Commercial Director and Group General Counsel 

  Peter Wiltshire Group Director Sales and Marketing 

There were no changes to KMP after the reporting date and before the date the financial report was authorised for issue. 

2. Remuneration Governance  

2.1 Nomination and Remuneration Committee (“NRC”) 
In accordance with its charter the NRC should, to the extent practicable given the size and composition of the Board from time to time, 
comprise:  
 
(i) At least three members each of whom must be non-executive directors; and  

(ii) A majority of directors who are independent. 

Although the NRC charter and ASX Recommendation 8.1 suggest that the committee consist of a majority of independent directors, 
NEC believes that the current members of the committee (two out of the four are considered independent and all are non-executive 
directors) are the most appropriate to achieve its objectives given their skill set and experience. The Board is of the firm belief that the 
composition of the NRC does not hinder it in acting in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders generally. 

The NRC assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities for corporate governance and oversight of NEC’s nomination and 
remuneration policies and practices with the goal of enabling NEC to attract and retain senior management and appropriately align 
their interests with those of key stakeholders. 

Specifically, the Board approves the remuneration arrangements of the CEO and other key executives and awards made under short-
term incentive (STI) and any future long-term incentive (LTI) plans, following recommendations from the NRC. The Board also sets the 
remuneration levels of Non-Executive Directors (NEDs), subject to the aggregate pool limit approved by shareholders.  

The NRC also assists the Board in discharging its responsibilities in relation to NEC’s Board composition and performance and 
succession of the CEO and other key executives. 

The NRC meets regularly through the year. The CEO and other senior executives attend certain NRC meetings by invitation, where 
management input is required. Management are not present during any discussions relating to their own remuneration arrangements. 
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Details of the membership, number and attendance at meetings held by the NRC are set out on page 4 of the Directors’ Report.  

Further information on the NRC’s role, responsibilities and membership is included in the committee charter which is available at 
http://www.nineentertainment.com.au. 

2.2 Use of remuneration consultants 
From time to time, the NRC seeks external independent remuneration advice. Remuneration consultants are engaged by, and report 
directly to, the Committee. In selecting a remuneration consultant, the Committee considers potential conflicts of interest and requires 
the consultant’s independence from management as part of their terms of engagement. 
 
Where the consultant’s engagement requires a remuneration recommendation, the recommendation is provided to the Chair of the 
NRC to ensure management cannot unduly influence the outcome. 
 
Following the Company’s initial public offering (IPO), the NRC appointed Egan Associates as the Company’s remuneration consultant.  
The Company paid $9,650 (plus GST) to Egan Associates in respect of remuneration recommendations relating to the remuneration 
framework for key management executives including remuneration mix and incentive plans. Other services provided by Egan 
Associates included assistance with the preparation of the annual Remuneration Report. The fees paid for all other services were 
$14,500 (plus GST).  Egan Associates provided no remuneration recommendations directly to management. 
 
The remuneration consultant has confirmed in writing to the Chair of the NRC that their recommendations were made free from any 
undue influence by the Group’s KMP. The Board is satisfied that remuneration advice provided is free from undue influence by 
members of KMP. 

2.3 Associated Policies  
The Company has established a number of policies to support reward and governance including a Disclosure Policy and Securities 
Trading Policy. These policies and procedures have been implemented to promote ethical behaviour and responsible decision making.  

3. Legacy remuneration arrangements – Pre-IPO 
The remuneration framework in place prior to the Company’s listing in December 2013 (“Pre-IPO Remuneration Framework”) was 
established by the Board and shareholders of the Company at the time to align with operational and strategic priorities under private 
ownership. Since listing, the Company has developed a remuneration framework (“Post-IPO Remuneration Framework”) which is 
more appropriately aligned to the Company’s new public company ownership status. 

The following sets out legacy short- and long-term incentive arrangements established under the Pre-IPO Remuneration Framework. 

  Short-term benefits 
Long-term 
benefits Share-based payments 

Total Pre-IPO 
Components 
$ 

  
Additional 
Short-Term 
Incentives (i) 

IPO Related 
Cash 
Incentives (ii) 

Deferred 
Cash Bonus 
(iii) 

Pre IPO 
Share Rights 
(iv) 

IPO Related 
Share 
Incentives (v) 

  $ $ $ $ $ 
Executive Director            

David Gyngell – 2,500,000 – 1,559,589 9,999,998 14,059,587 
Other Key Management 
Personnel 

          

Simon Kelly – 510,000 – 726,422 –  1,236,422 
Amanda Laing – 255,000 – 363,211 –  618,211 
Peter Wiltshire – – 200,000 213,490 –  413,490 

Notes: 

http://www.nineentertainment.com.au/
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 (i) Additional Short-Term Incentives 
As disclosed in the Prospectus issued as part of the Company’s listing in December 2013, each of the KMP (excluding Non-Executive 
Directors) and certain other senior managers are entitled to receive cash bonuses in circumstances where dividends are paid to 
shareholders, with such bonuses calculated by reference to the number of Share Rights held by the relevant KMP or senior manager 
under the pre-IPO Share Rights Plan (details of which are set out below) at the relevant dividend payment date multiplied by the 
dividend paid per share in the relevant period. 

This is a one-off arrangement which formed part of the commitment to those executives at the time that contracts were re-negotiated 
prior to the company’s IPO. Amounts paid under the Additional Short-Term Incentive are recorded as remuneration in the year paid.  
As no dividends were declared and paid in the year to June 2014, no cash bonuses were paid under these arrangements during the 
year. 

The Company will not be incorporating similar provisions in remuneration arrangements going forward. 

(ii) IPO Related Cash Incentives 

Certain KMP were eligible for cash IPO incentives which were contracted under the Company’s prior ownership. These incentives 
were awarded on the successful listing of the Company on the ASX. 

(iii) Deferred Cash Bonuses 
Represent amounts paid under legacy retention arrangements contracted in November 2012. There were no other KMP deferred cash 
bonus retention arrangements outstanding at 30 June 2014. 

(iv) Pre-IPO Share Rights 

As disclosed in the Prospectus issued as part of the Company’s listing in December 2013, whilst in private ownership, the owners 
instigated a one-off pre-IPO Share Rights Plan. Grants under this plan were contingent on the Company’s successful listing on the 
ASX. The vesting criteria of this one-off share-based plan is solely based on continued employment which was considered appropriate 
at the time given the intention of this plan to reward prior long-term business performance and shareholder value creation, create 
retention and align key executives to the IPO process.  

In addition, participants were required to align their key contractual terms including notice and restraint periods and termination 
provisions to a set of standards based on the management level of each participant, in doing so reducing retention and competitor risk 
for the business. A total of 6,186,415 Share Rights were issued (valued at $12,676,000 at the IPO issue price of $2.05 per share) 
following the Company’s listing on the ASX. No further grants under the Pre-IPO Share Rights Plan are proposed to be made. 

Of the total Share Rights issued, 4,029,266 were issued (valued at $8,259,995 at the IPO issue price of $2.05 per share) to the 
following KMP on the Company’s listing in December 2013. The rights were granted in three equal tranches, each vesting on the first, 
second and third anniversaries of completion of the Company’s listing on the ASX (being 11 December 2014, 11 December 2015 and 
11 December 2016). The fair value of Share Rights granted is amortised over the applicable vesting period for the purpose of statutory 
remuneration disclosures. 

 
  

Number of Share Rights Granted 
Fair Value of Share Rights Granted 
$ 

David Gyngell 2,195,121 $4,499,998 
Simon Kelly 1,022,439 $2,096,000 
Amanda Laing 511,219 $1,047,999 
Peter Wiltshire 300,487 $615,998 
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Further details of the Pre-IPO Share Rights Plan are as follows: 

Grant date 11 December 2013 
Consideration Nil  
Share Rights Each Share Right will, at the Company’s election, convert to a Share on a one-for-one basis or entitle 

the Participant to receive cash to the value of a Share at the relevant Vesting Date. No amount is 
payable on conversion. These have no expiry date, as are exercised on vesting date at the 
Company’s election. 

Vesting dates Subject to the employment conditions described below, one-third of Share Rights held by each 
Participant will vest on the first, second and third anniversaries of completion of the Company’s listing 
on the ASX (being 11 December 2014, 11 December 2015 and 11 December 2016). 

Cessation of employment 
(employment condition) 

If the Participant is not employed by NEC or any NEC Group member on a particular Vesting Date 
due to the Participant either:  
– having been summarily dismissed; or  
– having terminated his/her employment agreement otherwise than in accordance with the terms of 

that agreement,  
any unvested Share Rights held on or after the date of termination will lapse. 
 
If the Participant is not employed by NEC or any NEC Group member on a particular Vesting Date: 
– and NEC or an NEC Group member has terminated the Participant’s employment agreement 

(other than summarily) and his/her salary is being paid out in lieu of notice, then the only 
unvested Share Rights that will lapse are those that would ordinarily have vested after the end of 
the later of the notice period and any other date nominated in the terms of grant (Minimum 
Period); or  
the Participant has validly terminated his or her employment agreement and NEC or an NEC 
Group member has elected to pay the Participant his/her salary in lieu of notice, then the only 
unvested Share Rights that will lapse are those that would ordinarily have vested after the end of 
the notice period. 

Any unvested Share Rights that do not lapse in accordance with the above remain on foot until the 
relevant vesting date.  

Disposal restrictions Any Shares issued or transferred to the Participant upon vesting of any Share Rights will be subject 
to restrictions on disposal from the date of issue (or transfer) of the Shares until the release of NEC’s 
financial results for either the half or full-year period immediately following the date of issue (or 
transfer, as applicable). 

Change of control  The Board has the discretion to accelerate vesting of some or all of a Participant’s Share Rights in 
the event of certain transactions which may result in a change of control of Nine Entertainment Co. 
Holdings. The discretion will be exercised having regard to all relevant circumstances at the time, 
including the extent to which any applicable vesting conditions have been met. Unvested Share 
Rights will remain in place unless the Board determines to exercise that discretion.  
Where a change of control occurs, Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings can agree with a Participant and 
the new controller that the Participant will receive shares in the new controller, rather than shares in 
Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings, on vesting of Share Rights, with appropriate adjustments to the 
number and type of shares to be issued on vesting of the Share Rights.  
Unless the Board decides otherwise, any restrictions on disposal of shares which have been issued 
on vesting of Share Rights will be lifted, if a change of control event occurs.  
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Restrictions Without the prior approval of the Board, or unless required by law, Share Rights may not be sold, 
transferred, encumbered or otherwise dealt with. 
A Participant may not enter into any arrangement for the purpose of hedging, or otherwise affecting 
their economic exposure to their Share Rights. 

Amendments To the extent permitted by the ASX Listing Rules, the Board retains the discretion to vary the terms 
and conditions of the Share Rights Plan. 
This includes varying the number of Share Rights or the number of Shares to which a Participant is 
entitled upon a reorganisation of capital of NEC. 

Other terms The Share Rights Plan also contains customary and usual terms having regard to Australian law for 
dealing with administration, variation, suspension and termination of the Share Rights Plan. 

 
(v) IPO Related Share Incentives 
As disclosed in the Prospectus issued as part of the Company’s listing in December 2013, in accordance with his employment contract 
dated 1 November 2010, the CEO was entitled to receive an issue of shares to the value of $9,999,998 (calculated at the IPO issue 
price) subject to disposal restrictions for a period of three years on the successful listing of the Company. No consideration was 
payable in respect of this share issue. The full value of this incentive is shown as remuneration in the year. 

4.  Executive Remuneration Principles – Post-IPO Framework 
4.1 Remuneration Principles and Strategy                                                  
The Post-IPO Remuneration Framework has been designed to attract and retain high performing individuals, align executive reward to 
NEC’s business objectives and to create shareholder value. Changes have been made to the executive remuneration framework in 
place prior to the Company’s listing and further changes will be made as the new remuneration framework is implemented over time.  

The new framework aligns actual remuneration to guidelines set out in this document. 

The NRC monitors and reshapes the remuneration framework to support changes in the Company’s short- and long-term objectives, 
to respond to legislation and regulatory initiatives, changes in the business cycle, competitive environment and market practice. 

The Board’s objective is to ensure remuneration packages appropriately reflect employees’ duties, responsibilities and levels of 
performance, as well as ensuring that remuneration attracts and motivates people of the highest calibre, having particular regard to the 
specialist nature and limited availability of key management talent in the Australian media marketplace. 

Specifically, the Company’s executive reward structure is designed to: 
• Align rewards to the creation of shareholder value, implementation of business strategy and delivering results; 
• Implement targeted goals that encourage high performance and establish a clear link between executive remuneration and 

performance, both at Company and individual business unit levels; 
• Attract, retain and motivate high calibre executives for key business roles; 
• Provide a balance between fixed remuneration and at-risk elements and short- and long-term outcomes that encourages 

appropriate behaviour to provide reward for short-term delivery and long-term sustainability; and 
• Implement an industry competitive remuneration structure. 

4.2. Approach to setting remuneration  
The Group aims to reward executives with a level and mix (comprising fixed remuneration, short- and long-term incentives) of 
remuneration appropriate to their position, responsibilities and performance within the Group and aligned with industry and market 
practice. 

The Group’s policy is to position Total Employment Cost for KMP principally within a competitive range of its direct industry peers in 
light of the small pool of executive talent with appropriate industry experience and skills and the particularly competitive nature of the 
media and entertainment industry, but also having regard to other Australian listed companies of a similar size, complexity and 
prominence. Total reward opportunities are intended to provide the opportunity to earn top quartile rewards for outstanding 
performance against the stretch targets set. 
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Remuneration levels are considered periodically and on a case-by-case basis through a remuneration review that considers industry 
insights, the performance of the Company and individual, and the broader economic environment, and (as required) advice from 
independent external advisors. 

During the current year, the Company’s executive remuneration framework was revised to reflect its move from private to public 
ownership. As a result, certain changes to remuneration structures were made during the financial year and the reported remuneration 
mix for 2014 represents a combination of the remuneration levels and mix prevailing under pre-existing arrangements for part of the 
year (under the Pre-IPO Remuneration Framework) and revised arrangements for the balance of the year (under the Post-IPO 
Remuneration Framework).  

The following summarises the CEO’s and executives’ future target remuneration mix under the Post-IPO Remuneration Framework, 
which reflects the Company’s remuneration positioning following consideration of industry and market practices and advice from 
independent external advisors. The Company intends to progressively adjust the actual remuneration mix of each executive KMP so 
that over time their remuneration mix moves more in line with these targets. The time taken to complete this re-alignment will vary 
depending on various matters. 

 

Post-IPO Target Remuneration Mix 
 
Fixed 
Remuneration 
% 

Target 
Short-Term 
Incentive 
 % 

 
Long-Term 
Incentive 
% 

Chief Executive Officer 33.3% 33.3% 33.3% 
Other Key Management Personnel  40% – 50% 25% – 30% 25% – 30% 

During the year, the Company’s executive remuneration framework was revised to reflect its move from private to public ownership.  
As a result, certain changes to remuneration structures and contractual terms were made during the financial year. The CEO’s 
contract was also revised by the Board as part of its implementation of the Post-IPO Remuneration Framework. Prior to the IPO, the 
CEO’s fixed remuneration was $3,500,000 and his Target STI was $3,500,000. These were each reduced to $2,000,000 with effect 
from the Company’s listing. In recognition of this reduction, the CEO was granted $4,499,998 of Pre-IPO Share Rights as detailed in 
section 3 (iv). A summary of the CEO and other KMP key contractual terms is set out in section 5.5. 

4.3 Short-Term Incentives (STI) 
The Group operates an annual STI program for certain executives that awards a cash bonus subject to the attainment of clearly 
defined Group, business unit and personal targets. 

Actual STI payments awarded to each executive depend on the extent to which specific measures are met. The measures consist of 
key performance indicators (KPIs) covering financial and non-financial measures of performance at both a corporate and business unit 
level, as relevant for each participant. A summary of the measures and weightings for the 2014 financial year is set out below. 

 
  Financial Measures Non-Financial Measures 
  Group EBITDA   
Chief Executive Officer 75% 25% 
Other Key Management Personnel 75% 25% 

The financial performance measure for the 2014 financial year (Group EBITDA) was chosen as it represents the key driver of 
shareholder value and reflects the short-term success of the business. Financial performance measures for future years will be 
determined as appropriate annually. 

The non-financial component of the STI plan is measured against a range of key performance indicators (KPIs) assigned on an 
individual basis to participants based on their specific area of responsibility. These personal KPIs are directly aligned to the Group’s 
Board approved key operational and strategic objectives and include quantitative measures where appropriate.  

On an annual basis, after consideration of actual performance against financial and non-financial measures, the Board determines the 
amount, if any, of the short-term incentive to be paid to each executive, seeking recommendations from the NRC and CEO as 
appropriate. In exceptional circumstances, individuals may be awarded an STI payment up to 187.5% of their target STI based on 
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significant outperformance of financial measures and personal KPIs. This reflects the Company’s desire to motivate executives to 
deliver outstanding results. In assessing the achievement of financial and non-financial measures the NRC may exercise its discretion 
to adjust outcomes for significant factors that contribute positively or negatively to results that are considered outside the control of 
management. 

Financial Measures 
 

% Financial Measure Delivery 
 
% Payout (of Financial Component) vs Target Payout 
 

<95% Subject to Board consideration 
95% 50% 
100% 100% 
105% 110% 
110% 125% 
115% 150% 
>115% 200% 
 
Non-Financial Measures 
 
 
Performance Assessment based 
on delivery of Personal KPIs 
 

% Payout (of Non-Financial Component) vs Target Payout 

 Unsatisfactory Nil  
Satisfactory 50 – 90% 
Achieved  90 – 110% 
Over-achieved 110 – 130% 
Outstanding 130 – 150% 

The STI plan is subject to annual review by the NRC and the structure, performance measures and weightings may therefore vary 
from year to year 

4.4  Long-Term Incentive (“LTI”) Plan Considerations 
Following the Company’s listing, the Board developed a revised remuneration framework consistent with market practice for listed 
companies and the Company’s strategic and operational objectives. It is anticipated that an equity-based LTI component that seeks to 
align long-term remuneration outcomes with stakeholder interests benchmarked against the market and the delivery of the Company’s 
strategic and operating goals will be implemented over time as part of this remuneration framework. 

The Company has not as yet finalised the structure, participation or timing of implementation of the LTI component of remuneration.  

4.5  Employee Gift Offer 
All eligible employees, including KMP (excluding directors) were entitled to participate in an Employee Gift Offer made at the time of 
the IPO. Under this offer, successful applicants received an allocation of $1,000 worth of shares (487 shares at the offer price of $2.05 
per share) for nil consideration on the listing of the Company.   

Shares issued under the Employee Gift Offer may not be sold, assigned, transferred or otherwise dealt with (including being assigned 
as security) before the earlier of the end of a three year period after issue or the time when a participant is no longer employed by 
NEC or any of its group members, subject to a minimum holding period of 18 months after issue. Other than these restrictions, shares 
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allocated under the Employee Gift Offer carry the same rights and entitlements, including dividend and voting rights, as other shares 
on issue. 

The Company has not determined at this stage whether there will be any future Employee Gift Offers. 

5. Executive remuneration outcomes (including link to performance)  
The Board does not consider it meaningful to compare historic remuneration outcomes with Company performance as a result of the 
Company’s prior private ownership. 

The remuneration outcomes in the year resulting from one-off arrangements under the Pre-IPO Remuneration Framework are set out 
in section 5.4. Outcomes in relation to ongoing arrangements under the Post-IPO Remuneration Framework are set out below. 

5.1 Short-Term Incentives (STI) 
In the current year, financial STI targets were aligned with the Pro forma EBITDA forecasts included in the Company’s Prospectus 
lodged with ASIC on 8 November 2013. Non-financial measures were determined on an individual-by-individual basis consistent with 
key operational and strategic objectives of the Company, as determined by the Company’s Board. 

The proportion of target and maximum STI that was earned and forfeited by each KMP in relation to the 2014 financial year is set out 
below: 

 

Proportion of Target STI  Proportion of Maximum STI  
in 2014 (%) in 2014 (%) 

Name Earned % Forfeited % Earned % Forfeited % 
David Gyngell 100% – 53% 47% 
Simon Kelly 100% – 60% 40% 
Amanda Laing 100% – 55% 45% 
Peter Wiltshire 100% – 55% 45% 

 

5.2 New Long-Term Incentives (LTI) 
 
Proposed post-IPO LTI arrangements have yet to be determined and accordingly, no grants were made in the year to June 2014.  
Grants under the Pre-IPO Share Rights Plan are set out in section 3(iv). 

5.3 Employee Gift Offer 
Simon Kelly participated in the Employee Gift Offer and received 487 shares. No other KMP participated in the Employee Gift Offer. 
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5.4 Summary Remuneration Outcomes for the year ended 30 June 2014 
 
 

  Short-term benefits 

Post- 
Employment 

Benefits Long-term Benefits Share-based Payments Total 
Performance 

Related 

Total 
Excluding 
Pre-IPO 

Components 

        Pre-IPO (1)   Pre-IPO (1)       Pre-IPO (1) Pre-IPO (1)       

  

Salary 
and Fees 

$ 

Cash 
Bonus 

$ 

Non- 
Monetary 

Benefits (2) 
$ 

IPO Related 
Cash 

Incentives 
$ 

Superannuation 
$ 

Deferred 
Cash 

Bonuses (3) 
$ 

Annual 
Leave 

$ 

Long 
Service 

Leave 
$ 

Employee 
Gift Offer 

(4)  
$ 

Pre-IPO 
Share 

Rights 
$ 

IPO 
Related 

Share 
Incentives 

$ $ % $ 

Executive Director 
  

      
 

  
 

        
 

David Gyngell (5) 2,655,354 2,669,863 – 2,500,000 17,775 – 152,479 33,037 – 1,559,589 9,999,998 19,588,095 85 5,528,508 

Other Key Management Personnel 
 

      
 

  
 

        
 

Simon Kelly 1,207,225 672,000 7,800 510,000 17,775 – 92,863 20,120 1,000 726,422 – 3,255,205 59 2,018,783 

Amanda Laing 611,669 307,198 7,800 255,000 17,775 – 48,633 10,537 – 363,211 – 1,621,823 57 1,003,612 

Peter Wiltshire 784,801 535,600 – – 17,775 200,000 60,369 13,080 – 213,490 – 1,825,115 52 1,411,625 

Total Executive 
KMP 5,259,049 4,184,661 15,600 3,265,000 71,100 200,000 354,344 76,774 1,000 2,862,712 9,999,998 26,290,238   9,962,528 

(1) Pre-IPO remuneration components relate to amounts contracted prior to the Company’s IPO. These are detailed further in section 3.0. 
(2) Non-Monetary Benefits represent non-cashable benefits such as car parking and gym membership. 
(3) Deferred Cash Bonuses represent previously contracted deferred cash retention payments. 
(4) Employee Gift Offer issues have been fully expensed as remuneration in the year of grant given their limited contingent nature. 
(5) The employment terms of the CEO were renegotiated during the year. Actual remuneration shown reflects a combination of the amounts received under his prior and current employment contracts. The CEO’s fixed remuneration was reduced from $3.5 
million to $2.0 million and his target STI from $3.5 million to $2.0 million with effect from the Company’s listing. The key terms of current KMP employment contracts are set out in section 5.5. 
(6) In accordance with permitted exemptions applying to the first year in which a Company is required to comply with Section 300A(1)(c) of the Corporations Act, the Company has not disclosed comparative remuneration information. In light of the changes in 
the Company’s remuneration framework following its listing, the Board does not consider comparative remuneration information to be meaningful and has therefore determined that it is appropriate to apply this exemption. 
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5.5 Executive contracts 
The remuneration and terms of the CEO and other KMP are formalised in their employment agreements. Each of these employment 
agreements, which have no fixed term, provide for the payment of fixed and performance-based remuneration, superannuation and other 
benefits such as statutory leave entitlements. 

The key terms of Executive KMP contracts at 30 June 2014 were as follows: 

  

Fixed 
Remuneration 

(1) Target STI 
Notice Period by 
Executive 

Notice Period by 
Company Restraint 

Termination 
Payment (2) 

David Gyngell $2,000,000 $2,000,000 12 months, but 
notice may not be 
given prior to 
1 October 2015 

12 months, but 
notice may not be 
given prior to 
1 October 2015 

12 months Not specified 

Simon Kelly $1,225,000 $600,000 12 months, but 
notice may not be 
given prior to 
1 April 2015 

12 months, but 
notice may not be 
given prior to 
1 April 2015 

12 months 12 months fixed 
remuneration plus 
annual STI, as 
defined 

Amanda Laing $650,001 $325,000 12 months, but 
notice may not be 
given prior to 
1 April 2015 

12 months, but 
notice may not be 
given prior to 
1 April 2015 

12 months Not specified 

Peter Wiltshire $801,271 $520,000 12 months 12 months 12 months Not specified 

(1) Fixed Remuneration comprises base cash remuneration, superannuation and other benefits which can be sacrificed for cash at the employee’s election.  Excludes other 
non-cashable ancillary benefits such as car parking and gym membership. 

(2) David Gyngell, Simon Kelly and Amanda Laing are subject to exemptions in respect of termination payment caps provided by S200B of the Corporations Act.  These 
exemptions were approved by the Company’s shareholders on 28 June 2012. 

 

6. Non-Executive Director (NED) remuneration arrangements 
Remuneration policy 
The Board seeks to set aggregate non-executive remuneration at a level that provides the Company with the ability to attract and retain 
directors of the highest calibre, at a cost that is acceptable to shareholders. 

NED remuneration including base fees and committee chair and membership fees is reviewed annually against fees paid to NEDs of other 
Australian listed companies of a similar size, complexity and prominence. The Board considers advice from external consultants when 
undertaking the annual review process.  

The Company’s constitution and the ASX listing rules specify that the NED fee pool shall be determined from time to time by a general 
meeting. The latest determination was at the Annual General Meeting (AGM) held on 21 October 2013 when shareholders approved an 
aggregate fee pool of $3,000,000 per year. The Board will not seek any increase to the NED remuneration pool at the 2014 AGM. 

Structure 
The remuneration of NEDs consists of directors’ fees and committee fees. The payment of additional fees for serving on a committee 
recognises the additional time commitment required by NEDs who serve on sub-committees. The Chairman of the Board does not receive 
any additional fees in addition to Board fees for being a member of any committee. All Board fees include any superannuation entitlements, 
as applicable. 

Kevin Crowe, Edgar Lee, Steve Martinez and Rajath Shourie as nominee directors of major shareholders waived their rights to any 
remuneration during the year. 

NED fees for the 2014 financial year were as follows:  
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Board fees   
Chairman $425,000 
Directors $180,000 
Committee fees 
Committee Chair $15,000 
Committee Member $10,000 

NEDs do not receive retirement benefits, nor do they participate in any incentive programs. 

Prior to the Company’s listing, NEDs (excluding Kevin Crowe, Edgar Lee, Steve Martinez and Rajath Shourie as nominee directors of major 
shareholders) received part of their remuneration in the form of Share Rights which vested progressively over the year. These Share Rights 
were not subjected to performance conditions for their vesting given they were granted in lieu of cash remuneration. In recognition of the 
additional workload on NEDs associated with the Company’s listing, the balance of unvested Share Rights were determined to have vested 
effective the Company’s listing and NED remuneration from that time was paid in cash. At the time of listing, all Share Rights held by NEDs 
were converted to ordinary shares and each NED entered into escrow arrangements with the Company whereby they agreed that those 
shares received on conversion would not be disposed of before the release of the Company’s full year 2014 results. 

The Company does not intend issuing any further Share Rights or other share-based payments to NEDs in future. 

The number and value of Share Rights received by NEDs during the year under their legacy remuneration arrangements are as follows: 

 
Ordinary Shares No. of Share 

Rights at 
beginning of 

Year (1) 

Number of 
Share Rights 

Vested in Year 

Value of 
Share Rights 

Vested in Year 
$ (2) 

Number of 
Share Rights 
Converted in 

Year (3) 

Number of 
Share Rights 

Granted in 
Year 

Number of 
Share Rights 
at end of Year 

David Haslingden 109,588 66,353 136,024 109,588 – – 
Peter Costello 27,396 16,587 34,003 27,396 – – 
Kevin Crowe Jr – – – – – – 
Edgar Lee – – – – – – 
Hugh Marks 27,396 16,587 34,003 27,396 – – 
Steve Martinez – – – – – – 
Joanne Pollard 27,396 16,587 34,003 27,396 – – 
Rajath Shourie – – – – – – 

(1) After adjusting for the share split which took effect on 21 October 2013. 
(2) Valued at $2.05 per share, the value of a share on the date of conversion of Share Rights to ordinary shares. 
(3) Includes Share Rights which had vested prior to the commencement of the 2014 financial year. 
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NED remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2014 
 
Non-Executive Directors 

Salary and fees 
$ 

Superannuation 
$ 

Share-based 
payments 

$ 
Total 

$ 
David Haslingden 319,657 17,775 121,094 458,526 
Peter Costello 144,460 13,363 30,271 188,094 
Kevin Crowe Jr – – – – 
Edgar Lee – – – – 
Hugh Marks 172,823 – 30,271 203,094 
Steve Martinez – – – – 
Joanne Pollard 158,190 14,633 30,271 203,094 
Rajath Shourie – – – – 

Total Non-Executive Directors 795,130 45,771 211,907 1,052,808 
 
7.  Share Rights, Employee Gift Offer Shares and Share Interests of KMP 
 

  

Share Rights 
Granted and 
Outstanding Award date 

Fair value per 
Share Right at 

Award date Vesting date 
Vested during 

the year 
Lapsed during 

the year 
  No.   $   No. No. 

Executive Director            
David Gyngell 731,707 11-Dec-13 2.05 11-Dec-14 – – 

 731,707 11-Dec-13 2.05 11-Dec-15 – – 

 731,707 11-Dec-13 2.05 11-Dec-16 – – 
Other KMP             
Simon Kelly 340,813 11-Dec-13 2.05 11-Dec-14 – – 

 340,813 11-Dec-13 2.05 11-Dec-15 – – 

 340,813 11-Dec-13 2.05 11-Dec-16 – – 
Amanda Laing 170,406 11-Dec-13 2.05 11-Dec-14 – – 

 170,406 11-Dec-13 2.05 11-Dec-15 – – 

 170,407 11-Dec-13 2.05 11-Dec-16 – – 
Peter Wiltshire 100,162 11-Dec-13 2.05 11-Dec-14 – – 

 100,162 11-Dec-13 2.05 11-Dec-15 – – 
  100,163 11-Dec-13 2.05 11-Dec-16 – – 

 
For details of Share Rights granted to NEDs refer to section 6. 

Share Rights do not carry any voting or dividend rights and can be exercised once the vesting conditions have been met. 
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Employee Gift Offer Shares 
 
 Employee Gift 

Offer Shares 
Granted and 
Outstanding 

No. Award date 

Fair value per 
Share at Award 

date  
$ Restricted Until 

Restriction lifted 
during the year 

No. 
Executive Director      
David Gyngell – – – – – 
Other Key Management 
Personnel 

     

Simon Kelly 487 11 Dec 2013 2.05 11 Dec 2016 – 
Amanda Laing – – – – – 
Peter Wilshire – – – – – 

Employee Gift Offer Shares issued in the year were valued at $1,000 per participant. Refer to section 3 for details on the Employee Gift Offer. 

Shareholdings of Key Management Personnel 
Shares held in Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited by KMP and their related parties are as follows:  

 

  
As at 1 July 

2013 
Granted on 

IPO 

Granted 
under 

Employee 
Gift Offer 

Granted on 
conversion 

of Share 
Rights 

Other Net 
Charges 

As at 30 
June 2014 

Held 
nominally 

as at 30 
June 2014 

  Ord Ord Ord Ord Ord Ord Ord 
Non-Executive Directors        
David Haslingden – – – 109,588 – 109,588 – 
Peter Costello – – – 27,396 – 27,396 24,390 
Kevin Crowe Jr – – – – – – – 
Edgar Lee – – – – – – – 
Hugh Marks – – – 27,396 – 27,396 – 
Steve Martinez – – – – – – – 
Joanne Pollard – – – 27,396 – 27,396 24,390 
Rajath Shourie – – – – – – – 
Executive Director               
David Gyngell – 4,878,048 – – – 4,878,048 487 
Other Key Management 
Personnel 

              

Simon Kelly – – 487 – – 487 121,951 
Amanda Laing – – – – – – – 
Peter Wiltshire – – – – – – – 
Total – 4,878,048 487 191,776 – 5,070,311 171,218 
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8. Loans to Key Management Personnel and their related parties 
No loans have been made to KMP or their related parties. 

 

9. Other transactions and balances with Key Management Personnel and their related parties 
 The following related party arrangements have been entered into by an NEC Group member: 
 

- Leila McKinnon, the wife of David Gyngell, is employed by Nine Network as a journalist and news presenter; and 
 

- Sebastian Costello, the son of Peter Costello, is employed by the Nine Network as a reporter. 
 
These arrangements are on commercial and arm’s length terms.  
 
Certain Directors have interests in television production, advertising or other media-related business concerns. From time to time, one or more 
of the Directors (or the companies or entities that they control, have an interest in, or are employed by) may provide services or sell products to 
NEC. Should such sales occur or services be provided, they are on commercial and arm’s length terms. The monetary value of such 
transactions during the year with Directors or their related entities is not material. 
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  Operating and Financial Review 

Review of Operations 
 
This commentary reflects the reported Statutory results.  Commentary on Pro Forma results and a comparison of those results to the Initial 
Public Offering (IPO) Prospectus forecasts are included in separate filings with the Australian Stock Exchange. 
 
  

2014 
$m 

  Variance 
2013 

$m 
 

$m % 
Revenue 1,546.6 1,272.4 +274.2 +21.6 
Group EBITDA (before Specific Items) (1) 309.7 261.9 +47.8 +18.3 
Specific Items (97.5) 1,212.1 -1,309.6 nm 
Finance Costs (66.4) (246.6) +180.2 +73.1 
Profit from Continuing Operations after Income Tax 57.9 1,200.8 -1,142.9 -57.9 
Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 189.0 (38.3) nm nm 
Net Debt 509.8 517.0 -20.2 -3.9 
Leverage (2) 1.6X 1.9X -0.2X – 
 
(1) EBITDA plus share of associates, less Corporate Costs           
(2) Net Debt/Group EBITDA (before Specific Items) 

nm  not meaningful 
 
Revenue increased by 22% to $1,547 million while Group EBITDA before Specific Items improved $48 million (18%) to $309.7 million.  In both 
the current and prior years Specific Items and Net Interest Expense had significant impacts on the bottom line result with Profit from Continuing 
Operations after Income Tax of $58 million in the current year compared with $1,201 million in the prior year. 
 
In the current year, Specific Items included one-off costs and accounting adjustments associated with the acquisitions of Nine Adelaide, Nine 
Perth and ninemsn Pty Limited as well as costs associated with the Group’s IPO, debt refinancing and the provisioning against a withholding 
tax claim which was previously disclosed as a contingent liability. 
 
Specific Items in the prior year result included asset impairments and write downs and a significant gain on restructure. 
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A full analysis of Specific Items from Continuing Operations is set out below: 
 

Specific items from Continuing Operations 
 

2014 
$m 

2013 
$m  

Reversal of previous impairment of Mi9 9.5 – 
Mark to market of derivatives (6.6) – 
Acquisition related costs (18.5) – 
Withholding tax provision (10.7) – 
Transaction costs for IPO related activities (31.1) – 
Debt refinancing costs (31.8) – 
Restructuring costs (1.8) (5.0) 
Provision for onerous contracts – (10.5) 
Impairment of assets and other asset write-downs – (120.9) 
Net gain on restructure – 1,348.5 
Other (6.5) – 
Total (97.5) 1,212.1 
 
 
Finance costs declined from $247 million in the prior year to $63 million in the current year reflecting the impact of lower debt levels and more 
favourable interest margins following the Group’s restructure in February 2013. 
 
Operating Cash Flow improved year on year as a result of significantly lower interest costs following the Group’s balance sheet restructure and 
improved business operating performance.  At balance sheet date, Net Debt decreased to $510 million from $517 million with the benefit of 
Operating Cash Flows and cash raised as part of the IPO partially offset by the acquisition costs of Nine Adelaide, Nine Perth and 50% of 
ninemsn.  Net Leverage at 30 June 2014 was a conservative 1.6X. 
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Segmental Results   
 
  

2014 
$m 

  Variance 
2013 

$m 
 

$m % 
Revenue (1)     
  Network 1,215.1 1,099.2 +115.9 +10.5 
  Live 228.0 170.9 +57.1 +33.4 
  Digital 107.2 – +107.2 – 
Total Revenue (1) 1,550.3 1,270.1 +280.2 +22.1 

EBITDA     
  Network 234.2 178.2 +56.0 +31.5 
  Live 68.0 57.3 +10.7 +18.7 
  Digital 20.4 – +20.4 – 
  Corporate (20.2) (10.5) -9.7 -92.4 

Total EBITDA 302.4 225.0 +77.4 +34.4 

Share of Associates 7.3 36.9 -29.6 -80.3 
Group EBITDA 309.7 261.9 +47.8 +18.3 
(1)   Prior to elimination of inter-segment revenue and interest income 
 
Reported segmental results reflect the actual business ownership that existed through each year.  In particular Nine Network results include 
the results of Nine Adelaide from 1 July 2013 and the results of Nine Perth from 30 September 2013. Digital results reflect the consolidated 
results of Mi9 from 1 November 2013, the date that the Company gained control.  Prior to this date Mi9’s results were accounted for as an 
associate. 
 
A summary of each division’s performance is set out below. 
 
Nine Network 
 
  

2014 
$m 

  Variance 
2013 

$m 
 

$m % 
Revenue 1,215.1 1,099.2 +115.9 +10.5 
EBITDA 234.2 178.2 +56.0 +31.5 
Margin 19.3% 16.2%  +3.1 pts 

 
 
Nine Network recorded revenue growth of 11% to $1,215 million, and growth in EBITDA of 32% to $234 million compared to the prior year.  
This improvement reflects a combination of the contributions from Nine Adelaide and Perth, an improving FTA advertising market and Nine’s 
revenue share growth. 
 
After a solid rebound in the December half, when the Metro free-to-air (FTA) television advertising market grew by 5%, the June half was more 
subdued. The timing of the Easter and ANZAC Day breaks coupled with uncertainty relating to the 2014 Federal Budget, resulted in a June half 
Metro free-to-air television advertising market that grew by just 1.7%.  After adjusting for an increase in contra under new sport contracts, 
which is estimated to have contributed around 1.0 percentage point of market growth, the underlying current year Metro free-to-air television 
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advertising market is estimated to have grown c2.5% over the year.  In regional markets, which account for around 23% of the national total, 
free-to-air television advertising was flat for the year.   
 
Over the year, Nine continued to increase its ratings performance and in the current year, held a commercial network leadership position 
across all core marketing demographics - #1 in 25-54s, 18-49s and 16-39s, across both All Day and Primetime ratings periods. 
 
Nine’s ratings performance is underpinned by the core genres of news, sport, local drama and quality reality. The ratings performance has 
continued to gain in both breadth and consistency, which has underpinned Nine’s share gains during the year. Key drivers of the year’s ratings 
performance include the extended 6pm News service, strong audiences across sport – NRL, Cricket, the Ashes and the State of Origins – new 
drama Love Child as well as core franchises The Block and The Voice. 
 
Improved ratings supported an increase in Metro revenue share from 37.9% in the prior year to 38.7% in the current year. 
 
Costs were up by 6.8% on the prior year, a comparison which reflected the acquisitions of Nine Adelaide and Nine Perth, and which benefitted 
from the absence of the 2012 Olympic costs, but which fully reflects the increased costs associated with the new National Rugby League and 
Cricket Australia rights agreements. 
 
Nine Live (previously Nine Events) 
 
  

2014 
$m 

  Variance 
2013 

$m 
 

$m % 
Revenue 228.0 170.9 +57.1 +33.4% 
EBITDA 68.0 57.3 +10.7 +18.7% 
Margin 29.8% 33.5%  -3.7 pts 

 
 
In July 2014, the Nine Events business was rebranded “Nine Live”, with the touring and events division (previously known as Nine Live) 
renamed “Nine Touring and Events”.    
 
Nine Live reported EBITDA growth of 19% to $68 million on revenue of $228 million, up 33%. Overall growth was underpinned by the 
consistent performance of Ticketek, which contributes approximately 60% of Nine Live’s revenue.  Ticketek sold almost 16 million tickets in the 
year, up 7%, with average revenue per ticket up 2.5%. 
 
During the year, Ticketek renewed a number of its key ticketing contracts, including the Melbourne Olympic Park Trust, the Melbourne Cricket 
Ground and ANZ Stadium.  These give Ticketek the exclusive right to ticket all events at these venues, for a fixed period, and consolidate 
Ticketek’s position as the leading ticketing agency in Australia, ticketing 19 of the top 20 venues by seating capacity. 
 
Nine Touring and Events reported a more than doubling in revenue and was a significant contributor to Nine Live’s revenue growth, as this 
relatively new business continued to evolve and refine its business model.  Launched in 2011, Nine Touring and Events was formed to create 
incremental opportunities for the Live business via the promotion of certain live events in Australia and potentially offshore, and to capitalise on 
the Group’s broad operating base.  During the year, Nine Touring and Events promoted (or co-promoted) One Direction, Ricky Martin and 
Keith Urban amongst others. 
 
Allphones recorded strong profit growth following a particularly weak prior year.  Total attendances were up by more than 50%, which 
underpinned growth across all related venue revenue streams – primarily food and beverage, venue rental, suite leases and ticket rebates. 
 
The decline in Nine Live’s operating margin from 33% to 30% reflects the evolving business mix, with the low margin Nine Touring and Events 
contributing an increasing proportion of group revenue, diluting overall reported margins. 
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Nine Digital 
 
  

2014 
$m 

  Variance 
2013 

$m 
 

$m % 
Revenue 107.2 – +107.2 – 
EBITDA 20.4 – +20.4 – 
Margin 19.1% – – – 
 
 
Digital results reflect the results of Mi9 from 1 November 2013, the date that the Group gained control.  Prior to this date Mi9’s results were 
accounted for as an associate. 
 
For the period post acquisition of a controlling interest, the digital business tracked to expectations.  Search and video revenues posted solid 
growth, however as the online display advertising market continues to fragment, much of the growth was skewed to the smaller niche players, 
while Mi9’s display advertising revenue was down slightly following Microsoft product changes. 
 
As previously announced, as a result of the ownership change, certain aspects of the relationship between Mi9 and Microsoft have changed or 
will progressively change, which has resulted in an evolving operating model. This will have a significant impact on the nature and level of 
future revenue streams for the business which will play out over the 2015 financial year. 
 
Share of Associates profit 

 
Share of Associates profit declined from $36.9 million to $7.3 million.  The key driver of this decline was the change in ownership of Mi9 which 
ceased being an associate with effect from 1 November 2013.  In addition, in the prior year, the Group’s Share of Associates had included the 
Group’s share of Mi9’s profit on the sale of iSelect. 
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Review of Financial Position 
 
At 30 June 2014 the Net Assets of the Group were $1,823 million which is approximately $340 million higher than as at 30 June 2013.  This 
improvement reflects a combination of the retained profits for the year and the $275 million of new equity raised in the year as part of the 
Group’s listing.  During the year, the Group acquired Nine Adelaide, Nine Perth and the remaining 50% interest in Mi9.  The cash cost of 
acquisitions in the year was $329 million.  The Review of Operations details changes in the Group’s net debt and its debt leverage. 
 

Underlying Drivers of Performance 
 
The Group operates across a number of businesses and industries, each of which have their own underlying drivers of performance.  These 
are summarised below: 
 
• Nine Network -  size of the advertising market and the share attributed to free-to-air television, Nine’s share of the free-to-air advertising 

market, the regulatory environment and the ability to secure key programming contracts. 
• Nine Live - the renewal and securing of new venue ticketing contracts and the number of tours and events coming to Australia/New 

Zealand  
• Nine Digital - size of the advertising market and the share attributed to online and Nine Digital’s share of the online advertising market 

 
The impacts of changes in underlying drivers of performance on the current year result are set out in the Review of Operations, as applicable. 
 

Business Strategies and Future Prospects 
 
The Group is focusing on the following business growth strategies. 

• Continue strong momentum and consolidate position as a leading FTA TV network 

The Group intends to achieve consistent performance across Sydney, Melbourne and Brisbane and to increase its audience and revenue 
share in Adelaide and Perth, with an overall aim of developing a leading position in audience and advertising revenue share across the five 
capital cities. The Group also plans to use its digital channels to grow its total share of audience and revenue. The Group is also focused on 
optimising content returns through improved broadcast rights deals and affiliate arrangements, and maintaining disciplined cost management.  

In programming, the Group recognises the importance of broadcasting leading news and current affairs and sports content and audience 
demand for local content, and is focused on continuing to make targeted investments in content to reflect audience preferences.  

• Utilise the Group’s content and audience reach through its integrated platform to grow returns  

The combined ownership of Nine Network, Nine Live and Nine Digital provides the Group with various cross-promotional and cross-selling 
opportunities for all of its business divisions. The Group will continue to identify and pursue opportunities where it can utilise its content or 
audience reach to generate returns and cross-selling opportunities across its integrated platform. This includes investments through Nine 
Ventures, as well as commercial relationships with other businesses.  

The Group intends to improve financial returns by improving alignment and integration across its businesses, including its sales and marketing 
functions.  

• Maintain strong industry position and expand the Nine Live business 

The Group intends to expand revenue streams and maintain the industry position of its core ticketing business via innovation, technology and 
business development. This includes successfully renewing major Ticketek contracts, increasing tours via Nine Touring and Events, and using 
its integrated business model to access talent and a variety of revenue streams. The Group will use the content and media from other parts of 
the Group to support growth in Nine Live. The Group will also seek to explore new ways to utilise its online assets to grow online and data 
revenues.   
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• Continue to grow Mi9 and other digital media assets 

The Group intends to build on Mi9’s position as a leading online network in Australia to grow audience and advertising revenue. The Group 
plans to expand its audience by increasing its content and the ways customers find and access this content, including via tablets and mobile 
devices. Mi9 expects to make changes in the user interface of Mi9’s websites to support the development of content for tablets and mobile, 
and to support advertising growth in these areas.  

Mi9’s goal is to increase its advertising revenue through growth in audience, inventory, as well as making use of its data assets to improve 
yields and effectiveness of advertising. 

The Group is confident that the successful execution of these business strategies will enable the Group to grow in the future. 

The key risks which could prevent the Group from optimising its growth in the future are set out below: 
• Nine Network - significant changes to advertising market conditions, Nine’s share of the advertising market, viewer preferences, the 

regulatory environment and/or a loss of key programming contracts. 
• Nine Live - the loss of ticketing venues, a reduction in the number of tours and events coming to Australia/New Zealand and/or any 

innovation in ticketing distribution methods. 
• Nine Digital - significant changes to advertising market conditions, Nine Digital’s share of the advertising market, internet user 

preferences and/or the regulatory environment.  In addition, as Mi9 separates from Microsoft, there are a number of specific risks which 
include the reduction in traffic directed to Mi9 by Microsoft.  Mi9 in time will also lose its entitlement to use the ninemsn and msn brands, 
and will therefore need to develop and launch new branding for the ninemsn websites, which may or may not prove successful. 

 

Share Price Performance 
 
NEC was listed on the Australian Stock Exchange on 6 December 2013, with an IPO price of $2.05.  Since listing, the Group has traded in the 
range of $1.87 to $2.39 and closed on 30 June 2014 at $2.16.
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  Corporate Governance Statement 
The Board of Directors of Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited (NEC) is responsible for establishing the corporate governance framework 
of the Group having regard to the ASX Corporate Governance Council (CGC) published guidelines as well as its corporate governance 
principles and recommendations. The Board guides and monitors the business and affairs of NEC on behalf of its shareholders by whom they 
are elected and to whom they are accountable. 

The corporate governance practices that were in place prior to the Company’s listing in December 2013 were established to align with the 
business operational and strategic priorities under private ownership. Since listing, the Company has developed and implemented corporate 
governance practices as set out below. Details on compliance with the ASX CGC guidelines and recommendations relate to the period since 
the Company’s listing, unless specified otherwise. 

Recommendation  Comply Reference 
Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 
1.1  Establish the functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to senior executives and disclose those 

functions 
1.2  Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of senior executives  
1.3  Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 1  

 
Yes 
 
Yes 
Yes 

 
Pg 33-35 
 
Pg 15-17 
above 

Principle 2: Structure the Board to add value 
2.1  A majority of the Board should be independent Directors  
2.2  The chair should be an independent Director  
2.3  The roles of chair and Chief Executive Officer should not be exercised by the same individual  
2.4  The Board should establish a nomination committee 
2.5  Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of the Board, its committees and individual Directors 
2.6  Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 2 

 
No 
Yes 
Yes 
Yes 
Yes 
Yes 

 
Pg 35 
Pg 35 
Pg 35 
Pg 38-39 
Pg 20-22 
above 

Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision making 
3.1  Establish a code of conduct and disclose the code or a summary of the code as to: 

• the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the Company’s integrity; 
• the practices necessary to take into account legal obligations and the reasonable expectations of 

shareholders; and 
• the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating reports of 

unethical practices. 
3.2  Establish a policy concerning diversity and disclose the policy or a summary of that policy 
3.3  Disclose the measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity set by the Board in accordance with the 

diversity policy and progress towards achieving them 
3.4  Disclose the proportion of women employees in the whole organisation, women in senior executive 

positions and women on the Board 
3.5  Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 3 

 
Yes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Yes 
Yes 
 
Yes 
 
Yes 

 
NEC 
website 
 
 
 
 
 
Pg 42 
Pg 43 
 
Pg 43 
 
above 

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 
4.1  The Board should establish an audit committee 
4.2  Structure the audit committee so that it: 

• consists of only non-executive Directors; 
• consists of a majority of independent Directors; 
• is chaired by an independent chair, who is not chair of the Board; and 
• has at least three members. 

4.3  The audit committee should have a formal charter 
4.4  Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 4 

 
Yes 
 
Yes 
Yes(1) 
Yes 
Yes 
 
Yes 
Yes 

 
Pg 37-38 
 
Pg 35 
Pg 35 
Pg 35 
Pg 35 
 
Pg 37-38 
above 
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Recommendation  Comply Reference 
Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure 
5.1  Establish written policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure 

requirements and to ensure accountability at a senior executive level for that compliance and disclose 
those policies or a summary of those policies 

5.2  Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 5  

 
Yes 
 
 
Yes 

 
NEC 
website 
 
above 

Principle 6: Respect the rights of shareholders 
6.1  Design a communications policy for promoting effective communication with shareholders and 

encouraging their participation at general meetings and disclose the policy or a summary of the policy 
6.2  Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 6 

 
Yes 
 
Yes 

 
NEC 
website 
above 

Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk 
7.1  Companies should establish policies for the oversight and management of material business risks and 

disclose a summary of those policies 
7.2  The Board should require management to design and implement the risk management and internal control 

system to manage the Company’s material business risks and report to it on whether those risks are being 
managed effectively. The Board should disclose that management has reported to it as to the 
effectiveness of the Company’s management of its material business risks 

7.3  The Board should disclose whether it has received assurance from the Chief Executive (or equivalent) that 
the declaration provided in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act is founded on a sound 
system of risk management and internal control and that the system is operating effectively in all material 
respects in relation to financial reporting risks 

7.4  Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 7 

Yes 
 
Yes 
 
 
 
Yes 
 
 
 
Yes 

 
Pg 39-40 
 
Pg 39-40 
 
 
 
Pg 40 
 
 
 
above 

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly 
8.1  The Board should establish a remuneration committee 
8.2  The remuneration committee should be structured so that it consists of a majority of independent 

Directors, is chaired by an independent Director and has at least three members 
8.3  Clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive Directors’ remuneration from that of executive Directors 

and senior executives 
8.4  Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 8 

 
Yes 
No 
 
Yes 
 
Yes 

 
Pg 38 
Pg 11 
 
Pg15-23 
 
above 

(1) Effective 1 July 2014, the composition of the Audit and Risk Management Committee changed such that a majority of members were independent Directors. Prior to this 
date, the Committee comprised one independent and two non-independent Directors. 

The Company’s key corporate governance practices are discussed within this statement. Further information on corporate governance policies 
adopted by the Company is set out at: www.nineentertainment.com.au/overview.aspx. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
The Board of Directors of NEC is responsible for, and oversees the governance of, the Company. The Board strives to build sustainable value 
for shareholders whilst protecting the assets and reputation of NEC. The Board has adopted a Board Charter which sets out the 
responsibilities of the Board and its structure and governance requirements. Under the Board Charter, the functions of the Board are to: 

(i) approve NEC’s strategies, budgets and business plans;  

(ii) approve NEC’s annual report including the financial statements, directors’ report, remuneration report and corporate governance 
statement, with advice from the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and the Audit and Risk Management Committee, 
as appropriate;  

(iii) approve major borrowing and debt arrangements, the acquisition, establishment, disposal or cessation of any significant business of 
the company, any significant capital expenditure and the issue of any shares, options, equity instruments or other securities in NEC; 

http://www.nineentertainment.com.au/overview.aspx
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(iv) assess performance against strategies to monitor both the performance of the Chief Executive Officer and other individuals as 
determined from time to time by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee (collectively “Senior Management”) of the NEC Group;  

(v) ensure that the Company acts legally and responsibly on all matters and that the highest ethical standards are maintained; 

(vi) maintain a constructive and ongoing relationship with the Australian Securities Exchange and regulators, and approve policies 
regarding disclosure and communications with the market and NEC’s shareholders; and  

(vii) monitor and approve changes to internal governance including delegated authorities, and monitor resources available to 
Senior Management. 

To ensure that the Board is well equipped to discharge its responsibilities it has established guidelines for the nomination and selection of 
directors and for the operation of the Board.  

The responsibility for the operation and administration of the Group is delegated, by the Board, to Senior Management. The Board ensures 
that this team is appropriately qualified and experienced to discharge its responsibilities and has in place procedures to assess the 
performance of the Senior Management team. 

Whilst at all times the Board retains full responsibility for guiding and monitoring the Group, in discharging its stewardship it makes use of 
specialist sub-committees which are able to focus on a particular responsibility and provide informed feedback to the Board. 

With the guidance of the Board’s Nomination and Remuneration Committee, the Board is responsible for:  

(i) evaluating and approving the remuneration packages of the Chief Executive Officer, Directors and other members of Senior 
Management;  

(ii) monitoring compliance with the Non-Executive Director remuneration pool as established by the Constitution, or as subsequently 
amended by shareholders, and recommending any changes to the pool; 

(iii) administering short- and long-term incentive plans (including any equity plans) and engaging external remuneration consultants, as 
appropriate;  

(iv) appointing, evaluating or removing the Chief Executive Officer, and approving appointments or removal of all other members of Senior 
Management and Directors; 

(v) regularly assessing the independence of all Directors;  

(vi) reviewing succession planning for Directors and Senior Management; and  

(vii) monitoring the mix of skills, experience, expertise and diversity on the Board and, when necessary, appointing new Directors, for 
approval by shareholders. 

With the guidance of the Audit and Risk Management Committee, the Board is responsible for:  

(i) preparing and presenting NEC’s financial statements and reports;  

(ii) overseeing NEC’s financial reporting, which, without limitation, includes:  

a. reviewing the suitability of NEC’s accounting policies and principles, how they are applied, and ensuring they are used in 
accordance with the statutory financial reporting framework;  

b. assessing significant estimates and judgements in financial reports; and  
c. assessing information from external auditors to ensure the quality of financial reports;  

(iii) overseeing NEC’s financial controls and systems; 

(iv) reviewing, monitoring and approving NEC’s risk management policies, procedures and systems; and  

(v) managing audit arrangements and auditor independence.  
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The Board has delegated to the Chief Executive Officer the authority and power to manage NEC and its businesses within levels of authority 
specified by the Board from time to time. The Chief Executive Officer may delegate aspects of his or her authority and power but remains 
accountable to the Board for NEC’s performance and is required to report regularly to the Board on the progress being made by NEC’s 
business units.  

The Chief Executive Officer’s role includes: 

(i) responsibility for the effective leadership of the management team;  

(ii) the development of strategic objectives for the business; and  

(iii) the day-to-day management of NEC’s operations. 

Membership of Board committees during the year and as at the date of this report is set out below. 

Committee Membership 
Director  Audit and Risk 

Management 
Nomination and 
Remuneration 

David Haslingden Independent Non-Executive Chair Member (from 1 July 2014) Member 
David Gyngell Chief Executive Officer – – 
Peter Costello Independent Non-Executive Director – – 
Kevin Crowe Jr Non-Executive Director Member – 
Edgar Lee Non-Executive Director Member (to 30 June 2014) – 
Hugh Marks Independent Non-Executive Director Chair – 
Steve Martinez Non-Executive Director – Member 
Joanne Pollard Independent Non-Executive Director – Chair 
Rajath Shourie Non-Executive Director – Member 
    

The qualifications and experience of each member of the Board are set out in the Directors’ Report. Between them, the Directors bring to the 
Board relevant experience and skills, including industry and business knowledge, and financial management, legal, regulatory and corporate 
governance experience. 

The composition, structure and proceedings of the Board are primarily governed by NEC’s constitution (a copy of which can be found on the 
Company’s website) and the laws governing corporations in jurisdictions where the Company operates. The Board, with the assistance of the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee, regularly reviews the composition and structure and performance of the Board. 

With guidance from the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and, where necessary, external consultants, the Board identifies candidates 
with appropriate skills, experience, expertise and diversity in order to discharge its mandate effectively and to maintain the necessary mix of 
expertise on the Board. 

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee assesses nominations of new Directors against a range of criteria including the candidate’s 
background, experience, gender, professional skills, personal qualities and whether their skills and experience will complement the 
existing Board. 

The criteria to assess nominations of new Directors is reviewed periodically and the Nomination and Remuneration Committee at least 
annually compares the skill base of existing Directors with that required for the future strategy of NEC to enable identification of attributes 
required in new Directors. Before appointment to the Board, candidates must confirm that they will have sufficient time to meet their obligations 
to NEC, in light of other commitments. Letters of appointment for each new appointment to the Board set out the key terms and conditions 
relative to the appointment.  

All Directors (other than the Chief Executive Officer) are subject to re-election by rotation at least every three years. Newly appointed Directors 
must seek re-election at the first general meeting of shareholders following their appointment. 
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The Nomination and Remuneration Committee carries out a review of the performance of the Board, its committees, and each Non-Executive 
Director at least once each year. This review considers and assesses: 

(i) the effectiveness of the Board and each committee in meeting the requirements of its charter; 

(ii) whether the Board and each committee has members with the appropriate mix of skills and experience to properly perform their 
functions; 

(iii) whether adequate time is being allocated to NEC matters, taking into account each Director’s other commitments; and 

(iv) the independence of each Non-Executive Director, taking into account the Director’s other interests, relationships and directorships. 

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee periodically reviews the performance of the Chief Executive Officer and other senior 
executives.  

The Chair is elected by the Board but must be an independent Director. The Chair must not hold, and must not have held within the previous 
three years, the office of Chief Executive Officer of NEC. The Chair’s role includes: 

(i) providing effective leadership to the Board in relation to all Board matters;  

(ii) representing the views of the Board to the public; and 

(iii) presiding over meetings of the Board and general meetings of shareholders. 

The Board appoints and removes the Company Secretary. All Directors have direct access to the Company Secretary who supports the 
effectiveness of the Board by monitoring that Board policy and procedures are followed, and co-ordinates the completion and despatch of 
Board agendas and briefing papers. The Company Secretary is accountable to the Chief Executive Officer, and to the Board through the 
Chair, on all corporate governance matters. 

New Directors will be briefed on their roles and responsibilities and the minutes and papers of Board and committee meetings will be made 
available to them. Board papers are distributed, where possible, within a reasonable period of time before each meeting. 

Directors may obtain independent professional advice at NEC’s expense on matters arising in the course of their Board and committee duties, 
after obtaining the Chair’s approval. The other Directors must be advised if the Chair’s approval is withheld. 

Non-Executive Directors are required to meet periodically with no management present, to review management performance. 

INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS 
The Board considers an independent Director to be a Non-Executive Director who is not a member of NEC’s management team and who is 
free of any business or other relationship that could materially interfere with or reasonably be perceived to interfere with the independent 
exercise of their judgement. The Board will consider the materiality of any given relationship on a case-by-case basis. The Board reviews the 
independence of each Director in light of interests disclosed to the Board from time to time. 

Individuals would, in the absence of evidence or convincing argument to the contrary, be judged to be not independent if they were: 

(i) employed, or had previously been employed, in an executive capacity by NEC or any of its subsidiaries in the three years prior to 
becoming a Director; or 

(ii) directly involved in the audit of NEC or any of its subsidiaries; or 

(iii) a substantial shareholder of NEC, or an officer of, or otherwise associated directly with, a substantial shareholder of NEC; or 

(iv) a principal of a professional adviser or consultant to NEC where the amount paid to that adviser or consultant in the three years prior to 
becoming a Director was material or the relationship with the adviser or consultant was otherwise material to NEC, or an employee 
materially associated with the service provided; or 

(v) a supplier, or an officer of or otherwise associated directly or indirectly with a supplier, to NEC where the amount paid during the year 
by NEC to that supplier was material (to either NEC or the supplier) or the relationship between NEC and the supplier was otherwise 
material to NEC or the supplier; or 
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(vi) a customer, or an officer of or otherwise associated directly or indirectly with a customer, of NEC where the amount paid during the 
year by that customer to NEC was material (to either NEC or the customer) or the relationship between NEC and the customer was 
otherwise material to NEC or the customer; or  

(vii) in a material contractual relationship with NEC or another Group member other than as a Director of NEC.  

Any potential change in the nature of the independence status of a Non-Executive Director must be promptly notified to the Chair and 
Company Secretary and the Board will review that Director’s independence status. 

The Board considers qualitative principles of materiality for the purpose of determining “independence” on a case-by-case basis. The Board 
will consider whether there are any factors or considerations which may mean that the Director’s ability to act in the best interests of NEC is 
impaired. 

The Board considers that each of David Haslingden, Peter Costello, Hugh Marks and Joanne Pollard is free from any business or any other 
relationship that could materially interfere with, or reasonably be perceived to interfere with, the independent exercise of their Director’s 
judgement and is able to fulfil the role of independent Director. 

David Gyngell, Kevin Crowe Jr, Edgar Lee, Steve Martinez and Rajath Shourie are currently considered by the Board not to be independent. 
David Gyngell is the Chief Executive Officer of NEC. Messrs Crowe, Lee, Martinez and Shourie are nominees of substantial shareholders of 
NEC (Kevin Crowe Jr and Steve Martinez of Apollo and Edgar Lee and Rajath Shourie of Oaktree). 

Although the composition of the Board does not comply with Recommendation 2.1 of the ASX Recommendations, which requires that the 
majority of the Board should be comprised of independent Directors, the Board believes that independent judgement is achieved and 
maintained in respect of its decision-making processes. The Board has elected not to increase its size by the addition of further Directors in 
order to achieve a majority of independent Directors, because it considers that at nine members, the Board is an appropriate size. 

Eight of the nine members of the Board are Non-Executive Directors and are independent of management. The four (being those Directors 
who were nominated by Apollo and Oaktree) of those Directors who are not considered to be independent add significant value to Board 
deliberations with their considerable experience and skills. The Board is satisfied that each of these four Directors brings objective and 
independent judgement to the Board’s deliberations. 

The Directors believe that they are able to objectively analyse the issues before them in the best interests of all shareholders and in 
accordance with their duties as Directors.  

COMMITTEES 
The Board operates two committees:  

(i) the Audit and Risk Management Committee; and  

(ii) the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.  

When appointing members of each committee, the Board takes into account the skills and experience appropriate for that committee as well 
as any statutory or regulatory requirements. The Chair of the Audit and Risk Management Committee may not be the Chair of the Board and 
should be an independent Director. 

The committees operated by the Board consider and determine the matters for which they are responsible in accordance with their respective 
charters. Copies of the charter of each committee are published on NEC’s website. The Board may establish other committees as and when 
required. 

All proceedings of the Board, including Board papers, presentations and other information provided to the Board, are maintained under strict 
confidentiality except as required by law or as agreed by the Board. 

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee meets at least two times a year or as frequently as is required to undertake its role effectively.  
The Committee operates in accordance with a Charter which sets out its role and functions. In summary, the Committee’s role is to assist the 
Board in fulfilling its responsibilities for corporate governance and oversight of NEC’s financial reporting, internal control structure, risk 
management systems and external audit functions. 
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The Committee’s key responsibilities and functions are to assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities: 

(i) to prepare and present NEC’s financial statements and reports;  

(ii) in relation to NEC’s financial reporting, which includes:  

a. reviewing the suitability of NEC’s accounting policies and principles, how they are applied and ensuring they are used in 
accordance with the statutory financial reporting framework;  

b. assessing significant estimates and judgements in financial reports;  
c. assessing information from internal and external auditors to ensure the quality of financial reports; and 
d. recommending to the Board whether the financial and associated non-financial statements should be signed based on the 

Committee’s assessment of them. 
(iii) in relation to the entry into, approval, or disclosure, of related party transactions (if any);  

(iv) in overseeing NEC’s financial controls and systems;  

(v) to review, monitor and approve NEC’s risk management policies, procedures and systems; and  

(vi) to manage audit arrangements and auditor independence. 

Under its Charter, the Committee comprises: 

(i) at least three members each of whom must be Non-Executive Directors; and  

(ii) a majority of Directors who are independent (and it must satisfy this description if required by statute or regulation). 

The Chair of the Committee should be an independent Non-Executive Director who does not chair the Board. All Committee members should 
be financially literate and have a reasonable understanding of NEC’s businesses and the industry in which they participate. Members are 
appointed for a fixed period of no more than three years, with Committee members generally being eligible for re-appointment for so long as 
they meet the relevant criteria. The appointment and removal of Committee members is the responsibility of the Board. Members may resign 
as a Committee member upon reasonable notice in writing to the Committee Chair. If a Committee member ceases to be a Director of the 
Company their appointment as a member of the Committee is automatically terminated with immediate effect. The Company Secretary is 
secretary to the Committee. 

Members of the Committee and details of their attendance at Committee meetings are set out in the Directors’ Report. 

NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee meets at least annually or as frequently as is required to undertake its role effectively. The 
Committee operates in accordance with a Charter which sets out its role and functions. In summary, the Committee’s role is to assist the Board 
in fulfilling its responsibilities for corporate governance and oversight of NEC’s nomination and remuneration policies and practices which 
enable it to attract and retain senior management of the NEC Group and appropriately align their interests with those of key stakeholders. The 
Committee also ensures that the Board continues to operate within established guidelines, including (when necessary) selecting candidates for 
Director positions. 
The Committee’s key responsibilities and functions are to assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities: 

(i) Remuneration policies, including:  

a. evaluating and approving the remuneration packages (including fixed remuneration, short-term and long-term incentives and 
any other benefits or arrangements) of the Chief Executive Officer, executive Directors and other members of Senior 
Management;  

b. evaluating and approving the remuneration arrangements for Non-Executive Directors;  
c. monitoring compliance with the Non-Executive Director remuneration pool as established by the Constitution, or as 

subsequently amended by shareholders, and recommending any changes to the pool; and 
d. engagement of external remuneration consultants.  

(ii) Short- and long-term incentive plans, including:  
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a. plan terms and conditions;  
b. performance hurdles, if any;  
c. invitations to participate in offers and the terms of participation; and 
d. achievement of performance criteria (if any) and the final level of any payments, grants or allocations. 

(iii) Equity plans, including:  

a. amendments to the terms of existing plans within the parameters of those plans; and 
b. administration and operation of plans, including but not limited to determining disputes and resolving questions of fact or 

interpretation concerning the various plans.  
(iv) Board composition and performance, considering:  

a. the appropriate size, composition and diversity of the Board; 
b. the appropriate criteria (necessary and desirable skills and experience) for appointment of Directors;  
c. recommendations for the appointment, composition, re-election and removal of Directors;  
d. the terms and conditions of appointment to and retirement from the Board;  
e. the evaluation of the performance of the Board, its committees and Directors;  
f. the time Non-Executive Directors are expected to devote to NEC’s affairs and whether Directors are meeting that requirement; 

and  
f. review of Board succession plans. 

(v) Succession of the Chief Executive Officer and his or her direct reports, considering:  

a. guidelines for management development; and 
b. review of the Chief Executive Officer and other members of Senior Management succession and development plans.  

(vi) The Committee also oversees remuneration related disclosures required in annual statutory reporting, if any, and provides advice to 
the Board on approval of those disclosures. 

Under its Charter, the Committee should, to the extent practicable given the size and composition of the Board from time to time, comprise:  

(i) at least three members each of whom must be Non-Executive Directors; and 

(ii) a majority of Directors who are independent.  

Members are appointed for a fixed period of no more than three years, with Committee members generally being eligible for re-appointment 
for so long as they meet the relevant criteria. The appointment and removal of Committee members is the responsibility of the Board. 
Members may resign as a Committee member upon reasonable notice in writing to the Committee Chair. If a Committee member ceases to be 
a Director of the Company their appointment as a member of the Committee is automatically terminated with immediate effect. The Company 
Secretary is secretary to the Committee. 

RISK  
The Audit and Risk Management Committee oversees the effectiveness of NEC’s financial controls and systems, and the risk management 
function; and evaluates the structure and adequacy of the Group’s insurance coverage periodically. 

The risks faced by NEC include regulatory and compliance risk, investment risk, legal risk, financial risk, reputational risk, operational and 
execution risk and strategic risk. Responsibility for risk management is shared across the organisation. Key responsibilities include:  

(i) The Board is responsible for overseeing the establishment of, and approving, the risk management strategy and policies of the 
Company. 

(ii) The Board has delegated to the Audit and Risk Management Committee responsibility for:  

a. identifying major risk areas;  
b. reviewing, monitoring and approving NEC’s risk management policies, procedures and systems to provide assurance that 

major business risks are identified, consistently assessed and appropriately addressed;  
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c. ensuring that risk considerations are incorporated into strategic and business planning;  
d. providing risk management updates to the Board and any supplementary information required to provide the Board with 

confidence that key risks are being appropriately managed; 
e. reviewing reports from management concerning compliance with key laws, regulations, licences and standards which NEC is 

required to satisfy in order to operate;  
f. overseeing tax compliance and tax risk management; and  
g. reviewing any significant findings of any examinations by regulatory agencies.  

NEC management is responsible for establishing NEC’s risk management framework, including identifying major risk areas and developing 
NEC’s policies and procedures, which are designed effectively to identify, treat, monitor, report and manage key business risks. 

Each employee and contractor is expected to understand and manage the risks within their responsibility and boundaries of authority when 
making decisions and undertaking day-to-day activities. 

Reporting is an important part of the risk management function. It is the responsibility of the Audit and Risk Management Committee to report 
to the Board about NEC’s adherence to policies and guidelines approved by the Board for the management of risks. 

The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer are each responsible for reporting to the Audit and Risk Management Committee any 
proposed changes to the risk management framework. Any exposures or breaches of key policies or incidence of risks, where significant, must 
be reported to the Audit and Risk Management Committee and the Board. 

The Board has in place the following to ensure that management’s objectives and activities are aligned with the risks identified: 

(i) Board approval of an annual strategic plan, which encompasses the Company’s vision, mission and strategy, designed to meet 
stakeholders’ needs and manage business risk. 

(ii) Implementation of Board approved operating plans and budgets, periodic re-forecasting and monitoring of progress against these 
budgets and forecasts, including the establishment and monitoring of KPIs of both a financial and non-financial nature. 

The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer are required to provide to the Board declarations in accordance with section 295A of 
the Corporations Act which confirm: 

• their view that the Company's financial reporting is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and control 
which implements the financial policies adopted by the Board; and 

• the Company's risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating effectively in all material respects. 
The Board agrees with the views of the ASX on this matter and notes that due to its nature, internal control assurance from the Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer can only be reasonable rather than absolute. This is due to such factors as the need for 
judgement, the use of testing on a sample basis, the inherent limitations in internal control and because much of the evidence available is 
persuasive rather than conclusive and therefore is not (and cannot be) designed to detect all weaknesses in control procedures. 

In response to this, internal control questions are required to be completed by the key management personnel of all significant business units, 
including finance managers, in support of these written statements. 

CODE OF CONDUCT 
All Directors, managers and employees are required to act honestly and with integrity. 

The Company has developed and communicated to all employees and Directors the NEC Code of Conduct. This Code assists in upholding 
ethical standards and conducting business in accordance with applicable laws. The Code also sets out the responsibility of individuals for 
reporting Code breaches. 

The NEC Code of Conduct aims to: 

(i) provide clear guidance on the Company’s values and expectations while acting as a representative of NEC; 

(ii) promote minimum ethical behavioural standards and expectations across the Group, all business units and locations; 
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(iii) offer guidance for shareholders, customers, suppliers and the wider community on our values, standards and expectations, and what it 
means to work for NEC; and 

(iv) raise employee awareness of acceptable and unacceptable behaviour and provide a means to assist in avoiding any real or 
perceived misconduct. 

The Code of Conduct is a set of general principles relating to employment with NEC, covering the following areas: 

(i) business integrity – conducting business with honesty, integrity and fairness; reporting concerns without fear of punishment; making 
public comments about the Company; and disclosing real or potential conflicts of interest; 

(ii) professional practice – dealings in NEC shares; disclosing financial interests; protecting Company assets and property; maintaining 
privacy and confidentiality; undertaking employment outside NEC; personal advantage, gifts and inducements, recruitment and 
selection; and Company reporting; 

(iii) health, safety and environment; 

(iv) Equal Employment Opportunity and anti-harassment; 

(v) compliance with Company policies; and 

(vi) implementation of, and compliance with, the Code of Conduct. 

Supporting the Code of Conduct is the Company’s range of guidelines and policies. These policies are posted on the Company website, are 
communicated to employees at the time of employment and are reinforced by training programs. 

SECURITIES TRADING POLICY 
Under the Company's Securities Trading Policy, Directors and senior management must not trade in any securities of the Company at any 
time when they are in possession of unpublished, price-sensitive information in relation to those securities. The policy establishes blackout 
periods during which shares cannot be traded, except as outlined in the policy, and raises awareness of the insider trading laws. In addition to 
the policy, individual Directors are required to sign a disclosure of interests upon their appointment to the Board. This document specifically 
requires Directors to advise the Company Secretary of all transactions in the Company’s shares. 

As required by the ASX listing rules, the Company notifies the ASX of any transactions conducted by Directors in the securities of the 
Company. 

MARKET DISCLOSURE AND SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATIONS 
The Company has both a Market Disclosure Policy and a Shareholder Communication Policy. The Disclosure policy sets out requirements 
aimed to ensure full and timely disclosure to the market of material issues relating to the Group to ensure that all stakeholders have an equal 
opportunity to access information. 

The Disclosure Policy reflects the ASX Listing Rules and Corporations Act continuous disclosure requirements. 

The Disclosure Policy requires that the Company notify the market, via the ASX, of any price sensitive information (subject to the exceptions to 
disclosure under the Listing Rules). Information is price sensitive if a reasonable person would expect the information to have a material effect 
on the price or value of the Company’s securities or if the information would, or would be likely to, influence investors in deciding whether to 
buy, hold or sell NEC securities. 

The Board has established a disclosure committee which is responsible for reviewing potential disclosures and deciding what information 
should be disclosed. The Committee comprises the following executives: 

(i) Chief Executive Officer; 

(ii) Chief Financial Officer; 

(iii) Company Secretary (who, for administrative convenience only, is primarily responsible for overseeing and coordinating all 
communication with the ASX, investors, analysts, brokers, the media and the public) (Disclosure Officer); and 

(iv) Commercial Director and Group General Counsel. 
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The Company recognises the right of shareholders to be informed of matters which affect their investment in the Company and has adopted a 
Shareholder Communication Policy. 

The only NEC Persons authorised to speak on behalf of NEC to investors, analysts or the media are:  

(i)  the Chair; 

(ii)  the Chief Executive Officer; 

(iii) the Chief Financial Officer; and  

(iv)  such other NEC Persons approved by the Chair, the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer. 

This safeguards the premature disclosure of confidential information and aims to ensure proper disclosure is made in accordance with the law. 
ASX and press releases of a material nature must be approved by the Disclosure Committee. 

The Disclosure Committee are authorised to determine whether a trading halt will be requested from the ASX to prevent trading in an 
uninformed market. 

The onus is on all staff to inform a Disclosure Committee member of any price sensitive information as soon as becoming aware of it. Under 
the Code of Conduct, staff are required to understand and comply with the Disclosure Policy. 

As well as complying with the Listing Rules and its statutory reporting obligations, the Company actively encourages timely and ongoing 
shareholder communications. The Group has a Shareholder Communication Policy to promote effective communication with Shareholders and 
other stakeholders and to encourage effective participation at NEC’s General Meetings. The Shareholder Communication Policy ensures 
ready access for shareholders to information about the Company via the ASX, the NEC website www.nineentertainmentco.com.au, NEC’s 
annual and half-yearly reports and the Annual General Meeting. Company announcements, annual reports, analyst and investor briefings, 
financial results and other information useful to investors (such as press releases) are placed on the Company’s website as soon as practical 
after their release to the ASX. 

At the Annual General Meeting, shareholders are encouraged to ask questions and are given a reasonable opportunity to comment on matters 
relevant to the Company. The external auditor attends the Annual General Meeting and is available to answer shareholder questions about the 
conduct of the audit and the audit report. 

DIVERSITY 
 

Diversity at NEC 
The Company recognises the importance and value of creating a workplace that is inclusive and respectful of diversity. To this end, the 
Company supports the recommendations contained in the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations. The Company’s 
diversity policy acknowledges the positive outcomes that can be achieved through a diverse workforce, and recognises and utilises the 
contribution of diverse skills and talent from its Directors, officers and employees, including contractors and consultants. The Company 
believes its diverse workforce is the key to its continued growth, improved productivity and performance.  

In the context of this policy, diversity includes (but is not limited to) gender, age, ethnicity, cultural background, religion, sexual orientation, 
disability and mental impairment. The policy is approved by the Board and overseen by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 

Key principles 
NEC will endeavour to ensure:  

• that NEC’s corporate culture at all levels supports diversity in the workplace whilst maintaining a commitment to a high 
performance culture;  

• that consideration is given to programs and processes for the development of skills of its employees and support for an individual’s 
domestic responsibilities;  

• the policy for selection and appointment of new Directors is transparent; and  
• the Board establishes objectives on an annual basis to identify ways in which the achievement of gender diversity at NEC is measured, 

and in relation to other aspects of this diversity policy. 
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The Board is responsible for setting, regularly reviewing and monitoring the policy’s effectiveness. The Board will set measurable FY15 
objectives for achieving gender diversity and assess at least annually both the objectives and the Company’s progress in achieving them. The 
Board is committed to disclosing either the respective proportions of men and women on the Board, in senior executive positions and across 
the whole organisation, and/or its Gender Equality Indicators (as defined in the Workplace Equality Act 2012) in its next annual report. 

Female representation 
At 30 June 2014, the proportion of women employed by the Company was as follows: 

Board of Directors 11% 

Leadership roles 32% 

Total NEC workforce 44% 

 

Objectives for FY15 
• As part of the annual remuneration review process, NEC will undertake a gender pay equity review; 
• The recruitment process for all senior management appointments to include a diverse pool of candidates; and 
• Continue to assist Indigenous Australians to access employment opportunities within our business through our partnership with 

Media Ring and Aboriginal Employment Strategies (AES). 

In addition to the Company’s Diversity policy other activities that support a fair and inclusive workplace include: 
• Flexible work options to assist employees to balance their work, family and other responsibilities; 
• Ensuring employees have access to opportunities within the Company based on merit; 
• Updating performance review tools and objectives to support a diverse workforce; and 
• Implementing policies that create a culture free from discrimination, harassment and bullying. 
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  Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

  2014 2013 
 Note $’000 $’000 
Continuing operations    
Revenues  2(b) 1,546,556 1,272,423 
Expenses 2(b) (1,388,235) (1,099,781) 
Finance costs  2(b) (66,371) (246,589) 
Impairment of assets 2(b) – (120,635) 
Net gain on restructure 2(b) – 1,348,512 
Share of profits of associate entities 10 7,255 36,896 
Profit from continuing operations before income tax   99,205 1,190,826 
Income tax (expense)/benefit 4 (41,333) 9,991 

Profit from continuing operations after income tax  57,872 1,200,817 
Discontinued operations     
Loss from discontinued operations after income tax – Australian Consolidated 
Press Limited Group 5(a) – (13,320) 
Net profit for the period  57,872 1,187,497 
Other comprehensive income     
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss     
 Foreign currency translation  7 636 
 Reclassification of foreign currency translation reserve to loss from discontinued 
operations 5(a) – 22,089 
 Fair value movement in investment in listed equities 11 3,534 8,285 
 Fair value movement in cash flow hedges  (12,752) 74,486 
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss     
 Actuarial gain on defined benefit plan 24 6,590 98 

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the period  (2,621) 105,594 
Total comprehensive income for the period  55,251 1,293,091 
Profit for the period is attributable to:     
Equity holders of the parent  57,872 1,187,857  
Non-controlling interest   – (360) 
Total profit for the period  57,872 1,187,497 
Comprehensive income for the period is attributable to:     
Equity holders of the parent  55,251 1,293,451  
Non-controlling interest   – (360) 
Total comprehensive income for the period  55,251 1,293,091 
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 Note 2014 2013 

Earnings per share     
Basic profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent 33 $0.07 $3.76 
Diluted profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent 33 $0.07 $3.76 

Earnings per share for continuing operations    
Basic profit from continuing operations attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 
parent 33 $0.07 $3.81 
Diluted profit from continuing operations attributable to ordinary equity holders of 
the parent 33 $0.07 $3.81 
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  Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

  30 June 2014 30 June 2013 
 Note $’000 $’000 

Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 22 219,767 392,450 
Trade and other receivables 6 325,039 263,974 
Inventories 7 803 742 
Program rights 8 196,224 172,187 
Derivative financial instruments 31 1,481 9,085 
Other assets 9 26,747 20,590 

Total current assets  770,061 859,028 

Non-current assets     
Receivables 6 4,170 3,066 
Program rights 8 57,087 67,092 
Investments in associates accounted for using the equity method 10 38,081 136,507 
Investment in listed equities 11 20,883 17,349 
Property, plant and equipment 12 189,208 161,160 
Licences  13 593,353 344,669 
Other intangible assets 14 1,401,695 1,222,243 
Derivative financial instruments 31 - 91,448 
Other assets 9 93,055 86,466 

Total non-current assets  2,397,532 2,130,000 

Total assets  3,167,593 2,989,028 

Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 15 504,732 401,393 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 16 106 32,940 
Current income tax liabilities  3,327 7 
Provisions 17 55,489 57,769 
Derivative financial instruments 31 203 – 

Total current liabilities  563,857 492,109 

Non-current liabilities    
Payables 15 87,306 70,195 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 16 602,968 865,310 
Deferred tax liabilities 4 44,368 21,462 
Provisions  17 45,444 56,311 

Total non-current liabilities  780,086 1,013,278 
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  30 June 2014 30 June 2013 
 Note $’000 $’000 

Total liabilities  1,343,943 1,505,387 

Net assets  1,823,650 1,483,641 

Equity     
Contributed equity 18 862,725 2,773,295 
Reserves 19 19,176 17,278 
Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) 19 941,749 (1,306,932) 

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  1,823,650 1,483,641 
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  Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

  
Note 2014 2013 

  $’000 $’000 
Cash flows from operating activities    
Receipts from customers  1,631,677 1,656,765 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (1,357,802) (1,550,987) 
Dividends received – associates 10 2,887 25,270 
Interest received   4,552 5,419 
Interest and other costs of finance paid  (69,607) (174,775) 
Income tax paid  (22,681) – 

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 22(b) 189,026 (38,308) 
Cash flows from investing activities     
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (32,587) (17,817) 
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment   97 46 
Acquisition of entities, net of cash acquired  (329,046) – 
Proceeds on disposal of subsidiary  – 500,715 
Purchase of venue ticketing rights  (23,920) (21,174) 
Sale of investments in listed equities  - 317 
Purchase of other intangible assets  (113) (3,043) 

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities  (385,569) 459,044 
Cash flows from financing activities     
Recapitalisation costs paid  – (48,351) 

Proceeds of share issue  275,001 – 
Payment of share issue costs  (27,529) – 
Buy-back of shares  – (1,555) 
Proceeds from borrowings, net of costs  801,281 832,427 
Repayment of borrowings  (1,024,893) (1,082,153) 
Distributions to non-controlling interests  – (762) 

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities  23,860 (300,394) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (172,683) 120,342 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  392,450 272,108 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 22(a) 219,767 392,450 
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  Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
 

Contributed 
equity 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Net 
unrealised 

gains reserve 

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve 

Share-based 
payments 

reserve 

Other 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings/ 

accumulated 
losses 

Owners of 
the parent – 

total 

Non-
controlling 

interest  
Total  

equity 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
At 1 July 2013 2,773,295 (2,852) 4,918 12,041 – 3,171 (1,306,932) 1,483,641 – 1,483,641 
Profit for the period – – – – – – 57,872 57,872 – 57,872 
Other comprehensive income for the period – 7 10,124 (12,752) – – –  (2,621) – (2,621) 

Total comprehensive income for 
the period – 7 10,124 (12,752) – – 57,872 55,251 – 55,251 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:   

Issue of shares 275,001 – – – – – – 275,001 – 275,001 
Transaction costs, net of tax (7,367) – – – – – – (7,367) – (7,367) 
Issue of shares to employees and Directors 12,605 – – – – – – 12,605 – 12,605 
Share-based payment expense – – – – 4,519 – – 4,519 – 4,519 
Capital reduction (2,190,809) – – – – – 2,190,809 – – – 

At 30 June 2014 862,725 (2,845) 15,042 (711) 4,519 3,171 941,749 1,823,650 – 1,823,650 
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Contributed 

equity 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Net 
unrealised 

gains reserve 

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve 

Share-based 
payments 

reserve 

Other 
reserve 

Accumulated 
losses 

Owners of 
the parent – 

total 

Non-
controlling 

interest  
Total  

equity 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
At 1 July 2012 1,329,981 (25,577) (3,465) (62,445) 3,965 – (2,494,789) (1,252,330) 774 (1,251,556) 
Profit/(loss) for the period – – – – – – 1,187,857 1,187,857 (360) 1,187,497 
Other comprehensive income for the period – 22,725 8,383 74,486 – – – 105,594 – 105,594 

Total comprehensive income for 
the period – 22,725 8,383 74,486 – – 1,187,857 1,293,451 (360) 1,293,091 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:    

Share buy-back (1,627) – – – – – – (1,627) – (1,627) 
Dividends paid – – – – – – – – (762) (762) 
Issuance of shares 1,460,000 – – – – – – 1,460,000 – 1,460,000 
Transaction costs, net of tax (11,888) – – – – – – (11,888) – (11,888) 
Transfer to other reserve (3,171) – – – – 3,171 – – – – 
Share-based payment – – – – (3,965) – – (3,965) – (3,965) 
Transfer to parent – – – – – – – – 348 348 

At 30 June 2013 2,773,295 (2,852) 4,918 12,041 – 3,171 (1,306,932) 1,483,641 – 1,483,641 
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  Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2014 

1.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
The financial report includes the consolidated entity consisting of Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited and its controlled entities 
(collectively, the Group) for the year ended 30 June 2014 and was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 28 
August 2014. 

Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited is a for-profit company limited by shares incorporated in Australia whose shares are publicly traded 
on the Australian Stock Exchange.  

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group are described in the Directors’ Report. Information on the Group’s structure is 
provided in Note 29. Information on other related party relationships is provided in Note 28. 

(a)  Basis of preparation 
This financial report is a general-purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations 
Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board. The 
financial report has been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for derivative financial instruments which have been measured at fair 
value and investments in associates which have been accounted for using the equity method.  

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000) unless otherwise 
stated under the option available to the Company under ASIC Class Order 98/100. The Company is an entity to which the class order applies. 

The consolidated financial statements provide comparative information in respect of the previous period. 

(b)  Statement of compliance 
The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards. The financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

(c)  Changes in accounting policies 
AASB 119 Employee Benefits 
In September 2011, a Revised AASB 119 Employee Benefits (“AASB 119”) was issued and is effective for the Group for the year ending 30 
June 2014. Management has reviewed the impact from adoption of this standard. AASB 119 includes a number of amendments to the 
accounting for defined benefit plans, including the removal of the corridor approach to valuation; the fact that actuarial gains and losses that 
are now recognised in Other Comprehensive Income and permanently excluded from profit and loss; expected returns on plan assets that are 
no longer recognised in profit or loss, instead, there is a requirement to recognise interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) in profit or 
loss, calculated using the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation; and unvested past service costs are now recognised in 
profit or loss at the earlier of when the amendment occurs or when the related restructuring or termination costs are recognised.  

The revisions to AASB 119 have been applied during the current period as the changes were not material to prior periods, as such there was 
not an impact to the profit or loss in the comparative period in relation to the change in the accounting for the interest expense or the unvested 
past service costs of the defined benefit plan. This has no impact on the Group’s consolidated basic and diluted EPS. 
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(c)  Changes in accounting policies (continued) 
Other accounting standards adopted 
In addition, the following accounting standards are effective for the year ended 30 June 2014 and have been adopted by the Group for the 
year. Adoption of these standards did not have a material impact on the Group’s financial position or financial performance: 

• AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements – replaces parts of AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, 
changing the definition of control such that an investor controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns 
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. The 
application of this standard does not impact the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

• AASB 11 Joint Arrangements – replaces AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures removing the option to account for jointly 
controlled entities using proportionate consolidation, instead accounting for joint ventures using the equity method. The 
application of this standard does not impact the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

• AASB 12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities – disclosure requirements only relating to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, 
joint arrangements, associates and structured entities.  

• AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement – provides guidance on how to measure fair value when fair value is required or permitted. 
The application of AASB 13 has not materially impacted the fair value measurements carried out by the Group. Additional 
disclosures required under the standard are included in Note 31. 

• AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle – 
addresses a range of improvements including permitting the repeat application of AASB 1 and clarification of the comparative 
information requirements when an entity provides a third balance sheet as required per AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 
Statements. The application of this standard does not impact the Group’s consolidated financial statements.  

The Group has not included disclosures of new and amended standards and interpretations that do not have any impact on the financial 
statements.  

The Group has early adopted AASB 2013-3 Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable Amounts Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets – which 
amends the disclosure requirements in AASB 136 Impairment of Assets. The application of this standard does not have a material impact on 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

All other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective have not 
been adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2014. These include IFRS 15 Revenue and IFRIC 20 Levies. The 
Group has not yet assessed the impact of these standards.  

Accounting policies 
Apart from the adoption of the accounting standards discussed above, the accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report 
are consistent with those applied and disclosed in the 2013 annual financial report.  

(d) Basis of consolidation  
The consolidated financial statements are those of the consolidated entity, comprising Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited (the parent 
entity) and all entities that Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited controlled from time to time during the year and at reporting date. 

Information from the financial statements of subsidiaries is included from the date the parent entity obtains control until such time as control 
ceases. Where there is loss of control of a subsidiary, the consolidated financial statements include the results for the part of the reporting year 
during which the parent entity has control. 

Subsidiary acquisitions are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for 
the same reporting year as the parent entity, using consistent accounting policies. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar 
accounting policies that may exist. 

All intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions, have been eliminated in full. 
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless costs cannot be recovered. 
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(e) Significant accounting estimates, judgements and assumptions 
The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates, judgements and assumptions of future events. 
The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets and 
liabilities within the next annual reporting year are: 

Impairment of goodwill and television licences with indefinite useful lives 
The Group determines whether goodwill and television licences with indefinite useful lives are impaired at least on an annual basis. This 
requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill and television licences with indefinite 
useful lives are allocated. The assumptions used in this estimation of recoverable amount and the carrying amount of goodwill and television 
licences with indefinite useful lives are discussed in Note 14. 

Onerous contract provisions 
The Group has recognised an onerous contract provision in relation to its television program purchase commitments. Refer to Note 17 for 
disclosure of the assumptions included in the calculation of the provision. 

Recognition of income tax losses 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, 
based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. Further details on taxes are 
disclosed in Note 4. 

Valuation and hedging assessment of derivatives 
Fair values of hedging instruments are determined using valuation techniques which require a degree of judgement to establish inputs for 
utilisation in the models. See Note 31(a) for further discussion. 

(f) Income tax 
Current tax liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be paid to the taxation authorities based on the current year’s taxable income. 
The tax rules and tax laws used to complete the amount are those that are enacted at the balance date. 

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences: 
• except where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not 

a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or 
• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint 

ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses, 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry-forward of 
unused tax assets and unused tax losses, can be utilised except: 

• where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset 
or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit not taxable profit or loss; or 

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint 
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in 
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the 
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
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(f) Income tax (continued) 
Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in other comprehensive income and not in the profit or loss for 
the year. 

(g) Other taxes 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 

• where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the 
GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and 

• receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the statement 
of financial position. 

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the GST components of cash flows arising from investing and 
financing activities, which are recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are classified as operating cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority. 

(h) Foreign currency translation 
Both the functional and presentation currency of Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited and its Australian subsidiaries is Australian dollars 
(A$). Each foreign entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each foreign 
entity are measured using that functional currency. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the exchange rates ruling at the date of the transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. 

All exchange differences in the consolidated financial report are taken to the statement of comprehensive income, with the exception of those 
items that are designated as hedges which are recognised in other comprehensive income.  

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as at the date of 
the initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date 
when the fair value was determined. 

As at the reporting date the assets and liabilities of overseas subsidiaries are translated into the presentation currency of Nine Entertainment 
Co. Holdings Limited at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date and the statements of comprehensive income are translated at the 
weighted average exchange rates for the year. The exchange differences arising on translation are taken directly to a separate component 
of equity. 

On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

(i) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand, and short-term deposits. 

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts. 

(j) Trade and other receivables 
Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts. 

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis at each division. Individual debts that are known to be uncollectible are 
written off when identified. An impairment provision is recognised when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all 
amounts due according to the original trade terms. Factors considered as objective evidence of impairment include ageing and timing of 
expected receipts and the creditworthiness of counterparties. The amount of the impairment loss is the receivable carrying amount compared 
to the present value of estimated future cash flows.  
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(k) Inventories  
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated 
costs necessary to make the sale. 

(l)  Program rights 
Television programs which are available for use, including those acquired overseas, are recorded at cost less amounts charged to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income based on management’s assessment of the future year of benefit, which is regularly reviewed with 
additional write-downs made as considered necessary. 

(m) Investments and Other Financial Assets 
Certain of the Group’s investments are categorised as investments in listed equities under AASB9 – Financial Instruments. 

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus, in the case of assets not recorded at fair value through 
profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 

Recognition and derecognition 
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase or 
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets under contracts that require delivery of the assets 
within the period established generally by regulation or convention in the market place. Financial assets are derecognised when the right to 
receive cash flows from the financial assets has expired or when the entity transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of the financial 
assets. If the entity neither retains nor transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards, it derecognises the asset if it has transferred control 
of the assets. 

Subsequent measurement 
Investments in listed equities are those non-derivative financial assets, principally equity securities that are designated as not classified under 
AASB9. After initial recognition, investments in listed equities are measured at fair value with gains or losses being recognised as a separate 
component of equity. 

The fair values of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets are determined by reference to quoted market bid prices 
at the close of business on the reporting date. For investments with no active market, fair values are determined using valuation techniques. 
Such techniques include: using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current market value of another instrument that is 
substantially the same; discounted cash flow analysis; and option pricing models, making as much use of available and supportable market 
data as possible and keeping judgemental inputs to a minimum. 

(n) Investments in associates and joint arrangements 
The Group’s investments in its associates are accounted for under the equity method of accounting in the consolidated financial statements. 
These are entities in which the Group has significant influence and which are neither subsidiaries nor joint ventures. 

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the 
joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the 
relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.  

The financial statements of the associates and joint ventures are used by the Group to apply the equity method.  

The investment in the associates or joint venture is carried in the consolidated Statement of Financial Position at cost plus post-acquisition 
changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associates, less any impairment. Goodwill relating to the associate or joint venture is 
included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment. The consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associates. 

Where there has been a change recognised directly in the associates’ or joint ventures’ equity, the Group recognises its share of any 
movements directly in equity. The financial statements of the associate or joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the 
Group. When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group. 
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(n) Investments in associates and joint arrangements (continued) 
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss on its investment in its 
associate or joint venture. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the 
associate or joint venture is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the 
recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture and its carrying value, then recognises the loss as “Share of profit of an associate” in the 
statement of profit or loss. 

(o) Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.  

Depreciation and amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows:  

• Freehold buildings – 20 to 40 years 
• Leasehold improvements – lease term 
• Plant and equipment – 2 to 15 years 

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed and adjusted as appropriate each year end. 

Impairment 
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the 
carrying value may not be recoverable. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. If any such indication exists and where the carrying values exceed the 
estimated recoverable amount, the assets or cash-generating units are written down to their recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

Disposal 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits are expected to arise 
from the continued use or disposal of the asset. 

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the item) is included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year the item is derecognised. 

(p) Borrowing costs 
Interest is recognised as an expense when it is incurred. Debt establishment costs are capitalised and expensed over the term of the loan. 

(q) Intangible assets 
Licences  
Licences are carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

Television licences are renewable every five years under the provisions of the Broadcasting Services Act 1992. Whilst certain of the television 
licences continue to be subject to Government legislation and regulation by the Australian Communications and Media Authority, the Directors 
have no reason to believe the licences will not be renewed.  

The Directors regularly assess the carrying value of licences so as to ensure they are not carried at a value greater than their 
recoverable amount. 

No amortisation is provided against these assets as the Directors consider that the licences are indefinite life intangible assets. 
Goodwill 
Goodwill on acquisition is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the 
net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is not amortised. 
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(q) Intangible assets (continued) 
As at the acquisition date, any goodwill acquired is allocated to each of the cash-generating units expected to benefit from the combination’s 
synergies. 

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be 
impaired. Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill relates. Where the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. 

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the 
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. 
Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the 
cash-generating unit retained. 

Other intangible assets 
Acquired both separately and from a business combination 
Intangible assets acquired separately are capitalised at cost, and from a business combination are capitalised at fair value as at the date of 
acquisition. Following initial recognition, the cost model is applied to the class of intangible assets. 

The useful lives of these intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.  

Venue ticketing rights are amortised over their contractual period. Where amortisation is charged on assets with finite lives, this expense is 
taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Intangible assets, excluding development costs, created within the business are not capitalised and expenditure is charged against profits in 
the year in which the expenditure is incurred. 

Intangible assets are tested for impairment where an indicator of impairment exists, and in the case of indefinite life intangibles annually, either 
individually or at the cash generating unit level. Useful lives are also examined on an annual basis and adjustments, where applicable, are 
made on a prospective basis. 

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when the net asset is derecognised. 

(r) Recoverable amount of assets 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where an indicator of impairment 
exists, the Group makes a formal estimate of recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount the 
asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.  

Recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. It is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset’s 
value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value less costs to sell and it does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit 
to which the asset belongs. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

(s)  Trade and other payables 
Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost. 

Liabilities are brought to account for amounts payable in relation to goods received and services rendered, whether or not billed to the Group 
at reporting date. The Group operates in a number of diverse markets, and accordingly the terms of trade vary by business. 

(t) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received net of issue costs associated with 
the borrowing. After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised costs using the effective 
interest method. 
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(u)  Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation to make a future sacrifice of economic benefits to other 
entities as a result of past transactions or other events, it is probable that a future sacrifice of economic benefit will be required and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the 
liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a borrowing cost. 

A provision for dividends is not recognised as a liability unless the dividends are declared, determined or publicly recommended on or before 
the reporting date. 

(v)  Pensions and other post-employment benefits 
The Group contributes to a defined benefit superannuation fund which requires contributions to be made to a separately administered fund.  

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plan is determined separately for each plan using the projected unit credit actuarial 
valuation method. 

Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling, excluding net interest (not applicable to the Group) 
and the return on plan assets (excluding net interest), are recognised immediately in the statement of financial position with a corresponding 
debit or credit to a separate component of equity in the period in which they occur. Re-measurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent periods. 

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on the earlier of the date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and the date that the Group 
recognises restructuring-related costs. 

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. The Group recognises the following changes 
in the net defined benefit obligation under “expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (by function): 

• Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-routine settlements 

• Net interest expense or income 

(w)  Employee benefits  
Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a result of employees rendering services up to balance date including related on-
costs. The benefits include wages and salaries, incentives, compensated absences and other benefits, which are charged against profits in 
their respective expense categories when services are provided or benefits vest with the employee. 

The provision for employee benefits is measured at the remuneration rates expected to be paid when the liability is settled. Benefits expected 
to be settled after 12 months from the reporting date are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made in 
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. 

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected future 
payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. 
Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures, and years of service. Expected future 
payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that 
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

(x)  Leases 
The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an 
assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a 
right to use the asset. 

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at 
the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or equipment or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. 

Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the leased liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest 
on the remaining balance of the liability. 
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(x)  Leases (continued) 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. 

(y) Derecognition of financial instruments 
The derecognition of a financial instrument takes place when the Group no longer controls the contractual rights that comprise the financial 
instrument, which is normally the case when the instrument is sold, or all the cash flows attributable to the instrument are passed through to an 
independent third party. 

(z)  Derivative financial instruments 
The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as foreign currency contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge its risks associated with 
interest rate and foreign currency fluctuations. Such derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value. 

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is calculated by reference to current forward exchange rates for contracts with similar maturity 
profiles. The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is determined by reference to market values for similar instruments. 

For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as either fair value hedges when they hedge the exposure to changes in the fair 
value of a recognised asset or liability; or cash flow hedges where they hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to 
a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a forecasted transaction. 

In relation to fair value hedges (interest rate swaps) which meet the conditions for special hedge accounting, any gain or loss from 
remeasuring the hedging instrument at fair value is recognised immediately in profit or loss for the year. 

Any gain or loss attributable to the hedged risk on re-measurement of the hedged item is adjusted against the carrying amount of the hedged 
item and recognised in profit or loss for the year. Where the adjustment is to the carrying amount of a hedged interest-bearing financial 
instrument, the adjustment is amortised through the profit or loss for the year such that it is fully amortised by maturity. 

In relation to cash flow hedges (forward foreign currency contracts and cross currency principal and interest rate swaps and options) to hedge 
firm commitments which meet the conditions for special hedge accounting, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is 
determined to be an effective hedge is recognised directly in equity and the ineffective portion is recognised in the profit or loss for the year. 
When the hedged firm commitment results in the recognition of an asset or a liability, then, at the time the asset or liability is recognised, the 
associated gains or losses that had previously been recognised in equity are included in the initial measurement of the acquisition cost or 
other carrying amount of the asset or liability. 

For all other cash flow hedges, the gains or losses that are recognised in equity are transferred to profit or loss in the same year in which the 
hedged firm commitment affects net profit or loss, for example when the future sale actually occurs. 

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge relationship to which the Group wishes to 
apply hedge accounting. The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the 
risk being hedged and how the entity will assess the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged 
item’s fair values or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes 
in fair values or cash flows. 

For derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are taken directly to profit or 
loss for the year. 

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge 
accounting. At that point in time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised in equity is kept in equity until the 
forecasted transaction occurs. If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity is 
transferred to profit or loss for the year. 
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(aa)  Impairment of financial assets 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. 

Financial assets carried at amortised cost 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the 
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future 
credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate 
computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or through use of an allowance account. The 
amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss for the year. 

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, and 
individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment 
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset is included in a group of financial assets with similar 
credit risk characteristics and that group of financial assets is collectively assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for 
impairment, and for which an impairment loss is (or continues to be) recognised, are not included in a collective assessment of impairment. 

If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after 
the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised in profit or loss for the year, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the 
reversal date. 

(ab)  Contributed equity 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Issued capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the Company, less 
transaction costs. 

(ac)  Revenue  
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably 
measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised: 

Television 
Revenue for advertising and media activities is recognised when the advertisement has been broadcast/displayed or the media service has 
been performed. 

Live 
Revenue from ticketing operations primarily consists of booking and service/delivery fees charged at the time a ticket for an event is sold and 
is recorded on a net basis (net of the face value of the ticket). This revenue is recognised at the time of the sale.  

Revenue from the promotion and production of an event is recognised in the month the performance occurs (event maturity).  

Interest 
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues (using the effective interest method, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument) to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. 

(ad)  Non-Controlling Interests 
Non-Controlling Interests not held by the Group are allocated their share of net profit after tax in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and 
are presented within equity in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Amounts described as Non-Controlling Interest – third party represent the economic interests in controlled entities not owned by shareholders 
of the company.  
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(ae) Business combinations 
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets 
are acquired. Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given, shares issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. 
Where equity instruments are issued in a business combination, the fair value of the instruments is their published price at the date of 
exchange unless, in rare circumstances, it can be demonstrated that the published price at the date of exchange is an unreliable indicator of 
fair value and that other evidence and valuations methods provide a more reliable measure of fair value. Transaction costs arising on the issue 
of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity. 

Except for non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale (which are measured at fair value less costs to sell), all identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any Non-Controlling interest. The excess of the cost of the business combination over the net fair 
value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the Group’s 
share of the net fair value of the identifiable net assets of the subsidiary, the difference is recognised as a gain in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, but only after a reassessment of the identification and measurement of the net assets required. 

Where settlement of any part of the consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value as at the 
date of exchange. The discount rate used is the Group’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which similar borrowing could be 
obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions. 

(af)  Share-based payments 
The Group provided benefits to certain members of the Board of Directors in the form of Share Rights. 

The cost of the Share Rights is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date which they are granted. The cost 
of the transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the timing conditions are fulfilled, 
ending on the date on which the relevant Directors become fully entitled to the award (the vesting period). 

The Group provides remuneration to senior management in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as 
consideration for equity instruments (equity-settled transactions).  

The cost for equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant is made using an appropriate valuation 
model. That cost is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in share-based payment reserves, over the period in which the 
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled in employee benefit expense. Refer Note 27(c). The cumulative expense recognised at 
each reporting date, until vesting dates, reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired. The share-based payments can be settled 
with either cash or equity at the election of the Group.  
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2(a). SEGMENT INFORMATION 
The Chief Operating Decision Makers (determined to be the Board of Directors) review and manage the business based on the following 
reportable segments: 

• Television – includes free to air television activities. 
• Live – includes Ticketek, a ticketing partner to the sports and live entertainment industry; the operation of Allphones Arena, a 

multi-purpose indoor facility; and a number of other event related businesses. 
• Digital – includes ninemsn Pty Limited and other digital activities. The Company accounted for ninemsn Pty Limited as an 

associate until a controlling interest was acquired effective 1 November 2013 and the results were consolidated into the Group 
from that date (refer to Note 5(b)(iii)). 

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments. 

Segment performance is evaluated based on continuing operations segment EBITDA before specific items (refer to Note 2(b)(iv)) which are 
included in corporate costs or disclosed separately in the table below. Group finance costs, finance income and income taxes are managed on 
a Group basis and are not allocated to operating segments. 

Australian Consolidated Press Limited was disposed of in September 2012 and was included as discontinued operations in the consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. It was not classified as part of the segments identified above. 

Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties and are 
eliminated on consolidation.  

 

Year ended Television Live Digital Consolidated 
30 June 2014 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
(i) Segment revenue     
Operating revenue 1,208,673 225,997 107,161 1,541,831 
Inter-segment revenue 6,469 2,011 43 8,523 

 
Total segment revenue  1,215,142 228,008 107,204 1,550,354 

Reconciliation of segment revenue from continuing operations to the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income 

 

Corporate interest income    4,725 
Inter-segment eliminations    (8,523) 

Segment revenue from continuing operations per the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income 

 
1,546,556 

 
(ii) Segment result   

 
 

Segment earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 234,196 68,029 20,399 322,624 
Depreciation and amortisation (24,035) (25,589) (1,463) (51,087) 

Segment earnings before interest and tax 
(EBIT) 210,161 42,440 18,936 271,537 

Share of associates’ net profit after tax    7,255 
Segment EBIT after share of associates 210,161 42,440 18,936 278,792 
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Year ended Television Live Digital Consolidated 
30 June 2014 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Reconciliation of segment EBIT after share of associates to profit from continuing operations before tax in 
statement of comprehensive income  
Corporate costs    (20,428) 
Specific items (refer to Note 2(b))    (97,513) 
Finance income    4,725 
Finance costs    (66,371) 

Profit from continuing operations before tax per the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income  99,205 

 

Year ended Television Live Digital Consolidated 
30 June 2013 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
(iii) Segment revenue     
Operating revenue 1,097,241 167,383 – 1,264,624 
Inter-segment revenue 1,983 3,513 – 5,496 

Total segment revenue  1,099,224 170,896 – 1,270,120 

Reconciliation of segment revenue from continuing operations to the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income 

 

Corporate interest income    7,799 
Inter-segment eliminations    (5,496) 

Segment revenue from continuing operations per the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income 

 
1,272,423 

(ii) Segment result     
Segment earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 178,165 57,283 – 235,448 
Depreciation and amortisation (21,012) (23,340) – (44,352) 

Segment earnings before interest and tax 
(EBIT) 157,153 33,943 – 191,096 

Share of associates’ net profit after tax – – 36,896 36,896 
Segment EBIT after share of associates 157,153 33,943 36,896 227,992 

Reconciliation of segment EBIT after share of associates to profit from continuing operations before tax in 
statement of comprehensive income  
Corporate costs    (10,471) 
Specific items (refer to Note 2(b))    1,212,095 
Finance income    7,799 
Finance costs    (246,589) 

Profit from continuing operations before tax per the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income  1,190,826 
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2(a). SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 
Geographic information 
A majority of the Group’s external revenues arise out of sales to customers within Australia.  

Major customers 
The Group did not have any customers which accounted for more than 10% of operating revenue for the year (2013: nil). 

 

2(b). REVENUES AND EXPENSES 
 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

Profit before income tax expense includes the following revenues and expenses:   
(i) Revenues and income from continuing operations   
Revenue from rendering services  1,541,802  1,264,577 
Profit on sale of non-current assets 29  47 
Interest  4,725  7,799 

 1,546,556 1,272,423 

(ii) Expenses from continuing operations   
Television activities 1,030,688 955,468 
Other activities 357,547 144,313 

 1,388,235 1,099,781 

(iii) Other Expense Disclosures from continuing operations 
Depreciation of non-current assets  

  

Buildings 2,899 2,719 
Plant and equipment 24,254 20,820 

 27,153 23,539 

Amortisation of non-current assets    
Plant and equipment under finance lease 66 97 
Leasehold property 1,740 1,352 
Ticketing rights 19,270 17,720 
Other assets 3,124 1,669 

 24,200 20,838 

Total depreciation and amortisation expense  51,353 44,377 

Salary and employee benefit expense (included in expenses above) 353,184 281,362 
Program rights (included in expenses above) 459,775 472,504 

(iv) Specific items from continuing operations Included in expenses (ii) above:   

Reversal of previous impairment of Mi9  (9,547) – 
Mark to market of derivatives (refer to Note 31) 6,601 – 
Acquisition related costs 18,484 – 
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2(b). REVENUES AND EXPENSES (continued) 
 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

Withholding tax provision (refer Note 17) 10,700 – 
Transaction costs for IPO related activities 31,084 – 
Debt refinancing costs (refer to Note 16) 31,798 – 
Restructuring costs 1,772 5,002 
Other 6,621 – 
Write down of other assets – 285 
Provision for onerous contracts (refer Note 17) – 10,495 
Impairment of assets – 120,635 
Net gain on restructure (refer Note 18) – (1,348,512) 

Total specific items included in expenses (b) above 97,513 (1,212,095) 

(v) Finance Costs from continuing operations   
Finance costs expensed:   
Interest on Debt facilities 62,654 232,803 
Amortisation of Debt Facility establishment costs 
Finance leases 

3,699 
18 

13,763 
23 

 66,371 246,589 
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3. DIVIDENDS PAID AND PROPOSED 
(a)  Dividends appropriated during the financial year 
Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited did not declare or pay any dividends during the reporting year and has not declared any dividend 
subsequent to 30 June 2014. 

(b)  Franking credits 
Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited had a franking account balance as follows: 

 2014 
$’000 

2013 
$’000 

Franking account balance as at the beginning of the financial year  75,257 64,405 
Franking credits that arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as revenue during the 
year – prior to initial public offering (IPO) 21 10,852 

Franking credits transferred to exempting account upon IPO (75,278) – 
Franking credits that arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as revenue during the 
year – post IPO 1,237 – 

Franking account balance at the end of the financial year 1,237 75,257 

 

Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited had an exempting account balance as follows: 

 2014 
$’000 

2013 
$’000 

   
Exempting account balance as at the beginning of the financial year – – 
Franking credits transferred to exempting account upon IPO 75,278 – 

Exempting account balance at the end of the financial year 75,278 – 

 

Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited became a former exempting entity as a consequence of the IPO in December 2013. As a result, the 
Company’s franking account balance at that time was transferred to an exempting account.  

The Company can choose to frank future dividends with exempting credits. These exempting credits will generally only be of benefit to certain 
foreign resident shareholders by providing an exemption from Australian dividend withholding tax. The exempting credits will generally not give 
rise to a tax offset for Australian resident shareholders. 
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4. INCOME TAX 
 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

(a)  Income tax expense   

The prima facie tax expense, using tax rates applicable in the country of operation, on 
profit, differs from income tax provided in the financial statements as follows: 

  

   
Profit from continuing operations 99,205 1,190,826 
Loss from discontinued operations – Australian Consolidated Press Limited – (10,299) 

Profit before income tax 99,205 1,180,527 
   
Prima facie income tax expense at the Australian rate of 30%  29,762 354,158 
Tax effect of:    
Share of associates’ net profits (2,176) (11,051) 
Impairment  – 36,191 
Gain on disposal of investments and assets – (8,565) 
Transaction costs associated with acquisition of investments 6,239 – 
Withholding tax/potential disputes 4,920 – 
Share-based payments 3,863 – 
Net gain on restructure – (367,889) 
Tax losses brought to account – (5,874) 
Deferred tax liability movement in investment 188 – 
Other items – net (1,463) (3,940) 

Income tax expense/(benefit) 41,333 (6,970) 

    
Current tax expense/(benefit) 45,426 (21,317) 
Deferred tax expense/(benefit) relating to the origination and reversal of temporary 
differences 

 
(4,093) 

 
14,347 

 41,333 (6,970) 

    
Aggregate income tax expense/(benefit) is attributable to:    
Continuing operations 41,333 (9,991) 
Discontinued operations – 3,021 

 41,333 (6,970) 
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4. INCOME TAX (continued) 
 

 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

(b)  Deferred income taxes   

   
Deferred income tax assets 115,864 134,950 
Deferred income tax liabilities (160,232) (156,412) 

Net deferred income tax liabilities (44,368) (21,462) 

 

 
2014 2013 

P&L Expense 
Movement 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

(c)  Deferred income tax assets and liabilities at the end of 
the financial year  

   

    
TV licence fees accrued 18,138 14,585 (3,553) 
Employee benefits provision 13,491 10,917 (2,574) 
Other provisions and accruals 28,411 32,944 4,533 
Income tax losses carried forward 37,685 64,684 – 
Investments in associates (2,057) (1,869) 188 
Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes (154,025) (153,493) 532 
Derivative instruments – 22 22 
Other 13,989 10,748 (3,241) 

Net deferred income tax liabilities (44,368) (21,462) (4,093) 

 

 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

(d)  Deferred income tax assets not brought to account    

   
Capital losses 127,437 126,535 

 

The income tax effect of the item taken directly to equity was $3,158,000 (2013: $3,812,000 debited) in relation to the fair value movement in 
cash flow hedges, fair value movement in investments in listed equities, and transaction costs for the issuance of capital. 
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4. INCOME TAX (continued) 
 

(e)  Tax consolidation 
Effective 6 June 2007, for the purposes of income taxation, Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited and its 100% owned Australian 
subsidiaries formed a tax consolidated group. Members of the group have entered into a tax sharing arrangement in order to allocate income 
tax expense to the wholly-owned subsidiaries on a pro-rata basis. In addition, the agreement provides for the allocation of income tax liabilities 
between the entities should the head entity default on its tax obligations. At the balance date, the possibility of default is remote. The head 
entity of the tax consolidated group is Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited.  

The parent entity has recognised the current tax liability of the tax consolidated group.  

Members of the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax funding agreement. The tax funding agreement provides for the allocation of 
current and deferred taxes to members of the tax consolidated group in accordance with their taxable income for the year. The allocation of 
taxes under the tax funding agreement is recognised as an increase/decrease in the subsidiaries’ intercompany accounts with the head entity, 
Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited. The Group has applied the group allocation approach to determine the appropriate amount of 
current and deferred tax to allocate to each member of the tax consolidated group. 
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5(a). DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS – Australian Consolidated Press Limited Group 
 
On 30 September 2012 the Group sold its 100% shareholding in its subsidiary, Australian Consolidated Press Limited Group. During the 
current year, there were no discontinued operations.  
 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

(i)  Financial performance of the operations disposed: 
The results of the discontinued operations for the period prior to disposal are presented 
below:  

  

Revenue – 149,277 
Expenses – (139,515) 
Finance Costs – (55) 
Share of associated entity profit/(loss) – (60) 
Loss on disposal(1) – (19,946) 

Loss before tax – (10,299) 
Income tax expense – (3,021) 

Loss for the year from discontinued operations – (13,320) 
(1) The loss on disposal includes the recycling of the foreign currency translation reserve loss of $22,089,000 through profit and loss. 

 2014 2013 

(ii)  Earnings per share   

Basic and diluted, loss for the period to disposal from discontinued operation – $(0.03) 

 

 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

(iii)  The net cash flows of Australian Consolidated Press Limited Group were 
as follows: 

  

Operating activities – 13,686 
Investing activities – (20) 
Financing activities – (762) 

Net cash inflow – 12,904 

Net cash inflow on disposal   
Cash consideration (net of associated costs) – 500,715 
Less cash and cash equivalents balance disposed of – – 

Reflected in the consolidated statement of cash flows – 500,715 
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5(b). BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 
(i) Acquisition of Channel 9 South Australia Pty Limited  
On 1 July 2013, the Company completed the acquisition of a 100% interest in Channel 9 South Australia Pty Limited (“Adelaide”) for cash 
consideration of $139.5 million. The acquisition of Adelaide was completed to consolidate the Group’s presence in the five metro free-to-air 
markets in Australia. 

The Group has recognised the fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities as follows: 

 Fair value at 
acquisition date 

 $’000 

Cash 10 
Receivables 14,348 
Property, plant and equipment 13,712 
Licences 72,306 
Deferred tax asset 701 
Other assets 105 

Total assets 101,182 

Trade and other payables 10,069 
Provisions 1,802 

Total liabilities 11,871 

Fair value of identifiable net assets 89,311 
Goodwill arising on acquisition 50,189 

Total purchase consideration 139,500 

Cash outflow on acquisition  
Net cash acquired  10 
Cash paid (139,500) 
Acquisition costs paid (3,766) 

Net cash outflow (143,256) 

 
The fair value of receivables amounts to $14.3 million and the gross amount of receivables is $14.8 million. $0.5 million of the receivables has 
been impaired and for the remaining receivables it is expected that the full contractual amount will be collected. 

Goodwill of $50.2 million has been recognised as the purchase price exceeds the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities identified and is 
allocated to the television segment. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 

Revenue and net profit before tax from the date of acquisition cannot practically be disclosed for the individual entity due to integration of the 
business within the wider Television CGU.   

Acquisition costs of $3.8 million in relation to the acquisition are included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (refer to Note 2(b)(iv)) 
during the year ended 30 June 2014. 
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5(b). BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 
(ii) Acquisition of Swan Television & Radio Broadcasters Pty Ltd 
At the time of the acquisition of Adelaide, the Company also acquired an option, for consideration of $10.5 million, to acquire Swan Television 
& Radio Pty Ltd. On 30 September 2013, the Company completed the acquisition of a 100% interest in Swan Television & Radio Broadcasters 
Pty Ltd (“Perth”) for cash consideration of $223 million. In conjunction with the acquisition of Adelaide, the acquisition of Perth was completed 
to consolidate the Group’s presence in the five metro free-to-air markets in Australia. 

At the completion of the transaction the payment of $10.5 million to acquire the option for Perth was written off through the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income within acquisition related costs (refer to Note 2(b)(iv)). 

The Group has recognised the fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities as follows: 

 Fair value at 
acquisition date 

 $’000 

Cash 18 
Receivables 21,256 
Property, plant and equipment 7,370 
Licences 176,378 
Deferred tax asset 650 
Other assets 622 

Total assets 206,294 

Trade and other payables 18,625 
Provisions 1,652 

Total liabilities 20,277 

Fair value of identifiable net assets 186,017 
Goodwill arising on acquisition 37,162 

Total purchase consideration 223,179 

Cash outflow on acquisition  
Net cash acquired  18 
Cash paid (223,179) 
Acquisition costs paid (12,805) 

Net cash outflow (235,966) 

 
The fair value of receivables amounts to $21.3 million and the gross amount of receivables is $21.5 million. $0.2 million of the receivables has 
been impaired and for the remaining receivables it is expected that the full contractual amount will be collected. 

Goodwill of $37.2 million has been recognised as the purchase price exceeds the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities identified and is 
allocated to the television segment. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 

Revenue and net profit before tax from the date of acquisition cannot practically be disclosed for the individual entity due to integration of the 
business within the wider Television CGU.   

Acquisition costs of $12.8 million, including the payment for the option, in relation to the acquisition, are included in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income (refer to Note 2(b)(iv)) during the year ended 30 June 2014. 
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5(b). BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 
(iii) Acquisition of remaining 50% of ninemsn Pty Ltd 
Effective 1 November 2013, the Company agreed with Microsoft to acquire the 50% of shares in ninemsn Pty Limited (“Mi9”) which it did not 
already own for total cash consideration of US$39.4 million (A$40.8 million). The acquisition of the 50% interest in Mi9 will allow the Group 
better flexibility to realise its digital growth strategy.  

The payments of consideration and transfer of shares are to be completed in three equal tranches. The first tranche was completed on 1 
November 2013 with the second tranche on 1 July 2014 and the remaining tranche to be completed on 1 July 2015. The payments due to be 
paid on 1 July 2014 and 1 July 2015 are recorded as liabilities in the balance sheet and forward foreign currency contracts have been entered 
into for the USD amounts.  

Prior to the acquisition of the remaining 50% share of Mi9, the Company held 50% of the interest of Mi9 and the investment was accounted for 
using the equity method. Mi9 has been 100% consolidated from 1 November 2013 and equity accounting ceased at that time. As the 
remaining consideration and transfer of shares has been agreed upon and the Company has effective control of Mi9, no non-controlling 
interest has been recorded. Refer to Note 10. 

At the time of the acquisition, the Company completed an assessment to determine the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed. This resulted in a $9.5 million reversal of previously recognised impairment. 

The Group has recognised the fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities as follows: 

 Fair value at 
acquisition date 

 $’000 

Cash and cash equivalents 64,092 
Receivables 34,993 
Property, plant and equipment 937 
Goodwill 9,771 
Other intangible assets 6,361 
Deferred tax assets 3,672 
Other assets(1) 30,198 

Total assets 150,024 

Trade and other payables 19,807 
Tax payable 16,945 
Provisions 6,985 
Other liabilities 637 

Total liabilities 44,374 

Fair value of identifiable net assets 105,650 
Goodwill arising on acquisition 47,567 

Purchase consideration 153,217 
Made up of:  
Cash paid 13,854 
Accrued consideration 26,979 
Fair value of equity accounted investment (refer to Note 10(c)) 112,384 

Total purchase consideration 153,217 
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 Fair value at 
acquisition date 

 $’000 

Cash inflow on acquisition  
Net cash acquired  64,092 
Cash paid (13,854) 
Acquisition costs paid (62) 

Net cash inflow 50,176 
(1)Other assets includes a $27.5 million loan receivable from the Group; upon consolidation this balance is eliminated. 
 

The fair value of the receivables amounts to $35.0 million and the gross amount of receivables is $36.5 million. $1.5 million of the receivables 
has been impaired and for the remaining receivables it is expected that the full contractual amount will be collected. 

Goodwill of $47.6 million has been recognised, as the purchase price exceeds the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities identified, and 
is allocated to the digital segment. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 

From the date control was obtained on 1 November 2013, Mi9 has contributed $107.2 million of revenue and $21.9 million to the net profit 
before tax of the Group.  

Acquisition costs of $0.4 million in relation to the acquisition of Mi9 are included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (refer to Note 
2(b)(iv)) during the year ended 30 June 2014. 

(iv) Impact of acquisitions 
Had these acquisitions taken place at 1 July 2013, the impact to the Group’s profit after income tax would have been an additional profit of 
$14.0 million and an increase to revenue of $109.7 million. 

6. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

(1)  Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 60 day terms.  
(2) Current and non-current  loans to associated entities are non-interest bearing and are repayable at call. Refer Note 28 

 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

Current   
Trade receivables(1) 314,696 250,446 
Provision for doubtful debts (3,969) (1,151) 

 310,727 249,295 
Loans to related parties(2) 542 – 
Other receivables 13,770 14,679 

 14,312 14,679 

 325,039 263,974 

Non-Current   
Loans to related parties (2) 4,170 3,066 

 4,170 3,066 
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6. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 

(a) Allowance for impairment loss  
A provision for impairment loss is recognised when there is objective evidence that an individual trade receivable is impaired. A loss on 
impairment of $755,000 (2013: impairment $187,000) has been recognised by the Group in the current period.  

Operating divisions each have follow-up procedures including contact with debtors to discuss collection of outstanding debts. Impairment 
provisions are recorded for those debtors where the likelihood of collection is unlikely.  

Related Party and Other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. It is expected that these balances will be received 
when due. 

Movements in the provision for impairment loss were as follows: 

 2014 2013 
 $000 $000 
Balance at the beginning of the year (1,151) (1,152) 
Charge for the year (755) (187) 
Acquisition of controlled entities (2,293) – 
Amounts written off to bad debts expense  230 188 

Balance at the end of the year (3,969) (1,151) 

 

The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows: 

     0-30 0-30 31-60 31-60 61+ 61+ 
  Total Current Current Days Days Days Days Days Days 
    CI(1) PDNI(1) CI(1) PDNI(1) CI(1) PDNI(1) CI(1) 
2014 Consolidated 314,696 276,529 – 20,413 – 2,603 3 11,182 3,966 
2013 Consolidated 250,446 218,195 – 20,455 –    3,021 – 7,624 1,151 
(1)Past due but not impaired (“PDNI”) or Considered impaired (“CI”). 

The trade receivables which are past due but not impaired are considered to be recoverable in full. 

(b)  Credit risk 
The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of current receivables. For those non-current receivables, the maximum exposure 
to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of each class of receivables. Collateral is not held as security. 

7. INVENTORIES 
 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

Current   
Raw materials (at cost) 803 742 
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8. PROGRAM RIGHTS 
 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

Current   
Program rights  201,652 182,168 
Stock provision (5,428) (9,981) 

 196,224 172,187 

   
Non-Current   
Program rights 58,737 67,092 
Stock provision (1,650) – 

 57,087 67,092 
   

9. OTHER ASSETS 
 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

Current   

Prepayments 8,094 5,642 
Other 18,653 14,948 

 
 

 
26,747 

 
20,590 

 
Non-Current 

  

Prepayment 80,000 80,000 
Defined Benefit Fund Asset (refer to Note 24) 12,976 6,386 
Other 79 80 

   
93,055 

 
86,466 

10. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 
(a) Non-Current 
 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

Investments at equity accounted amount:   
Associated entities – unlisted shares 38,081 136,507 

 
Total investments in associates 

 
38,081 

 
136,507 
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10. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD (continued) 
(b) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 

Interests in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Information relating to associates is set out below: 
  

Reporting 
 Country of 

Incorporation 
% 

Interest(1)  
 Date Principal Activity  2014 2013 
ninemsn Pty Ltd(2) 30 June Provider of online content 

and services 
Australia – 50 

Australian News Channel Pty Ltd 
 

30 June Pay TV news service Australia 33 33 

TX Australia Pty Ltd 
 

30 June Television transmission Australia 33 33 

Oztam Pty Ltd 
 

30 June Television audience 
measurement 

Australia 33 33 

DailyMail Australia.com Pty Ltd 30 June Provider of online news 
content 

Australia 50 – 

Darwin Digital Television Pty Ltd 30 June Television transmission Australia 50 50 

1 The proportion of ownership interest is equal to the proportion of voting power held. 
2 ninemsn Pty Ltd become a controlled entity on 1 November 2013 and was consolidated from this point onwards. Prior to this date, the entity was 

accounted for as an investment in associate. 
 

 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

(c) Carrying amount of investments in associates   

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 136,507 245,516 
Share of associates’ net profit for the year 7,255 36,896 
Dividends received or receivable (2,887) (25,270) 
Impairment reversal and write down of investments 9,547 (120,635) 
Reclassification of associate to consolidated entity (112,384) – 
Acquired during the period 43 – 

Carrying amount of investments in associates at the end of the financial year 38,081 136,507 

 
Represented by:   
 Investments at equity accounted amount:   
 ninemsn Pty Ltd – 100,000 
 Australian News Channel Pty Ltd 32,069 31,165 
 Other  6,012 5,342 

 38,081 136,507 
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10. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD (continued) 
(d) Financial information 
The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the Group’s investment in Australian News Channel Pty Ltd: 
 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

 Current assets 18,101 16,846 
 Non-current assets 7,326 7,630 
 Current liabilities (8,669) (10,418) 
 Non-current liabilities (526) (536) 
Net Assets 16,232 13,522 

Share of associates’ Net Assets 5,410 4,506 
Goodwill on acquisition 26,659 26,659 

Reconciliation of share of assets to carrying value 32,069 31,165 

Revenue 52,558 50,712 
Operating profit before income tax 12,153 10,248 
Income tax expense (3,688) (3,119) 

Net profit after income tax from continuing operations 8,465 7,129 
Other comprehensive income – – 

Total comprehensive income 8,465 7,129 

Group’s share of profit for the year 2,821 2,376 
Dividends received during the year total $1,917,000, (2013: $1,230,000). 
 
The following table illustrates the summarised aggregate share of the Group’s other associates and joint ventures: During the year, ninemsn 
Pty Ltd contributed $2,837,000 Net profit after income tax from continuing operations while it was an associate in addition to the amounts 
shown below.  
 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

 Current assets 4,730 59,424 
 Non-current assets 10,623 42,678 
 Current liabilities (3,381) (30,690) 
 Non-current liabilities (4,992) (8,615) 
Net Assets 6,980 62,797 

   
Share of associates’ revenue and profits   
Revenue 2,374 96,872 

Operating profit before income tax 1,656 50,364 
Income tax expense (59) (13,468) 

Net profit after income tax from continuing operations 1,597 36,896 
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10. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD (continued) 
(e)  Impairment 
Australian News Channel Pty Ltd (Sky News)  
The key assumptions on which management has based its cash flow projections when determining the value-in-use calculations for Australian 
News Channel is: 

• a pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections of 15.9% (2013: 15.4%) for Australian News Channel which reflects 
management’s best estimate of the time value of money and the risks specific to the investment’s market not already reflected 
in the cash flows; and 

• terminal growth rate of 3% for Australian News Channel. 
 

Any reasonable adverse change in key assumptions may result in impairment of the investment. 

11. INVESTMENT IN LISTED EQUITIES 
 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

Opening balance at 1 July  17,349 8,060 
Disposal of Australian shares  – (278) 
Mark to market of investment in listed equities 3,534 9,567 

Closing balance at 30 June 20,883 17,349 

 

The investment in listed equities is classified as a level 1 instrument as described in Note 31(a). Fair value was determined with reference to a 
quoted market price. 

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 Freehold 
land and 

buildings 

Leasehold 
improvements 

Plant and 
equipment 

Construction 
work in 

progress 

Leased 
plant and 

equipment 

Total 
property, 
plant and 

equipment 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Year ended 30 June 2014       
At 1 July 2013, net of accumulated 
depreciation and impairment 53,959 10,171 77,062 19,778 190 161,160 

Additions 54 – 19,271 15,999 114 35,438 
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 5(b)) 11,007 160 10,852 – – 22,019 
Transfer from construction work in progress 15 – 19,346 (19,361) – – 
Disposals – – (19) – (59) (78) 
Depreciation expense (2,899) – (24,254) – – (27,153) 
Amortisation expense – (1,740) – – (66) (1,806) 
Exchange differences – – (372) – – (372) 

At 30 June 2014, net of accumulated 
depreciation and impairment 62,136 8,591 101,886 16,416 179 189,208 
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 Freehold 
land and 

buildings 

Leasehold 
improvements 

Plant and 
equipment 

Construction 
work in 

progress 

Leased 
plant and 

equipment 

Total 
property, 
plant and 

equipment 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
Year ended 30 June 2013       

At 1 July 2012, net of accumulated 
depreciation and impairment 54,560 11,378 86,742 16,241 317 169,238 

Additions 2,118 145 7,653 7,024 – 16,940 
Transfer from construction work in progress – – 3,487 (3,487) – – 
Disposals  – –  (30) (30) 
Depreciation expense (2,719) – (20,820) – – (23,539) 
Amortisation expense – (1,352) – – (97) (1,449) 

At 30 June 2013, net of accumulated 
depreciation and impairment 53,959 10,171 77,062 19,778 190 161,160 

 
At 30 June 2014       

Cost (gross carrying amount)(1) 89,235 15,683 439,500 16,416 473 561,307 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment* (27,099) (7,092) (337,614) – (294) (372,099) 

 
Net carrying amount 62,136 8,591 101,886 16,416 179 189,208 

At 30 June 2013       
Cost (gross carrying amount) 70,152 14,508 359,237 19,778 474 464,149 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (16,193) (4,337) (282,175) – (284) (302,989) 

 
Net carrying amount 53,959 10,171 77,062 19,778 190 161,160 
 
(1)As a result of acquisitions in the current year, the gross carrying amount of plant and equipment has increased by $42,036,000 and 
accumulated depreciation of plant and equipment has increased by $31,184,000.  
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13. LICENCES 
   Television 

licences 
 

Total 
   $’000 $’000 
Year ended 30 June 2014     
At 1 July 2013, net of accumulated impairment   344,669 344,669 
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 5(b))   248,684 248,684 

At 30 June 2014, net of accumulated 
amortisation and impairment   593,353 593,353 

     
Year ended 30 June 2013     
At 1 July 2012, net of accumulated impairment   344,669 344,669 

At 30 June 2013, net of accumulated 
amortisation and impairment   344,669 344,669 

 
At 30 June 2014 

    

Cost (gross carrying amount)   1,450,353 1,450,353 
Accumulated impairment   (857,000) (857,000) 

At 30 June 2014, Net carrying amount   593,353 593,353 

     
At 30 June 2013     
Cost (gross carrying amount)   1,201,669 1,201,669 
Accumulated impairment   (857,000) (857,000) 

At 30 June 2013, Net carrying amount   344,669 344,669 

14. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
  

Goodwill 
Venue 

Ticketing 
Rights 

 
Other(1)  

 
Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Year ended 30 June 2014     
At 1 July 2013, net of accumulated amortisation and 
impairment 1,186,095 30,186 5,962 1,222,243 
Purchases – 45,418 5,378 50,796 
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 5(b)) 144,689 – 6,361 151,050 
Amortisation expense – (19,270) (3,124) (22,394) 

At 30 June 2014, net of accumulated amortisation and 
impairment 1,330,784 56,334 14,577 1,401,695 
(1)This includes capitalised development costs being an internally generated intangible asset. 
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14. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 
  

Goodwill 
Venue 

Ticketing 
Rights 

 
Other(1) 

 
Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Year ended 30 June 2013     

At 1 July 2012, net of accumulated amortisation and 
impairment 1,186,095 30,559 4,588 1,221,242 
Purchase – 17,347 3,043 20,390 
Amortisation expense – (17,720) (1,669) (19,389) 

At 30 June 2013, net of accumulated amortisation and 
impairment 1,186,095 30,186 5,962 1,222,243 

     
At 30 June 2014     
Cost (gross carrying amount) 1,663,784 96,124 26,354 1,786,262 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (333,000) (39,790) (11,777) (384,567) 

 
Net carrying amount 1,330,784 56,334 14,577 1,401,695 

     
At 30 June 2013     
Cost (gross carrying amount) 1,519,095 80,446 13,627 1,613,168 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (333,000) (50,260) (7,665) (390,925) 

 
Net carrying amount 1,186,095 30,186 5,962 1,222,243 
(1) This includes capitalised development costs being an internally generated intangible asset. 
 
There were no disposals of intangible assets during the year.  
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14. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 
(a) Allocation of non-amortising intangibles and goodwill 
The consolidated entity has allocated goodwill and licences to the following cash generating units (“CGUs”): 

 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

Nine Network  466,784 218,100 
NBN 126,569 126,569 

Total licences  593,353 344,669 

 

 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

Nine Network  1,071,518 984,167 
NBN  31,545 31,545 
Live 170,383 170,383 
Digital 57,338 – 

Total goodwill  1,330,784 1,186,095 

 

(b) Determination of recoverable amount 
The recoverable amount of the following CGUs is determined based on value-in-use calculations using discounted cash flow projections based 
on financial forecasts covering a five-year period: 

• Nine Network 
• NBN 
• Live 
• Digital 

(c) Impairment losses recognised 
No impairment of TV licences was recognised in the year ended 30 June 2014 (2013: $nil).  

No impairment of goodwill was recognised in the year ended 30 June 2014 (2013: $nil).  

(d) Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations   
The key assumptions on which management has based its cash flow projections when determining the value-in-use calculations for the Nine 
Network are as follows: 

• The advertising market grows consistent with industry expectations in the 2015 financial year followed by growth at a rate which 
is consistent with the long-term industry historic growth rate. 

• The Nine Network’s share of the Metro Free-To-Air advertising market for the 2015 financial year is moderately higher than its 
share in the 2014 financial year. In future years Nine Network’s share of the market is assumed to remain stable. 

• The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was 15.9% (2013: 15.4%) which reflects management’s best 
estimate of the time value of money and the risks specific to the Free-To-Air television market not already reflected in the cash 
flows. 

• Terminal growth rate of 3%. 
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14. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 
(d) Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations (continued) 
The key assumptions on which management has based its cash flow projections when determining the value-in-use calculations for NBN are 
as follows: 

• The advertising market grows consistent with industry expectations in the 2015 financial year followed by growth at a rate which 
is consistent with the long-term industry historic growth rate. 

• The NBN’s share of the Regional Free-To-Air advertising market for the 2015 financial year is moderately higher than its share 
in the 2014 financial year. In future years NBN’s share of the market is assumed to remain stable. 

• The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was 15.9% (2013: 15.4%) which reflects management’s best 
estimate of the time value of money and the risks specific to the Free-To-Air television market not already reflected in the cash 
flows. 

• Terminal growth rate of 2.0%. 
 

The key assumptions on which management has based its cash flow projections when determining the value-in-use calculations for Live are 
as follows: 

• The Live industry in terms of the number of concerts, sporting events and ticket sales grows consistent with industry 
expectations. 

• The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was 15.3% (2013: 16.0%) which reflects management’s best 
estimate of the time value of money and the risks specific to the Live industries. 

• Terminal growth rate of 2.5%. 
 

The key assumptions on which management has based its cash flow projections when determining the value-in-use calculations for Digital are 
as follows: 

• The digital industry in terms of digital advertising grows consistent with industry expectations. 
• The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was 20.1% (2013: n/a) which reflects management’s best estimate 

of the time value of money and the risks specific to the Digital industries. 
• Terminal growth rate of 2.0%. 
 

For the purpose of impairment testing, intangible assets with indefinite lives, including goodwill, are allocated to the Group’s operating divisions 
which represent the lowest level within the Group at which the assets are monitored for internal management purposes. 

 

(e) Sensitivity 
The estimated recoverable amounts of the Nine Network and Digital CGUs are in line with the carrying amount of intangibles. Any reasonable 
adverse change in key assumptions would lead to impairment. 

The estimated recoverable amounts of the NBN and Live CGUs significantly exceed the carrying amount, and as such, management are of 
the opinion that no reasonable changes in key assumptions would lead to impairment.  
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15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

Current – unsecured   
Trade and other payables(1) 376,844 300,007 
Program contract payables(2) 114,786 90,033 
Deferred income 13,102 11,353 

 504,732 401,393 

   
Non-current – unsecured   
Program contract payables(2) 59,389 64,427 
Other 27,917 5,768 

 87,306 70,195 

(1)Terms of trade in relation to trade payables are, on average, 30 to 60 days from the date of invoice. The Group operates in a number of diverse markets and 
accordingly, the terms of trade vary by business. 

(2)Program contract creditors are settled according to the contract negotiated with the program supplier.  

16. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS 
 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

Current    
Bank facilities secured1 – 5,255 
Loans from associate unsecured 
Lease liabilities2 secured – Note 21(b) 

– 
106 

27,550 
135 

 106 32,940 

   
Non-current    
Bank facilities secured1 
Bank facilities unsecured1 

– 
602,885 

865,225 
– 

Lease liabilities secured2 – Note 21(b) 83 85 

 602,968 865,310 

1 Bank facilities include unamortised financing costs of $5,653,000 (2013: $24,399,000). 
2 Lease liabilities are secured by a charge over the assets. 
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16. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued) 
 
Credit facilities 

 
Facility type 

 
Maturity 

Committed 
Facility Amount 

Facility drawn 
at 30 June 2014 

   $’000 $’000 
Bank facilities     
– Tranche A Syndicated facility  Revolving syndicated facility 16 June 2019  412,500 412,500 
– Tranche B Syndicated facility Revolving syndicated facility 16 June 2018 412,500 196,038 
Bank guarantees Bank guarantees 5 February 2015 13,118 8,841 
Working capital facility bilateral 
facility 

Cash advance and other transactional 
banking facilities 

5 February 2015 1,000 – 

Total Debt   839,118 617,379* 

* Reconciliation to Statement of Financial Position 

 $’000 
Total debt drawn (above) 617,379 
Unamortised balance of establishment costs (5,653) 
Bank guarantees  (8,841) 
Lease liabilities 189 

  
Total Debt per Statement of Financial Position 603,074 

Corporate facility 
The corporate facility entered into by the Group in June 2014 to refinance its previous senior secured Term Loan B syndicated facility is 
provided by a syndicate of banks and financial institutions.  

These facilities are supported by Group guarantees from most of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries but are otherwise provided on an 
unsecured basis. Details of the assets and liabilities that form this Group guarantee are included in the Extended Closed Group disclosures in 
Note 30. These facilities impose various affirmative and negative covenants on the Company and the Group, including restrictions on 
encumbrances, and customary events of default, including a payment default, breach of covenants, cross-default and insolvency events. 

As part of the corporate facility, the Group is subject to certain customary financial covenants measured on a six-monthly basis. The Group 
has been in compliance with its financial covenant requirements to date including the period ended 30 June 2014. 

Debt refinance 
A one-off pre-tax cost of $31.8 million has been recognised in the profit and loss account consisting of the expensing of unamortised borrowing 
costs of $21.2 million, the recycling of the hedge reserve of $10.0 million and costs of $0.6 million in relation to the termination of the previous 
Term Loan B facility.   

Assets pledged as security 
The carrying amounts of assets pledged as security for interest bearing liabilities are: 

 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 
Finance lease   
 Plant and equipment – Note 12 179 190 

Total assets pledged as security 179 190 
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17. PROVISIONS 
 Employee 

entitlements 
Onerous 

contracts 
 

Other 
 

Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

At 1 July 2013 40,325 17,505 56,250 114,080 
(Utilised)/arising during the period 13,886 (9,801) (17,232) (13,147) 

 
At 30 June 2014 54,211 7,704 

        
39,018  

                                          
100,933  

At 1 July 2012 
 

37,066 
 

47,695 
 

10,670 
 

95,431 
(Utilised)/arising during the period 3,259 (30,190) 45,580 18,649 

 
At 30 June 2013 40,325 17,505 56,250 114,080 

     
Current 2014 32,022 6,065 17,402 55,489 
Non-current 2014 22,189 1,639        21,616  45,444 

 54,211 7,704 39,018 100,933 

Current 2013 21,413 10,314 26,042 57,769 
Non-current 2013 18,912 7,191 30,208 56,311 

 
 40,325 17,505 56,250 114,080 

 

Employee Entitlements 
Refer to Note 1(w) for a description of the nature and expected timing of provision for employee entitlements. 

Onerous contracts 
The provision for onerous contracts represents contracts, where due to changes in market conditions, the income is lower than cost for which 
the Group is currently obligated under the contract. The net obligation under the contracts has been provided for. The provision is calculated 
as the net of estimated revenue and the estimate of committed program purchase commitments discounted to present values. 

Other  
During the year, a provision of $10.7 million was recognised relating to a dispute with the Australian Taxation Office (“ATO”) regarding 
payments the Group made to the International Olympic Committee in relation to the exclusive Australian television broadcast rights for the 
2010 Vancouver Winter Olympics and 2012 London Summer Olympic Games without deducting withholding tax. The Group has subsequently 
paid $4.7 million in respect of the amount in order to reduce any potential interest or penalty charges; however this claim is still ongoing and 
the Group is still in dispute of the claim. The other provision also includes provisions related to the services required to be provided to 
Australian Consolidated Press Limited as part of the disposal agreement. These are expected to be incurred on a straight-line basis over the 
next three-and-a-quarter years.  
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18. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY  
 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 
Issued share capital   
Ordinary Shares fully paid 862,725 2,773,295 

 862,725 2,773,295 

Movements in issued share capital – Ordinary Shares   
Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year  2,773,295 1,325,183 
Capital reduction (2,190,809)  
Issuance of shares 275,001 1,460,000 
Transaction costs due to the issuance of shares (10,525) (16,982) 
Deferred tax asset in relation to transaction costs 3,158 5,094 
Issue of shares to employees and Directors 12,212 – 
Conversion of Share Rights 393 – 

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year 862,725 2,773,295 

Movements in issued share capital – B Class Shares   
Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year  – 4,798 
Buy-back of shares – (1,627) 
Transfer to other reserve – (3,171) 

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year  – – 
 
 2014 2013 
 Number Number 
Issued share capital   
Ordinary Shares fully paid  940,295,023 199,999,958 

Movements in issued share capital – Ordinary Shares   
Balance at the beginning of the financial year  199,999,958 381,653,647,017 
Consolidation of shares – (381,653,647,016) 
Share spilt 599,999,874 – 
Issue of shares 134,146,341 199,999,957 
Issue of shared to employees and Directors 5,957,074 – 
Conversion of Share Rights 191,776 – 

Balance at the end of the financial year  940,295,023 199,999,958 

Movements in issued share capital – B Class Shares   
Balance at the beginning of the financial year  – 35,352,853 
Share buy-back – (35,352,853) 

Balance at the end of the financial year  – – 
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18. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (continued)  
Capital reduction 
The Company completed a capital reduction in the amount of $2,190.8 million during the period, with a corresponding increase to retained 
earnings as approved at the Company’s Annual General Meeting on 21 October 2013.  

Share split 
At the Company’s Annual General Meeting on 21 October 2013, a resolution was passed to approve the conversion of each ordinary share 
into four ordinary shares, resulting in an increase in the number of ordinary shares to 799,999,832 at the time. 

Initial public offering 
On 6 December 2013, the Company completed an initial public offering (“IPO”) raising $275.0 million in funds by issuing 134.1 million shares 
at an issue price of $2.05 per share. Funds received were offset by $10.5 million in transaction costs incurred in relation to the issue of new 
shares in the Company.  

In conjunction with the IPO, some of the existing shareholders sold a portion of their shares to new investors. The Company incurred 
transaction costs of $13.8 million in relation to the sale of these shares which were expensed through the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income (refer to Note 2(b)). 

Additional costs, including management bonuses and share issues to employees and Directors (discussed below), were incurred in relation to 
the IPO which were disclosed as part of “Transaction costs for IPO related activities” in Note 2(b). 

Employee Gift Offer 
As part of the completion of the IPO, the Company issued certain employees with ordinary shares in the Company to a value of $1,000 per 
employee for nil consideration. This resulted in the issue of 883,905 shares at an issue price of $2.05 for a cost of $1.8 million which is 
included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as “Transaction costs for IPO related activities” in Note 2(b).  

Senior management share offer 
As part of the completion of the IPO, the Company issued two senior managers with ordinary shares in the Company. This resulted in the 
issue of 5,073,169 shares at an issue price of $2.05 for a cost of $10.4 million which is included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as 
“Transaction costs for IPO related activities” in Note 2(b). These shares are subject to disposal restrictions for a period of three years from the 
date of issue. 

Conversion of Share Rights 
At the completion date of the IPO, the Share Rights issued to certain of the Directors in February 2013 were converted to ordinary shares. 
Each Share Right was converted into four ordinary shares with a total of 191,776 ordinary shares issued at an issue price of $2.05. 

Terms and Conditions of Contributed Equity 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up or sale of the Company in proportion to the 
number of shares held. In the prior year a net gain on restructure of $1,348.5 million was recognised on forgiveness of debt and debt 
conversion to equity. 

19. RESERVES AND ACCUMULATED LOSSES 
Foreign currency translation reserve 
The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of 
foreign operations. During the year $nil (2013: $22,089,000) was reclassified through profit and loss. 

Net unrealised gains reserve 
The net unrealised gains reserve records the actuarial gains and losses relating to the net surplus/(deficit) in the employer sponsored defined 
benefit superannuation fund and the gains and losses relating to the investment in listed equities.  

Cash flow hedge reserve 
The cash flow hedge reserve records the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that is determined to be an 
effective hedge. Refer to Note 31(b)(iv) for analysis of the effectiveness of the cash flow hedges. 
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19. RESERVES AND ACCUMULATED LOSSES (continued) 
Share-based payment reserve 
The share-based payment reserve was used to record share rights issued to certain senior management. During the year $4,519,000 (2013: 
$3,965,000 reversed) was recorded through profit and loss. In the prior year, the share-based payment reserve was used to record share-
based remuneration to executives in relation to B class shares. Refer to Note 27(c) for additional information. 

Other reserve 
The other reserve is used to record the issued capital for B class shares which were bought back and cancelled in the prior year. 

20. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 
 Total Total 
 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

Reconciliation of non-controlling interests:   
Balance at the beginning of the financial period – 774 
Share of disposal in controlled entities – 348 
Share of operating loss – (360) 
Less dividends/distributions – (762) 

Balance at the end of the financial year – – 
 

21. EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS 
(a)  Capital expenditure commitments 
 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 
(i) Estimated capital expenditure contracted for at balance date, but not provided for, payable:   

• within one year 8,310 4,910 

(ii) Television program and sporting broadcast rights contracted for at balance date, but not provided 
for, payable: 

  

• within one year 261,989 224,124 
• after one year but not more than five years 483,101 619,140 
• later than five years – – 

 745,090 843,264 

(iii) Live contracts for venue rights and tour promotions contracted for at balance date, but not 
provided for, payable: 

  

• within one year 28,325 11,810 
• after one year but not more than five years 83,196 – 
• later than five years – – 

 111,521 11,810 
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21. EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS (continued) 
(b)  Lease expenditure commitments 

 

Minimum 
lease 

payments 
2014 
$’000 

Present value 
of lease 

payments 
2014 
$’000 

Minimum 
lease 

payments 
2013 
$’000 

Present value 
of lease 

payments 
2013 
$’000 

(i) Finance lease commitments:     
Future minimum lease payments under finance leases and hire 
purchase contracts together with the present value of the net 
minimum lease payments are as follows: 

    

Consolidated     
• within one year 117 106 149 135 
• after one year but not more than five years 92 83 87 85 
• more than five years – – – – 

Total minimum lease payments 209 189 236 220 
Less amounts representing finance charges (20) – (16) – 

Present value of minimum lease payments 189 189 220 220 

 

At 30 June 2014, the Group has finance leases principally relating to various items of equipment and motor vehicles. 

These leases have terms of renewal but no purchase options and escalation clauses. Renewals are at the option of the specific entity that 
holds the lease. 

 2014 
$’000 

2013 
$’000 

(ii) Non-cancellable operating lease commitments:   
Payable within one year 27,878 24,009 
Payable after one year but not more than five years 87,260 74,644 
Payable more than five years 43,127 34,063 

 158,265 132,716 

The Group has entered into non-cancellable operating leases. The leases vary in remaining duration but generally have an average lease term 
of approximately five years. Operating leases include telecommunications rental agreements and leases on assets including motor vehicles, 
land and buildings and items of plant and equipment. Renewal terms are included in certain contracts, whereby renewal is at the option of the 
specific entity that holds the lease. On renewal, the terms of the leases are usually renegotiated. There are no restrictions placed upon the 
lessee by entering into these leases. 
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22. RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

(a)  For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the 
following at 30 June: 

  

 Cash on hand and at bank 93,310 191,263 
 Deposits at call – 90,256 
 Cash held on Trust 126,457 110,931 

 219,767 392,450 

   
(b)  Reconciliation of profit after tax to net cash flows from operations:   
Profit after tax 57,872 1,187,497 
Depreciation and amortisation    
• Property, plant and equipment 28,959 26,954 
• Amortisation of ticketing rights 19,270 17,720 
• Amortisation of other assets 3,124 2,015 
• Amortisation of financing costs 3,699 13,763 
Share of associates’ net profit (7,255) (36,836) 
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment of assets (9,548) 120,635 
Provision for doubtful debts 1,968 (2,032) 
Loss on sale of discontinued operations – 19,947 
Profit on sale of investment in listed or unlisted equities – (39) 
(Profit)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (22) 44 
Management and employee share accounting expense 4,519 – 
Investment distributions from associates 2,887 25,270 
Non-cash interest expense 
Non-cash gain on restructuring 
Mark to market on derivatives 

– 
– 

6,601 

81,294 
(1,369,233) 

285 
IPO costs 31,084 – 

Acquisition costs of consolidated entities 16,975 – 

Debt Refinance costs 31,798 – 
Changes in assets and liabilities:   
Trade and other receivables 6,461 (25,508) 
Inventories (61) 2,060 
Program rights (14,032) (19,290) 
Prepayments (1,801) (79,008) 
Other assets (1,630) (3,871) 
Payables relating to cash held on Trust 15,685 44,950 
Other payables (7,730) 11,740 
Provision for income tax (13,016) (330) 
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 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

Provision for employee entitlements 8,412 3,670 
Other provisions (26,659) (50,156) 
Deferred income tax liability 31,086 (9,329) 
Foreign currency movements in assets and liabilities of overseas controlled entities 380 (520) 

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 189,026 (38,308) 

23. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 
On 27 August 2014, the Company announced the formation of a joint venture with Fairfax Media (Fairfax) to launch an Australian Subscription 
Video-On-Demand (SVOD) service (“StreamCo”).  StreamCo is expected to launch during the 2015 financial year.  It will offer a broad range of 
local and international programming to subscribers for a fixed monthly subscription fee and no minimum term commitment.  StreamCo will be 
owned 50:50 by the Company and Fairfax who have agreed to commit up to $50 million each to the venture over a multi-year period. Other 
than this subsequent event, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial period and the date of this report any item, 
transaction or event of a material and unusual nature, to affect significantly the operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity, in future years.  

24. SUPERANNUATION COMMITMENTS 
Plan information 
Defined benefit members receive lump sum benefits on retirement, death, disablement and withdrawal. The defined benefit section of the Plan 
is closed to new members. All new members receive accumulation only benefits. 

Regulatory framework 

The Superannuation Industry (Supervision) (SIS) legislation governs the superannuation industry and provides the framework within which 
superannuation plans operate. The SIS Regulations require an actuarial valuation to be performed for each defined benefit superannuation 
plan every three years, or every year if the plan pays defined benefit pensions.  

Responsibilities for the governance of the Plan 

The Plan’s Trustee is responsible for the governance of the Plan. The Trustee has a legal obligation to act solely in the best interests of Plan 
beneficiaries. The Trustee has the following roles: 

• Administration of the Plan and payment to the beneficiaries from Plan assets when required in accordance with Plan rules; 

• Management and investment of the Plan assets; and 

• Compliance with superannuation law and other applicable regulations.  

The prudential regulator, the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA), licenses and supervises regulated superannuation plans. 

Risks 

There are a number of risks to which the Plan exposes the Company. The more significant risks relating to the defined benefits are: 

• Investment risk – The risk that investment returns will be lower than assumed and the Company will need to increase contributions 
to offset this shortfall; 

• Salary growth risk – The risk that wages or salaries (on which future benefit amounts will be based) will rise more rapidly than 
assumed, increasing defined benefit amounts and thereby requiring additional employer contributions; and 

• Legislative risk – The risk that legislative changes could be made which could increase the cost of providing the defined benefits.  
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24. SUPERANNUATION COMMITMENTS (continued) 
The defined benefit assets are invested in the AMP Future Directions Balanced investment option. The assets have a 57% weighting to 
equities and therefore the Plan has a significant concentration of equity market risk. However, within the equity investments, the allocation 
both globally and across the sectors is diversified. The assets held to support accumulated benefits, including the accumulation accounts in 
respect of defined benefit members, are held in the investment options selected by the member.  

Significant events 

There were no plan amendments affecting the defined benefits payable, curtailments or settlements during the year.  

Valuation 
The actuarial valuation of the defined benefits fund for the year ended 30 June 2014 was performed by Darren Wickham FIAA of Mercer 
Investment Nominees Limited for the purpose of satisfying accounting requirements. 

Reconciliation of the Net Defined Benefit Liability/(Asset) 
Financial year ended 30 June 2014 30 June 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

Net defined benefit liability/(asset) at start of year (6,386) 5,608 
Current service cost 966 1,386 
Net interest (166) 151 
Actual return on Plan assets less interest income (2,818) (5,204) 
Actuarial gains arising from changes in financial assumptions (2,467) (2,573) 
Actuarial gains arising from liability experience (1,420) (5,022) 
Employer contributions (685) (732) 

Net defined benefit asset at end of year (12,976) (6,386) 

   

Reconciliation of the Fair Value of Plan Assets 
Financial year ended 30 June 2014 30 June 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

Fair value of Plan assets at beginning of the year 44,898 43,043 
Interest income 1,541 1,154 
Actual return on Plan assets less Interest income 2,818 5,204 
Employer contributions 685 732 
Contributions by Plan participants 707 778 
Benefits paid (1,796) - 
Taxes, premiums and expenses paid (221) (202) 
Settlements - (5,811) 

Fair value of planned assets obligations at 30 June  48,632 44,898 
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24. SUPERANNUATION COMMITMENTS (continued) 

Reconciliation of the Present Value of the Defined Benefit Obligation 
Financial year ended 30 June 2014 30 June 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

Present value of defined benefit obligations at beginning of year 38,512 48,651 
Current service cost 966 1,386 
Interest cost 1,375 1,305 
Contributions by Plan participants 707 778 
Actuarial losses arising from changes in financial assumptions (2,467) (2,573) 
Actuarial losses arising from liability experience (1,420) (5,022) 
Benefits paid/settlements (1,796) (5,811) 
Taxes, premiums and expenses paid (221) (202) 

Present value of defined benefit obligations at 30 June  35,656 38,512 

The defined benefit obligation consists entirely of amounts from Plans that are wholly or partly funded. 

The asset ceiling has no impact on the net defined benefit liability. 

Fair value of Plan assets 
As at 30 June 2014, total Plan assets of $48,632,000 are held in AMP Future Directions Balanced investment option.  

The percentage invested in each asset class at the reporting date is: 

As at 30 June 2014(1) 30 June 2013(2) 

   

Australian Equity 29% 28% 
International Equity 28% 29% 
Fixed Income 15% 16% 
Property 7% 6% 
Alternatives/Other 18% 17% 
Cash 3% 4% 
(1 )Asset allocation as at 30 June 2014 is currently unavailable. Asset allocation at 31 May 2014 has been used. 

(2) Asset allocation as at 31 May 2013, consistent with the allocation shown in last year’s report. 

The fair value of Plan assets includes no amounts relating to: 

• any of the Company’s own financial instruments; or 
• any property occupied by, or other assets used by, the Company. 
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24. SUPERANNUATION COMMITMENTS (continued) 

Significant Actuarial Assumptions 
As at 30 June 2014 30 June 2013 
   

Assumptions to Determine Benefit Cost   
Discount rate 3.6% pa 2.9% pa 
Expected salary increase rate 4.0% pa 4.0% pa 

Assumptions to Determine Defined Benefit Obligation $’000 $’000 
Discount rate 

 
3.6% pa 

 
3.6% pa 

Expected salary increase rate 3.0% pa 4.0% pa 

Sensitivity Analysis 

The defined benefit obligation as at 30 June 2014 under several scenarios is presented below. 

Scenario A and B relate to discount rate sensitivity. Scenario C and D relate to salary increase rate sensitivity 

• Scenario A: 0.5% pa lower discount rate assumption. 
• Scenario B: 0.5% pa higher discount rate assumption. 
• Scenario C: 0.5% pa lower salary increase rate assumption. 
• Scenario D: 0.5% pa higher salary increase rate assumption. 

 
% p.a. Base 

Case 
Scenario 

A 
Scenario 

B 
Scenario 

C 
Scenario 

D 
  –0.5% pa 

discount 
rate 

+0.5% pa 
discount 

rate 

–0.5% pa 
salary 

increase 
rate 

+0.5% pa 
salary 

increase 
rate 

Discount rate 3.6% pa 3.1% pa 4.1% pa 3.6% pa 3.6% pa 
Salary increase rate 3.0% pa 3.0% pa 3.0% pa 2.5% pa 3.5% pa 

Defined benefit obligation ($’000s)(1) 35,656 37,100 34,333 34,532 36,859 
(1)  Includes defined benefit contributions tax provision. 

The defined benefit obligation has been recalculated by changing the assumptions as outlined above, whilst retaining all other assumptions. 

Funding arrangements 

The financing objective adopted at the 30 June 2012 actuarial investigation of the Plan, in a report dated 27 June 2013, is to maintain the 
value of the Plan’s assets at least equal to: 

• 100% of accumulation account balances (including additional accumulation accounts of defined benefit members); plus 

• 110% of defined benefit Leaving Service Benefits. 
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24. SUPERANNUATION COMMITMENTS (continued) 
In that valuation, it was recommended that the Company contributes to the Plan as follows: 

Defined Benefit members: 
Category Employer Contributions Rate (% of Salaries) 
A 9.2% until 30 June 2013, nil thereafter 
A1 3.6% until 30 June 2013, nil thereafter 

Plus any compulsory or voluntary member pre-tax (salary sacrifice) contributions. 

For A1 members, Employers should also make the relevant Superannuation Guarantee contributions to members’ chosen funds. 

Accumulations members: 

• The Superannuation Guarantee rate of Ordinary Time Earnings (or such lesser amount as required to meet the Employer’s 
obligations under Superannuation Guarantee legislation or employment agreements); plus 

• Any additional employer contributions agreed between the Employer and a member (e.g. additional salary sacrifice contributions). 

Expected Contributions 
Financial year ending 30 June 2015 
 $’000 

Expected employer contributions – 

 

Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation 

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation as at 30 June 2014 is nine years.  

Expected benefit payments for the financial year ending on:  
 $’000 

30 June 2015 1,987 
30 June 2016 2,406 
30 June 2017 3,949 
30 June 2018 3,599 
30 June 2019 2,943 
Following five years 19,344 
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25. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND RELATED MATTERS 

 
The probability of having to meet these contingent liabilities is remote, and therefore it is not practicable to disclose an indication of the 
uncertainties relating to each amount or the timing of any outflows. 

26. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Amounts received, or due and receivable, by the auditor of the parent entity for:   
Audit and review of the financial report of the entity 565,693 411,966 
Taxation services 1,838,770 2,114,281 
Assurance related services  407,566 72,250 

 2,812,029 2,598,497 
 

27. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES AND SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 
(a) Remuneration of Key Management Personnel 
Total remuneration for Key Management Personnel for the Group and Parent Entity during the financial year are set out below. The Key 
Management Personnel of the Group are persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the Company’s 
activities directly or indirectly, including the Directors of Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited: 

 2014 2013 
Remuneration by category $ $ 
Short-term 13,519,440 18,720,322 
Post-employment 116,869 82,686 
Long-term benefits 631,118 – 
Share-based payments 13,075,618 138,082 

 27,343,045 18,941,090 

Detailed remuneration disclosures are provided in the Remuneration Report on pages 10 to 24.   

 (b)  Other transactions with Key Management Personnel and their personally related entities 
All transactions between the Group and its Key Management Personnel and their personally related entities are conducted under normal 
commercial terms and conditions unless otherwise noted. 

 Consolidated 
 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

Contingent liabilities are unsecured and related primarily to the following:   
Controlled Entities   
(i) The consolidated entity has made certain guarantees regarding contractual, and other, 

commitments 8,841 16,862 
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27. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES AND SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 
(c)  Share-based payments 
Under the executive long-term incentive, Share Rights under the Share Rights Plan have been granted to executives and other senior 
management who have an impact on the Group’s performance. Upon satisfaction of any vesting conditions, each Share Right will convert to a 
share on a one-for-one basis or entitle the Participant to receive cash to the value of a share. Subject to employment vesting conditions 
detailed below, one-third of Share Rights held by each Participant will vest over three years on the anniversary of the Company listing (being 
11 December 2014, 11 December 2015 and 11 December 2016). 

Employment vesting conditions are as follows: 

• If the Participant is not employed by the Company on a particular vesting date the Participant either: 

o having been summarily dismissed; or 

o having terminated his/her employment agreement otherwise than in accordance with the terms of that agreement, any 
unvested Share Rights held on or after the date of termination will lapse. 

• If the Participant is not employed by the Company on a particular vesting date: 

o and the Company has terminated the Participant’s employment agreement (other than summarily) and his/her salary is 
being paid out in lieu of notice, then the only unvested Share Rights that will lapse are those that would ordinarily have 
vested after the end of the later of the notice period and any other date nominated in the terms of grant; or 

o the Participant has validly terminated his or her employment agreement and the Company has elected to pay the 
Participant his/her salary in lieu of notice, then the only unvested Share Rights that will lapse are those that would 
ordinarily have vested after the end of notice period.  

Any shares issued or transferred to the Participant upon vesting of any Share Rights will be subject to restrictions on disposal from the date of 
issue of the Shares until the release of the Company’s financial results for either the half or full-year period immediately following the date of 
issue.  

On 10 December 2013, the Company granted 6,183,414 Share Rights to certain senior management following the Company’s listing on the 
ASX. The Share Rights were issued at fair value of $2.05 per share, which reflected the Group’s share price at that time, resulting in a cost of 
$4.5 million for the year ended 30 June 2014 which has been included in the share-based payments reserve in equity. The Share Rights vest 
according to the following schedule: 

Vesting date % vesting No. of Share Rights vesting 
11 December 2014 33% 2,061,138 
11 December 2015 33% 2,061,138 
11 December 2016 33% 2,061,138 

Share Rights 
On 6 February 2013, certain Directors were issued with Share Rights which convert to ordinary shares (or a cash payment in lieu) under 
certain circumstances. All outstanding Share Rights issued in February 2013 were converted into ordinary shares during the period. Refer to 
Note 18. 
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28. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES  
Parent entity 
Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited is the ultimate parent entity of the Group incorporated within Australia and is the most senior parent 
in the Group which produces financial statements available for public use. 

Controlled entities, associates and joint arrangements 
Interests in significant controlled entities are set out in Note 29. 
Investments in associates and joint arrangements are set out in Note 10. 

Key Management Personnel 
Disclosures relating to Key Management Personnel are set out in Note 27. 

Transactions with related parties  
The following table provides the total amount of transactions that were entered into with related parties for the relevant financial year 
(for information regarding outstanding balances at year end, refer to Notes 6 and 16): 

 Consolidated 
 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

Rendering of services to and other revenue from –    
 Associates of Nine Entertainment Co.   
 ninemsn Pty Ltd 
 DailyMail.com Australia Pty Ltd 

1,729 
429 

3,613 
– 

Receiving of services from related parties –    
 Associates of Nine Entertainment Co.   
 ninemsn Pty Ltd 322 4,068 

Dividends received from –    
 Associates of Nine Entertainment Co.   
 ninemsn Pty Ltd – 23,000 
 Australian News Channel Pty Ltd 1,917 1,230 
 Oztam Pty Ltd 970 1,040 

Loans to other related parties –    
 Darwin Digital Television Pty Ltd 2,560 2,360 
 DailyMail.com Australia Pty Ltd 926 – 
 Ratecity Pty Ltd 542 - 
 Other 684 706 

Loan from associate –    
 Associate of Nine Entertainment Co.   
 ninemsn Pty Ltd – 27,550 

 



 
nine entertainment co. holdings limited :: financial report – 30 june 2014  
 

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

nine entertainment co. 24 artarmon rd willoughby nsw 2068 tel +61 2 9906 9999 fax +61 2 9965 2215 ABN 59 122 205 065  

www.nineentertainment.com.au 
 101 

 
 

28. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)  
Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties 
All of the above transactions were conducted under normal commercial terms and conditions. 

For the year ended 30 June 2014, the Group has not made any allowance for doubtful debts relating to amounts owed by related parties. An 
impairment assessment is undertaken each financial year by examining the financial position of the related party and the market in which the 
related party operates to determine whether there is objective evidence that a related party receivable is impaired. When such objective 
evidence exists, the Group recognises an allowance for the impairment loss. 

29. INVESTMENT IN CONTROLLED ENTITIES  
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited and its controlled entities. 
Significant controlled entities and those included in a class order with the parent entity are: 

  
 
Footnote 

 
Place of 
Incorporation 

Beneficial Interest 
Held by the 

Consolidated Entity 
2014 

Beneficial Interest 
Held by the 

Consolidated Entity 
2013 

   % % 
Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Ltd  Australia Parent Entity Parent Entity 
Bass New Zealand Limited B New Zealand 100 100 
ecorp Limited A Australia 100 100 
Events Management Catering Pty Limited A Australia 100 100 
General Television Corporation Pty Limited A Australia 100 100 
NBN Enterprises Pty Limited A Australia 100 100 
NBN Investments Pty Limited B Australia 100 100 
NBN Ltd A Australia  100 100 
NBN Productions Pty Ltd B Australia 100 100 
Nine Films & Television Pty Ltd A Australia 100 100 
Nine Network Australia Holdings Pty Ltd A Australia 100 100 
Nine Network Australia Pty Ltd A Australia 100 100 
Nine Network Productions Pty Limited A Australia 100 100 
Pay TV Holdings Pty Limited A Australia 100 100 
PBL Marketing Pty Ltd A Australia 100 100 
Nine Entertainment Co. Debenture Co Pty Ltd A Australia 100 100 
Nine Entertainment Co. Finance (1) Pty Ltd A Australia 100 100 
Nine Entertainment Co. Finance (3) Pty Ltd  A Australia 100 100 
Nine Entertainment Co. Finance Holdings Pty Ltd  A Australia 100 100 
Nine Entertainment Co. Group Limited  A Australia 100 100 
Nine Entertainment Co. Mastheads Pty Ltd  A Australia 100 100 
Nine Entertainment Co. Pty Ltd A Australia 100 100 
Petelex Pty Limited A Australia 100 100 
Pink Platypus B Australia 100 100 
Queensland Television Holdings Pty Ltd A Australia 100 100 
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Footnote 

 
Place of 
Incorporation 

Beneficial Interest 
Held by the 

Consolidated Entity 
2014 

Beneficial Interest 
Held by the 

Consolidated Entity 
2013 

   % % 
Queensland Television Ltd A Australia 100 100 
Shertip Pty Ltd A Australia 100 100 
Sydney Superdome Pty Ltd A Australia 100 100 
TCN Channel Nine Pty Ltd  A Australia 100 100 
Television Holdings Darwin Pty Limited A Australia 100 100 
Territory Television Pty Ltd. A Australia 100 100 
Swan Television & Radio Broadcasters Pty Ltd A Australia 100 – 
Channel 9 South Australia Pty Ltd A Australia 100 – 
Ticketek New Zealand Limited B New Zealand 100 100 
Ticketek Services Limited B New Zealand 100 100 
Ticketek Victoria Pty Ltd B Australia 100 100 
Ticketek Insights Pty Ltd B Australia 100 100 
Ticketek Pty Ltd A Australia 100 100 
Nine Live Pty Ltd A Australia 100 100 
White Whale Pty Ltd A Australia 100 100 
Ninemsn Pty Ltd(1) 

Ninemsn Investment Pty Ltd(1) 
B 
B 

Australia 
Australia 

100 
100 

– 
– 

Tipstone Australia Pty Ltd(1) B Australia 100 – 
Mi9 New Zealand Limited(1) B New Zealand 100 – 
5th Finger Pty Ltd(1) B Australia 100 – 
HWW Pty Ltd(1) B Australia 100 – 
Streamco Media Pty Ltd(1) B Australia 100 – 

A These controlled entities have entered into a deed of cross guarantee with the parent entity under ASIC Class Order 98/1418 – the “Closed Group” 
(refer to Note 30). 

B  Members of the “Extended Closed Group” only (refer to Note 30). 
(1)  Legal holding at 30 June 2014 is 66.67%, however beneficial holding is 100%. Refer to Note 5(b). 
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30. DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE 
Pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418 and various deeds of cross guarantee entered into with the parent entity, certain controlled entities of 
Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited have been granted relief from the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for preparation, audit and 
publication of accounts. 

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income and statement of financial position of the entities which are members of the “Closed 
Group” and the “Extended Closed Group” for the year ended 30 June 2014 are: 

 Closed Group(1) Extended Closed Group(2) 
 2014 2013 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income     
(Loss)/Profit before income tax (59,576) 2,054,539 99,205 1,190,826 
Income tax (expense)/benefit  (32,476) (11,470) (41,333) 9,991 

Net (Loss)/profit after income tax (92,052) 2,043,069 57,872 1,200,817 

Net (loss)/profit attributable to members of the parent (92,052) 2,043,069 57,872 
 

1,200,817 
Transfer from other reserves  – (1,485,207) – (56,512) 
Capital reduction 2,190,809 – 2,190,809 – 

Accumulated losses at the beginning of the financial year (1,196,932) (1,754,794) (1,306,932) (2,451,237) 

Accumulated profits/(losses) at the end of the financial year 901,825 (1,196,932) 941,749 (1,306,932) 
(1)Closed Group are those entities party to the Deed of Cross Guarantee. 
(2)As at 30 June 2014, all wholly owned trading companies are included in the Extended Closed Group, therefore the continuing operations within the 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income represents the Extended Closed Group for 2014.  
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30. DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE (continued) 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014 
 Closed Group Extended Closed Group(1) 
 2014 2013 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position     
Current Assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 198,831 378,953 219,767 392,450 
Receivables 278,676 257,489 325,039 263,974 
Inventories  787 771 803 742 
Program rights 196,224 172,128 196,224 172,187 
Derivative financial instruments – 8,137 1,481 9,085 
Other 25,321 19,050 26,747 20,590 

Total Current Assets 699,839 836,528 770,061 859,028 

Non-Current Assets     
Trade and other receivables 4,170 165,652 4,170 3,066 
Program rights 57,087 67,092 57,087 67,092 
Investment in associates 38,008 136,507 38,081 136,507 
Other financial assets 169,709 6,907 20,883 17,349 
Property, plant and equipment 184,006 159,602 189,208 161,160 
Licences and mastheads 593,353 344,669 593,353 344,669 
Other intangible assets 1,334,659 1,222,243 1,401,695 1,222,243 
Derivative financial instruments – 91,448 – 91,448 
Other 93,055 86,466 93,055 86,466 

Total Non-Current Assets 2,474,047 2,280,586 2,397,532 2,130,000 

Total Assets 3,173,886 3,117,114 3,167,593 2,989,028 

Current Liabilities     
Payables 461,190 383,757 504,732 401,400 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 106 32,940 106 32,940 
Current tax liabilities – – 3,327 – 
Provisions 51,792 56,973 55,489 57,769 
Derivatives 203 – 203 – 

Total Current Liabilities 513,291 473,670 563,857 492,109 

Non-Current Liabilities      
Payables 171,550 70,195 87,306 70,195 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 602,968 865,310 602,968 865,310 
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 Closed Group Extended Closed Group(1) 
 2014 2013 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Deferred tax liability 60,295 59,909 44,368 21,462 
Provisions 44,520 54,390 45,444 56,311 

Total Non-Current Liabilities 879,333 1,049,804 780,086 1,013,278 

Total Liabilities 1,392,624 1,523,474 1,343,943 1,505,387 

Net Assets/(Liabilities) 1,781,262 1,593,640 1,823,650 1,483,641 
(1)As at 30 June 2014, all companies are included in the Extended Closed Group, therefore the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position represents the 

Extended Closed Group for 30 June 2014. 

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
Financial risk management 
The Group's principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise cash and short-term deposits and credit facilities (refer to Note 
16). The main purpose of these financial instruments is to manage liquidity and to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has 
various other financial instruments, such as trade and other receivables and trade and other payables, which arise directly from its operations.  

The Group uses derivatives in accordance with Board approved policies to reduce the Group’s exposure to adverse fluctuations in interest 
rates and foreign exchange rates. These derivatives create an obligation or right that effectively transfers one or more of the risks associated 
with an underlying financial instrument, asset or obligation. Derivative instruments that the Group uses to hedge risks such as interest rate, 
foreign currency and commodity price movements include:  

• interest rate swaps; 
• cross currency principal and interest rate swaps and options (“cross currency hedges”); and 
• forward foreign currency contracts. 

The Group’s risk management activities are carried out centrally by the Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Group Treasury. Group Treasury 
operates under policies as approved by the Board. Group Treasury operates in cooperation with the Group’s operating units so as to maximise 
the benefits associated with centralised management of Group risk factors. 

Capital risk management 
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while maximising the return to 
shareholders through the optimisation of net debt and total equity balances.  

Capital risk management focuses on the maturity profile and stability of debt facilities. The Group’s capital structure was restructured during 
the year and is reviewed to maintain:  

• sufficient finance for the business at a reasonable cost; and 
• sufficient funds available to the business to implement its capital expenditure and business acquisition strategies. 

(a)  Carrying Value and Fair Values of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities  
The carrying value of a financial asset or liability will approximate its fair value where the balances are predominantly short-term in nature; can 
be traded in highly liquid markets; and incur little or no transaction costs. The carrying values of the following accounts approximate their 
fair value: 

Account Note 
Cash and cash equivalents  22(a) 
Trade and other receivables 6 
Trade and other payables 15 
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)  
The Group uses various methods in estimating the fair value of a financial asset or liability. The different methods have been defined as 
follows: 

Level 1: the fair value is calculated using quoted prices in active markets. 
Level 2: the fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
through valuation techniques including forward pricing and swap models and using present value calculations. The models incorporate various 
inputs including credit quality of counterparties and foreign exchange spot, forward rates and listed share prices. Fair values of the Group’s 
interest-bearing borrowings and loans are determined by using DCF method using a discount rate that reflects the issuer’s borrowing rate as at 
the end of the reporting period.  
Fair values hierarchy has been determined as follows for financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group at 30 June 2014. 

Level 1: Investment in listed equities (refer to Note 11). 

Level 2: Forward foreign exchange contracts, interest-bearing borrowings and options over listed equities.   

There were no transfers between the Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements during the year.  

The Term B loan facility of $894,879,000 measured using Level 2 fair value measurements at 30 June 2013 was refinanced during the current 
year resulting in a $nil balance at the end of the year.  

The following table lists the carrying values and fair values of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities at balance date: 

  2014 2013 
  

Refer 
Note 

Carrying 
Amount 

 
$’000 

Fair 
Value 

 
$’000 

Carrying 
Amount 

 
$’000 

Fair 
Value 

 
$’000 

Derivative financial assets       
Cross currency cash flow hedges – current   – 8,137 8,137 
Option over listed entities – current   1,481 1,481 948 948 
Cross currency cash flow hedges – non-current  – – 91,448 91,448 

Total derivative financial instruments – assets  1,481 1,481 100,533 100,533 

Derivative financial liabilities      
Cross currency cash flow hedges – current  203 203   
Total derivative financial instruments – liabilities  203 203 – – 

Loan facilities – Current      
Senior secured syndicated facilities – at amortised cost  16   – – 
Term Loan B facility secured – at amortised cost 16 – – 8,949 8,949 
Loan from associate unsecured 16 – – 27,550 27,550 

Total loan facilities – Current  – – 36,499 36,499 

Loan facilities – Non-current      
Term Loan B facility secured – at amortised cost  16 – – 885,930 885,930 
Syndicated facility secured – at amortised cost 16 608,538 608,538 – – 

Total loan facilities – Non-current  608,538 608,538 885,930 885,930 

Total loan facilities   608,538 608,538 922,429 922,429 
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)  
(b)  Market risk factors 
The key risk factors that arise from the Group’s activities, including the Group’s policies for managing these risks, are outlined below. Market 
risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. 
The market risk factors to which the Group is exposed are discussed in further detail below. 

(i)  Liquidity risk       

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group cannot meet its financial commitments as and when they fall due. To help reduce this risk, the Group 
ensures it has readily accessible funding arrangements available.  

The contractual maturity of the Group’s fixed and floating rate derivatives, other financial assets and other financial liabilities are shown in the 
following tables. The amounts presented represent the future undiscounted principal and interest cash flows and therefore do not equate to the 
values shown in the Statement of Financial Position. 

 Contractual maturity (nominal cash flows) 

 2014 2013 

 Less 
than 1 

year 

1 to 2 
year(s) 

2 to 5 
years 

Over 
5 years 

Less 
than 

1 year 

1 to 2 
year(s) 

2 to 5 
years 

Over 
5 years 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Derivative – inflows(1)          
Cross currency hedges – receive 
USD(2),(4) – – – – 31,228 30,952 193,623 786,390 
Derivatives – outflows(1)          
Cross currency hedges – pay AUD(2) 203 – – – 58,792 58,881 255,418 734,205 
Other financial assets(1)         
Cash assets 219,767 – – – 392,450 – – – 
Trade and other receivables(3) 325,039 926 2,560 684 263,974 536 2,360 170 
Other financial liabilities(1)         
Trade and other payables(3) 504,732 50,518 31,159 5,629 401,393 35,348 34,847 – 
Other interest bearing loans and 
borrowings 106 83 – – 135 85 – – 
Debt facilities (including interest)(4) 26,816 26,816 672,601 - 77,433 39,643 117,050 858,360 
(1)  For floating rate instruments, the amount disclosed is determined by reference to the interest rate at the last repricing date. These instruments were 

cancelled during the year.  
(2)  Net amount for cross currency hedges for which net cash flows are exchanged. Categorisation of inflows and outflows is based on current variable                 

rates at the reporting date. 
(3)  Excluding amounts due from/to subsidiaries. 
(4)  Cash flows retranslated at foreign exchange rate at the balance date. 

 (ii)  Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk refers to the risks that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in market interest rates.  

Interest rate risk arises from interest bearing financial assets and liabilities that the Group utilises. Non-derivative interest bearing assets is 
predominantly cash. The Group’s debt facilities are all floating rate liabilities, which gives rise to cash flow interest rate risks.  
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)  
The Group’s risk management policy for interest rate risk seeks to minimise the effects of interest rate movements on its asset and liability 
portfolio through active management of the exposures.  

The Group maintains a mix of long-term and short-term debt to manage these risks as deemed appropriate. The Group designates which of its 
financial assets and financial liabilities are exposed to a fair value or cash flow interest rate risk, such as financial assets and liabilities with a 
fixed interest rate or financial assets and liabilities with a floating interest rate that is reset as market rates change. 

At balance date, the Group had the following mix of financial assets and financial liabilities exposed to Australian floating interest rate risk that 
were not designated as cash flow hedges: 

 2014 2013 
 Average 

interest 
rate  

p.a. % 

 
Floating 

rate 
 $’000 

Non-
interest 
bearing 

$’000 

 
 

Total 
 $’000 

Average 
interest 

rate  
p.a. % 

 
Floating 

rate  
$’000 

Non-
interest 
bearing 

$’000 

 
 

Total 
$’000 

Financial assets          
Cash and cash equivalents  3.10 219,767 – 219,767 3.13 392,450 – 392,450 
Trade and other receivables N/A N/A 329,209 329,209 N/A N/A 267,040 267,040 
Financial liabilities          
Trade and other payables N/A N/A 592,038 592,038 N/A N/A 471,588 471,588 
Interest bearing liabilities –          
Syndicated facilities – at 
amortised cost 4.41 608,538 – 608,538 – – – – 
Term B loan facility – at 
amortised cost – – – – 7.33 894,879 – 894,879 
Loan from associate  – – – – 3.55 27,550 – 27,550 

 

Interest rate sensitivity analysis  
The table below shows the effect on net profit after income tax if interest rates at balance date had been higher or lower with all other variables 
held constant, taking into account all underlying exposures and related hedges. Concurrent movement in interest rates and parallel shifts in 
the yield curves are assumed.  

The following sensitivities have been assumed in this analysis: 

 2014 2013 
USD interest rates n/a +/– 0.25% (25 basis points) 
AUD interest rates +/– 1% (100 basis points) +/– 1% (100 basis points) 

 

The sensitivities above have been selected as they are considered reasonable given the current level of both short-term and long-term 
Australian market. In 2014, 100% (2013: 3%) of the Group’s debt was denominated in Australian Dollars with the remaining debt denominated 
in United States Dollars in 2013.  

Sensitivities are based on financial instruments held at the balance date assumed to have been in place since the beginning of the period. 
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)  
Based on the sensitivity analysis, if interest rates changed as described above, net profit and equity would have been impacted as follows: 

 Net Profit 
After Tax 

Post-tax Equity 
(Cash flow hedge reserve) 

As at 30 June 
 2014 

$’000 
2013 
$’000 

2014 
$’000 

2013 
$’000 

If interest rates were higher with all other variables held constant –
decrease (4,260) (3,856) – (25,456) 

If interest rates were lower with all other variables held constant – 
increase 4,260 3,856 – 38,816 

 
(iii)  Credit risk exposures 
Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity will not complete its obligations under a financial instrument and cause the Group to make a 
financial loss. The Group has exposure to credit risk on all financial assets included in the Group’s statement of financial position. To help 
manage this risk, the Group:  

• has a policy for establishing credit limits; and 
• manages exposures to individual entities it either transacts with or with which it enters into derivative contracts (through a 

system of credit limits). 
The Group’s credit risk is mainly concentrated across a number of customers and financial institutions. The Group does not have any 
significant credit risk exposure to a single customer or group of customers, or individual institutions.  

Financial assets are considered impaired where there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according 
to the original trade and other receivable terms. Factors considered when determining if impairment exists include ageing and timing of 
expected receipts and the creditworthiness of counterparties. An allowance for doubtful debts is created for the difference between the assets’ 
carrying value and the present value of estimated future cash flows. The Group’s trading terms do not generally include the requirement for 
customers to provide collateral as security for financial assets.  

Refer to Note 6 for an ageing analysis of trade receivables and the movement in the allowance for doubtful debts. All other financial assets are 
not impaired and are not past due. Based on the credit history of these classes, it is expected that these amounts will be received when due.  

Trade receivables include the following credit concentration: 

 2014 
$’000 

2013 
$’000 

Advertising  225,270 186,952 
Television stations 12,632 28,466 
Other 76,794 35,028 

 314,696 250,446 

 

(iv)  Foreign currency risk 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign 
exchange rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates related primarily to the Group’s interest bearing 
debt facilities that were refinanced during the year. The Group’s exposure also includes trade payables and receivables from contractual 
payments.   

The Group manages this foreign currency risk by entering into cross currency hedges.  
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)  
Cash flow hedges 
During the year an amount of $7,135,000 ($975,000 in 2013) was recognised through profit or loss in relation to hedge ineffectiveness.  

During the year, $12,752,000 income ($74,486,000 in 2013) was included in other comprehensive income in relation to these hedges. The 
opening balance at the beginning of the year related to cross currency hedges which were closed out as part of the restructure. During the 
year a $12,752,000 reversal was reclassified from other comprehensive income to profit or loss in respect of these cross currency hedges. 

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 
The following tables demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the USD and AUD exchange rates, with all other variables 
held constant. Sensitivities are based on financial instruments held at the balance date assumed to have been in place since the beginning of 
the period.  

 Net Profit 
After Tax 

Post-tax Equity 
(Cash flow hedge reserve) 

As at 30 June 
 2014 

$’000 
2013 
$’000 

2014 
$’000 

2013 
$’000 

If AUD:USD exchange rates were 10% higher with all other variables held 
constant – increase/(decrease) – 11,507 – (11,998) 
If AUD:USD exchange rates were 10% lower with all other variables held 
constant – increase/(decrease) – (7,428) – 14,710 

 

32. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES  
 Parent Entity 

 
2014 
$’000 

2013 
$’000 

(a) Financial Position   
Current assets 58 – 
Non-current assets 850,968 602,968 

Total assets 851,026 602,968 

Current liabilities 1,393 14,432 
Non-current liabilities 2,356 2,879 

Total liabilities 3,749 17,311 

Net assets/(liabilities) 847,277 585,657 

Contributed equity 862,725 2,773,295 
Reserves 7,689 3,171 
Retained earnings (23,137) (2,190,809) 

Total equity/(deficiency)  847,277 585,657 
(b) Comprehensive Income   

Net profit/(loss) for the year 2,167,672 (854,058) 

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year 2,167,672 (854,058) 
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32. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES (continued) 
(c)  Commitments and Contingencies 
The parent entity was a party to the Deed of Cross Guarantee entered into with various Group companies. Refer to Note 30 for further details. 

Refer to Note 25 for disclosure of the Group’s commitments and contingencies. The operation of the Deed of Cross Guarantee has the effect 
of joining the parent entity as a guarantor to the Group’s commitments and contingencies. 

33. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be 
issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.  

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations:  

 2014 
$’000 

2013 
$’000 

Net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent from continuing operations 57,872 1,201,177 
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent from discontinued operations – (13,320) 

Net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent for basic and diluted earnings 57,872 1,187,857 

 

 
 

2014 
 
 

2013 
(Restated)(1) 

 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share  876,988,351 315,616,373 

Effect of dilution:   
Share Rights 3,498,465 4,642 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect of dilution 880,486,816 315,621,015 
(1) Restated 2013 weighted average number of ordinary shares for share spilt resulting in each ordinary share being converted into four ordinary shares, that 
occurred on 21 October 2013. Refer to Note 18. 

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the reporting date and the date of 
authorisation of these financial statements. 

To calculate the earnings per share amounts for discontinued operations (see Note 5), the weighted average number of ordinary shares for 
both basic and diluted amounts is as per the table above. 
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  Directors’ Declaration 

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited, we state that: 

1. In the opinion of the Directors: 

(a) the financial statements and notes of Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited for the financial year ended 30 June 2014 are in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2014 and of its performance 
for the financial year ended on that date; and 

ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001; and 
(b) the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1(b); and 
(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due 

and payable.  
2. In the opinion of the Directors, at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the Closed 

Group identified in Note 30 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are or may become subject to, by virtue of the 
Deed of Cross Guarantee.  

On behalf of the Board 

 

 

 

 
 

David Haslingden 
Chairman 

 

 

 

 

 
David Gyngell 
Director 

Sydney, 28 August 2014 
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Independent auditor's report to the members of Nine Entertainment Co.
Holdings Limited

Report on the financial report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited, which
comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2014, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors' declaration of the consolidated
entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year's end or from time to time during
the financial year.

Directors' responsibility for the financial report

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for
such internal controls as the directors determine are necessary to enable the preparation of the financial
report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 1(b), the directors
also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that
the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor's responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with
relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity's preparation and
fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's
internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Independence

In conducting our audit we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act
2001.  We have given to the directors of the company a written Auditor’s Independence Declaration, a
copy of which is included in the directors’ report.
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Opinion
In our opinion:

a. the financial report of Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited is in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, including:

i giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 30 June 2014
and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

ii  complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001;
and

b. the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in
Note 1(b).

Report on the remuneration report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 9 to 24 of the directors' report for the year
ended 30 June 2014. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation
of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Opinion
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Nine Entertainment Co. Holdings Limited for the year ended
30 June 2014, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Ernst & Young

John Robinson
Partner
Sydney
28 August 2014
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